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ONWARD UNDER ADVERSITY

The year of 2020 unprecedentedly started with the massive outbreak of the
novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) at Wuhan City of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and abruptly spread over to the entire PRC and the rest
of the world. There have been over 127 million COVID-19 confirmed cases
and over 2.7 million deaths officially reported worldwide up till the reporting
date. The pandemic creates both crises and opportunities and it largely
depends on how to position, manage and respond to it. On one hand, the
pandemic disrupts the traditional way of doing business and devastates the
global economies. On the other hand, it unexpectedly provides vast business
opportunities to video conference and remote work-related solutions, online
education, food delivery, video gaming and healthcare industries etc.

Our business repositioning strategy in early 2020 not only sheltered us, to large
extent, from the pandemic but also set us to benefit from it. When the PRC was
virtually shut down in the first quarter of 2020, our brand licensing and supply
chain management business performed well in the global market. Starting from
the second quarter of the year, demand for Personify’s software applications
has been robust since people in the western countries were largely required to
work from home under the pandemic induced lockdowns. Industry solutions
segment was able to catch up when the PRC market was gradually recovered
in the second half of 2020. As a result, we were able to increase our revenue
and profit significantly in 2020 when the world economy was suffering from a
severe recession.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

With the outbreak of the new COVID-19 virus variants and further sanctions on
the PRC companies imposed by the Trump’s administration in late 2020 and
early 2021, it seemed like the world was at the brink of collapse. Sometimes it
is hard to see beyond what is in front of us, especially when chaos clouds the
view, and it is always the darkest before the dawn, we should have faith and
hope which help us navigate through the despair. Having considered the rollout
of the vaccination programs in our key markets and a new less-confrontational
US administration in place after the inauguration of the new US president,
market expects the economies in the western countries and the Greater China
regions will be stabilized in the second half of 2021 and Sino-US disputes will
be moderating.

We announced the acquisition of a basket of Personify related intellectual
properties from Hon Hai Precision Industry Company Limited (“Hon Hai”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Hon Hai Group”) on 27 December 2020 and
completed the transaction on 22 March 2021. This transaction is consistent
with our strategy to develop products and platforms in order to fortify our
core competence and broaden our external customer base. In addition, we
expanded our footprints beyond the Greater China market and delivered our
industrial solutions to clients in Vietham and Mexico during the reporting year.
Manufacturers diversify their production capacities from the PRC to overseas
due to cost and geopolitical risk concerns, we shall continue to explore the
opportunities from this trend.

4 EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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APPRECIATIONS

Mr. TSE Tik Yang Denis and Mr. JEON Eui Jong, our two board members,
tendered their resignations to the board due to their other business
commitments and we are delighted to appoint Mr. PARK Ho Jin as our
new non-executive director. On behalf of the board of directors, | would
like to express our sincere gratitude to both Mr. Tse and Mr. Jeon for their
contributions to the company during their tenure and extend our warm
welcome to Mr. Park. | would also like to express our gratitude to all our
stakeholders for their continuous supports, and to our management and all our
employees for their dedications and invaluable contribution to our sustainable
success.

CHIEN Yi-Pin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The group principally engages in smart office, industrial solution and new retail
businesses. Our strategy of repositioning the businesses in early 2020 paid off.
The group now operates a more balanced business portfolio spun across the
PRC and the rest of the world as well as industrial sector and other verticals.
The wide diversity of businesses enables the group to better withstand the
adverse impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic and the decoupling between the
PRC and the western countries in 2020. With the inclusion of new businesses
in smart office and new retail segments, our revenue and net profit increased
by 21% and 26% to RMB523.4 million (2019: RMB431.0 million) and RMB14.6
million (2019: RMB11.6 million) respectively for the reporting year when
compared with those of 2019.

The execution of the repositioning strategy also reduces our reliance on the
business from the Hon Hai Group. Revenue generated from Hon Hai Group
represents 40% of the total revenue during the reporting year, down from 55%
for the year of 2019.

Inventory and Trade Receivable

As at 31 December 2020, there were approximately RMB23.2 million in
inventory (2019: RMB30.7 million). The higher inventory balance in 2019 was
mainly because there were large amount hardware and software products
pending to be delivered to our customers by the end of the year. Inventory
turnover for the reporting year fell to 23 days from 29 days as compared to the
year of 2019 mainly because non-project revenue, which has lower number of
inventory turnover days, increased drastically during the reporting year which
dragged down the number of inventory turnover days.

6 EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Inventory and Trade Receivable (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, there were approximately RMB202.0 million in trade
and lease receivables (2019: RMB226.4 million) which consisted of current
and non-current portion of RMB181.4 million (2019: RMB198.0 million) and
RMB20.6 million (2019: RMB28.4 million) respectively. Some of our projects
have been structured as finance lease in which customers are eligible to
pay in periodic instalments over a specific number of years. Trade and lease
receivable turnover for the reporting year declined to 149 days from 194 days
as compared to the year of 2019 solely due to our increasing efforts on debt
collection and ageing debt monitoring under the current economic downturn.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2020, we had a net cash position while our cash and
cash equivalents were RMB212.4 million (2019: RMB183.8 million). Our total
assets of RMB536.4 million (2019: RMB527.4 million) were financed by total
liabilities of RMB181.6 million (2019: RMB184.2 million) and shareholders’
equity of RMB354.8 million (2019: RMB343.2 million). We had a current ratio
of 2.7 (2019: 2.7). Trade payables were repayable within one year. No banking
facilities were available to the group (2019: Nil) and we had no bank borrowing
as well.

Treasury Policy

We generally financed our operations with internally generated resources.
We have adopted a prudent management approach for our treasury policies
and therefore maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the reporting
year. We strive to reduce credit risk exposure by performing periodic credit
evaluations of our external customers.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 3§ 7
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Exchange Exposure

We mainly operate in the PRC, Taiwan, Hong Kong, the United States of
America (“US”) and Vietnam with most of the transactions settled in Chinese
Yuan, US dollars, New Taiwanese dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Vietnamese
Dong. We are exposed to foreign exchange risk from various currencies,
primarily with respect to US dollars. We have a policy to require our group
companies to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional
currencies which includes managing the exposures arising from sales and
purchases made by the relevant group companies in currencies other than
their own functional currencies. We also manage our foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the group’s net foreign exposures and would
consider the use of foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign exchange
risks, where appropriate. We did not use derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The outbreak of COVID-19 at Wuhan City of the PRC in late 2019 and the
widespread contagion of the disease in the PRC and the rest of the world
throughout the reporting year certainly impacted our businesses. To slow the
spread of the pandemic, the PRC government unprecedentedly prolonged
the Chinese New Year holiday and halted the intercity transportation of major
cities for a protracted period. The plague drastically distorted the normal
operation of our customers and our office at Wuhan had been closed till late
March 2020. Our two other PRC offices in Shenzhen and Chongqging were only
able to resume operation in mid-February 2020. Our operations and business
development activities in the PRC were being notably distorted in the first
quarter of 2020. The World Health Organization declared the outbreak a global
pandemic on 11 March 2020. Cities and countries in the globe were locked
down one after another. Central banks and governments in the world loosened
monetary policies and released stimulus packages respectively to shield the
economies from the pandemic. However, the demand of video conference
and related software application, virtual desktop infrastructure solutions, and
other smart office equipment have increased tremendously during the outbreak
and the performance of our overseas businesses has been satisfactory, which
partly offset the adverse impact of COVID-19 on our business in the PRC in
the first half of the reporting year. When overseas markets were ravaged by the
pandemic in the second half of the reporting year, our operations in the PRC
have been recovering and managed to relieve some of the negative impacts of
COVID-19 from our overseas businesses.

BER R B R LS Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Smart Office Business

Smart office business consists of video conference and related solutions, plus
brand licensing and supply chain management of smart office equipment.
Segment revenue and profit soared 40% and 142% to RMB233.2 million and
RMB8.7 million respectively during the reporting year when compared with the
year of 2019.

Since February 2020, we have commenced a trial run operation of Personify
business through licensing the intellectual properties from Hon Hai Group. The
business mainly develops and promotes two software applications, namely
Presenter and ChromaCam, in US, Europe and selected Asia regions for the
purpose of enhancing video conference or streaming services. Presenter uses
sophisticated computer vision and deep learning technique to digitally extract
users’ face on top of any application or website running on the computer. It
creates intimacy and surprise to the audience and improves engagement.
ChromaCam creates a virtual “webcam” for PCs and Macs that can be used in
any application to blur or replace the background. A US professor, who is the
co-founder of the original business, has been appointed as adviser for
Personify business since 2020. Under his leadership, Personify has built a
team of over 30 technical experts in maintaining and developing the software
applications and related platforms. Personify serves two group of customers,
namely B2C and B2B customers. B2C customers subscribe the software
applications through periodic or one-off subscription while B2B customers
subscribe the applications or embed the technology in their own existing
software or web-based products on negotiated fees. Demand for the
applications increased dramatically since video conferencing becomes a part of
the new normal following the pandemic induced lockdown and people are
largely required to work from home. The performance of this trial run attempt
was above our expectation and we plan to devote more resources to further
develop this business.

PERSONIFY

Although certain new market development and marketing plans have been
postponed under the headwinds of COVID-19, the brand licensing and supply
chain management business continued to perform well in 2020.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 3§ 9
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Industrial Solution Business

We provide full range of smart industrial solutions and services to our
customers, including the implementation of a combination of software
system and robotic automation equipment into the production lines to enable
smart processes that lower costs and increase operational effectiveness
and efficiency, as well as the implementation of facility monitor and control
system for monitoring the efficiency of the usage of water, power and gas
for production plants, and facial recognition system for labour and security
management. We also provide daily I.T. operating services and after-installation
maintenance work in relation to those industrial solutions. Due to the adverse
impact of COVID-19 in our operation in the PRC, segment revenue and
profit fell 5% and 4% to RMB250.5 million and RMB31.6 million respectively
during the reporting year when compared with 2019. Despite the challenges
of travelling under the pandemic, we expanded our footprints beyond the
PRC market and delivered our industrial solutions to our clients in Vietnam
and Mexico during the year according to their global production capacity
diversification strategy.

New Retail Business

Trial runs of our interactive marketing platform in the liquor stores in US, one of
our new retail advertising initiatives, were halted during the lockdown in the first
quarter of 2020. Fortunately, there were only minor delays in our digital retail
signage project in Taiwan and we completed the installation of our proprietary
solutions into 600 retail stores operated by a preeminent supermarket player in
Taiwan during the reporting year. Segment revenue and profit were RMB39.7
million and RMB5.5 million respectively.

10 EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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BUSINESS PROSPECT

There have been over 127 million COVID-19 confirmed cases and over 2.7
million fatalities officially reported worldwide up until the reporting date. The
good news is a number of vaccines, which are proven to be effective to
immunize COVID-19, have been developed and gone through the phase 3
efficacy trials. Massive vaccination programs have been rolled out in western
countries in the first quarter of 2021 and over 410 million shots have been
administrated across over 132 countries worldwide until the reporting date. We
believe vaccination programs will eventually rollout to the rest of the world after
the vaccine productions have been ramped up to sufficiently meet the global
demand. Market expects the pandemic will be largely under control in the
developed countries by the end of 2021 and economies in those countries will
be stabilized by that time.

Smart Office Business

We may have seen the light at the end of the dark tunnel but market
anticipates that the ways to work and conduct business meetings will change
fundamentally after the pandemic. We shall devote more research and
development and sales and marketing efforts to develop our Personify business
in a bid to cater for the business needs under the new normal. We announced
our decision to acquire the intellectual properties related to Personify
business from Hon Hai Group on 27 December 2020 and the transaction was
approved by the independent shareholders of the company (the “Independent
Shareholders”) in the special general meeting (the “SGM”) held on 15 March
2021. By owning those assets, we are eligible to derive new business model,
and have more incentives and less uncertainties to deploy resources for
developing new software products from the existing technology.

For the brand licensing and supply chain management business, we will
accelerate the global market development efforts when there are signs that
the pandemic has been stabilized. We remain cautiously positive on its overall
performance in 2021.
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BUSINESS PROSPECT (continued)

Industrial Solution Business

The economy in the PRC has been recovering in the second half of 2020.
Market does not expect the new US government will immediately remove the
previous tariffs imposed on China goods and is still observing the policies on
China of the new administration of the US government. With labour shortage,
constant rising labour costs and geopolitical risk, sizable manufacturers are
moving their production capacities from the PRC to overseas to mitigate
risks and regain cost competitiveness. There are the new opportunities for
the industrial solution business although the PRC market will remain the core
market for this segment in the near future.

New Retail Business

We are delving into new opportunities for our digital signage solutions in retail
sector in Taiwan. With the rollout of the vaccination programs, the overall
retail sector is expected to gradually improve in the second half of 2021.
We, together with our business partners, shall continue to seek other retail
opportunities in the Greater China regions in a bid to grow this business in the
forthcoming years.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The company’s business risks are mainly the following:

(i) macroeconomic conditions of the globe and the PRC which in turn will
affect the general demand of |.T. solutions, services and products;

(ii) market acceptance of our industrial, smart office and new retail
solutions;

(iii) rapid technological changes that may disrupt the market positions and
demand of our existing solutions and products unpredictably; and

(iv) greater foreign exchange risk exposure due to the expansion of our
overseas businesses and higher volatility in major functional currencies
in recent years.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS, CAPITAL
COMMITMENT, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES,
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

On 27 December 2020, the company, Personify Inc. (the “Buyer”), our wholly
owned subsidiary, and Foxconn (Far East) Limited (the “Seller”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of Hon Hai, announced that all the three parties entered into
an acquisition agreement (“Acquisition Agreement”) on 24 December 2020
for the Buyer to acquire a basket of intellectual properties (“Target Assets”),
which included (i) 13 patents in 6 categories including 3D segmentation and
immersive video; (ii) trademark of Personify; (iii) 26 software components
including “Presenter” and “ChromaCam”; and (iv) 11 domain names, from
the Seller at a consideration of HK$23.34 million. The consideration would
be settled by the issuance of 46.68 million new shares, representing 6.65%
enlarged shareholding of the company, to the Seller at HK$0.5 per share upon
completion of the transaction. It is a disclosable and connected transaction
and requires the application for a whitewash waiver from the Securities and
Future Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC”). Details are set out in the
announcement of the company dated 27 December 2020 and the circular of
the company dated 22 February 2021. The acquisition of the Target Assets was
approved by the Independent Shareholders in the SGM on 15 March 2021 and
was completed on 22 March 2021.

With the ownership of the Target Assets, (a) we are able to formulate a more
comprehensive business development and marketing strategy by exploring
every available business options including, but not limited to, generating
additional licensing fee for granting others to use its technology by sublicensing
the patents and/or providing access to the source code or related software
development kit; (b) we are more motivated to devote resources to develop
new and existing applications and products; (c) it will be cost-saving in the
long run as we shall no longer have to pay the licence fees for the Target
Assets after the acquisition of the Target Assets; and (d) it will eliminate the
uncertainties of the continuity of the existing licensing arrangement between
the Buyer and its licensor. We believe such acquisition is in the interests of the
company and our shareholders as a whole.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS, CAPITAL
COMMITMENT, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES,
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE (continueq)

Saved as disclosed above, we had no material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, and significant investment during the reporting year.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no material events after 31 December
2020.

As at 31 December 2020, there were no charges on the group’s assets and no
significant capital commitment and contingent liabilities (31 December 2019:
Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND DIVIDENDS

As at 31 December 2020, the company has a total of 654,863,448 issued
shares with a par value of HK$0.1 each (2019: 654,863,448 shares). Upon
the completion of the acquisition of the Target Assets on 22 March 2021, the
company issued 46.68 million new shares, representing 6.65% of the enlarged
shareholding of the company, at HK$0.5 per share to the Seller on 22 March
2021 for the settlement of the acquisition proceeds of HK$23.34 million. Total
number of issued shares of the company increased to 701,543,448 as at the
reporting date of 31 March 2021.

One of our subsidiaries repurchased 1,748,000 shares of the company listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
in January 2019 at an aggregate consideration (excluding expenses) of
approximately HK$1.3 million and the purchased shares were cancelled in April
2019. Saved as disclosed above, neither the company nor its subsidiaries had
sold and redeemed any of the company’s listed securities during the reporting
year of 2020 and 2019.

The board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend in respect of
the reporting year (31 December 2019: Nil).

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For details of the continuing connected transaction, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Report of the Directors — Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this annual report.

14 EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



BEEEA SRR

MANAGENMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBE - IRFEBRKREGH

RIZZEF+"A=+—H HAHEBA48HEE
TE-NF 4695 EE) c NI FE 57 R
REH o

HFIABE > RPN R T RIBIRITH B E O R d%
BNETTERERERMETE FHABZHMNE
ELIERAT AEEREAHERRRERRIEN
WRIREEMERE —REETFIZHEFRIELA  HER
REWPIZBA AN KRIREOTE

AR RBEZE RS EERMHNE I EEYIF -
BraiEEREABEININ TRAEIRERERSE
MBS ERE IR AT 5 TUAYIEGI R AR EERAZ -
BT ETHREEAMNEREBE TEZAE
BETIZ2NEFEREURRSEMIRMETHERE UL
FEIREFTERARENEENHRFEEERE T
EREARERZEERM KM EREEDE
BIETEEEELTEEIEAN-—EMBNMIESR
HEREERERN=Z-

BABRIRARERMANBRERTEASER IR
RPMERRRBRESRENHGEEE BHEH
AR 75 R fREIREE > IR E MM X AT @R
B-AMESHE F2RAFRAMHBIRE -HER

BakEe

EMPLOYEES, ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
COMPLIANCE

As at 31 December 2020, we employed a total of 498 employees (2019: 469
employees) located in the PRC, Taiwan, Vietnam and Hong Kong.

We believe that our remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market
practices and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of
the individuals. Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in
accordance with the achievement of their sales target and account receivables
collection. General staff are offered year-end discretionary bonuses, which are
based on the divisional performance and individual appraisals.

We are committed to devoting more resources in providing internal and external
training to the employees. Apart from orientation programs for new employees,
trainings in live broadcasting or video clip format and online programs, covering
wide variety of topics, are provided. We also encourage staff to participate
in relevant seminars and lectures, and recommend qualified staff to take part
in professional courses to keep abreast of the latest technology and market
development. The training programs not only enhance employees’ professional
knowledge and career development, but also contribute to improving the
management system of the group. We also conduct a mentorship program
in which each of the senior and middle management in the PRC is required
to provide regular coaching and experience sharing with one to two new
employees.

We are dedicated to creating a favourable circumstance for caring of our
environment and community. It is our goal to build a more harmonious, civilized
and sustainable society by maintaining a high standard operation with integrity,
providing services of high quality and protecting the environment. For details,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report included in
this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board is committed to maintaining good corporate governance standard
and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure in
order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

The company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the reporting year,
save for the deviations discussed below. The board will continuously review and
improve the corporate governance practices and standards of the company to
ensure that business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the reporting year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention
paid to the growth and financial performance of the group. The principal
functions of the board are to:

(1) establish the strategic direction and development of the group;

(2)  determine the broad policies, strategic plans and performance objectives
of the group;

(3)  monitor management performance;

(4)  approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals, key
funding and investment proposals;

(6)  oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls,
risk management, financial reporting and compliance; and

(6)  assume responsibility for corporate governance.

The board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control and overall
strategic development of the group, as well as overseeing internal control,
financial performance, overall management and operations of the group. The
board has delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is responsible
for implementing the group’s business strategies and managing the daily
business operations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The board comprises four executive directors, one non-executive director and
three independent non-executive directors.

Regular board meetings are held at least four times a year to approve annual
and interim results, to review the business operation and the internal control
system of the group and to approve major or special issues.

The company has received from each independent non-executive director
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The company considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent.

Throughout the reporting year, the board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications on accounting or related financial management
expertise. The number of independent non-executive directors has represented
at least one-third of the board.

Given the nature and business objectives of the company, the board has a
balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the company. A list of directors and their biographical details are set out on
pages 60 to 63.

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to members of key management (including all
directors and senior management) for the reporting year fell within the following
bands:

A
Number of individual

—EITHE “E-hEF

2020 2019

AR 2,000,001t E AR 12,500,000t RMB2,000,001 — RMB2,500,000 - -
AR #1,500,0017cE AR 12,000,000t RMB1,500,001 — RMB2,000,000 1 -
AR %1,000,00175ZE A E#1,500,0007t RMB1,000,001 — RMB1,500,000 4 1
T FE AR #1,000,00070 Nil = RMB1,000,000 - 4
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

FREEELE BINEERY
Meeting attended/held
during the reporting year
Exged HMWEEE RR%ZE% ERZEE RERAE

EXERE Members of the Board Remuneration  Nomination Audit
Board Committee Committee Committee General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HTES Executive directors
BEIWLE (2B) Mr. GHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairman) 15 0/1 0/1
BhHEE #HiTR) Mr. CAl Liting (Chief Executive Officer) 4/5 0/2 01
BRELE Mr. KAO Chao Yang 0/5 0/1
WERLE Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 5/5 1/1
FHTEE Non-executive directors
JEON Eui Jong#c 4! Mr. JEON Eui Jong' 1/5 0/
HEFRE Mr. TSE Tik Yang Denis? 1/4 0/1
BAERTES Independent non-executive directors
BREKE Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen 5/5 2/2 11 3/3 01
BHIARE Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie 5/5 2/2 1 3/3 0/1
RIEERHIR Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan® 4/5 1/2 TERB N/A 1/3 0/
R Mr. CHEN Timothy* 0/1 0/1 0/1
HiaE - Notes:

' RIBZ—F=ZA=+—H#MIF

2 RIZZ2ZZF+"At HEHE

8 RIB-_ZE=ZA=+—BEZEF
4 RIEZEF=A=+—H&E

EFEZIEER

ERBEHERBLREN ST ENERE HARSES
BIFEB-BEFEMEZLCARBRZER
FED BRBRETRIMER 8 XEERRER
UERBEER BEER - ME - MBRRBER-
EEGMAMBZEEUBAMS ZRAJETT  WE
EREERBEEN TEEBHEFTIMESTEN®E

=%

7

! resigned on 31 March 2021

2 resigned on 7 December 2020
3 appointed on 31 March 2020
4 resigned on 31 March 2020

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse board
which enhances the quality of its performance. Diversity of board members
can be achieved through consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. All the board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the board.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The executive directors meet on a regular basis to discuss the ordinary
business of the company. Board meetings are held to discuss the overall
development, operation, financial performance, interim results, annual
results and other business of the company that requires approval from the
board. Reasonable notice has been given to board members to give them
an opportunity to attend. All board members are provided with relevant
documentation covering the subject matter of the board meetings. Board
members are also provided with sufficient information in a timely manner to
review and consider matters to be discussed at board meetings. The company
utilises telephone conferencing for directors who are not able to attend in
person.

During the reporting year, all directors discharged their duties in a dedicated,
diligent and proactive manner with reasonable prudence. They have executed
their duties in accordance with statutory requirements, the company’s bye-laws
(the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules. All directors have exercised due care in
monitoring corporate matters of the company and provided sufficient time and
attention to all significant issues of the group.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The duties of the Chairman are as follows:

1. provides leadership and governance of the board so as to create the
conditions for overall board’s and individual director’s effectiveness, and
ensures that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the board in
a timely manner;

2. promotes effective relationships and open communication, and creates
an environment that allows constructive debates and challenges, both
inside and outside the boardroom, between non-executive directors and
the management;

3. ensures that the board as a whole plays a full and constructive part in the
development and determination of the group’s strategies and policies,
and that board decisions taken are in the group’s best interests and fairly
reflect board’s consensus;

4, ensures that the strategies and policies agreed by the board are
effectively implemented by the Chief Executive Officer and the
management;

5. sets the board meeting schedule and agenda to take full account of the

important issues facing the group and the concerns of all directors, and
ensures that adequate time is available for thorough discussion of critical
and strategic issues;
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

6. ensures that the board is properly briefed on issues arising at board
meetings and receives, in a timely manner, adequate information which
must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, to fulfil its duties, such
as reports on the group’s performance, the issues, challenges and
opportunities facing the group, and matters reserved for it to make
decision;

7. arranges informal meetings of the directors at least annually, including
meetings of the non-executive directors at which the Chief Executive
Officer is not present, and ensures that sufficient time and consideration
is given to complex, contentious or sensitive issues;

8. ensures that there is effective communication with shareholders, and
that each director develops and maintains an understanding of the
stakeholders’ views; and

9. establishes good corporate governance practices and procedures and
promotes the highest standards of integrity, probity and corporate
governance throughout the group and particularly at board level.

Whereas the duties of the Chief Executive Officer are as follows:

1. leads the management in the day-to-day running of the group’s business
in accordance with the business plans and within the budgets approved
by the board;

2. leads the management to ensure effective working relationships with the
Chairman and the board by meeting or communicating with the Chairman
on a regular basis to review key developments, issues, opportunities and
concerns;

3. develops and proposes the group’s strategies and policies for the
board’s consideration;

4, implements the strategies and policies as approved by the board and its
committees in pursuit of the group’s objectives;

5. maintains regular communication with the Chairman on important and
strategic issues facing the group, and ensures bringing these issues to
the board’s attention;

6. ensures that the management gives appropriate priority to providing

reports to the board which contain relevant, accurate, timely and clear
information necessary for the board to fulfil its duties;
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

7. leads the communication program with our stakeholders including
shareholders; and

8. conducts the affairs of the group in accordance with the practices and
procedures adopted by the board and promotes the highest standards of
integrity, probity and corporate governance within the group.

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. This code provision has been complied with by the
company throughout the reporting year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors bring independent judgment to the
board. Each independent non-executive director sent a written confirmation of
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the company.
Based on these confirmations, the board considers that all independent non-
executive directors have met the qualifications of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
for the reporting year.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Directors are appointed in accordance with their qualifications and experience
to ensure they are capable to perform their duties and protect the interests of
the stakeholders. Every newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and
formal introduction to ensure that he/she has an understanding of the group’s
business and operation, his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements, and the Model Code.

Under code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive directors shall
be appointed for a specific term and be subject to re-election while under
code provision D.1.4 issuers should have formal letters of appointment for
directors setting out the key terms and conditions for their appointment. The
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific term of office
of one year while all non-executive directors and all executive directors have
not entered into any service agreements or letters of appointment (as the case
may be) with the company and have no fixed term of service. However, they are
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting of the company
(the “AGM”) in accordance with the Bye-laws. As such, the board considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than set out in the CG
Code.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

According to the provisions of the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules, any director
appointed by the board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the next
following general meeting of the company, and in the case of an addition to
the existing board, until the next following AGM. Furthermore, each director,
including those appointed for a specific term or holding office as Chairman and/
or managing director, are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of
the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company, the company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws (the
“Constitutional Documents”) and the Guides on Directors’ Duties issued by
the Companies Registry to each newly appointed director to ensure that he/she
is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional development to
directors would be arranged whenever necessary.

During the reporting yeatr, all directors and company secretary of the company
confirmed that they have complied with the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three board committees, namely the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
to oversee particular aspects of the group’s affairs. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable requests, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the company’s expenses.

(a) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and one executive director. The current members
are Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, Prof. ZHANG
Xiaoquan and Mr. CAl Liting. Mr. Kan is currently the chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the board on, among other things, the company’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of all directors and senior management of the
company and review the specific remuneration packages for all executive
directors and senior management of the company. The remuneration
packages for directors and senior management are determined by
reference to the skill, experience, performance, contribution to the
company and the prevailing market condition.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors and one executive director. The current members are Mr.
CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, Mr. TANG Tin Lok. Stephen and
Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan. Mr. Chien is currently the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to:

(1) review the structure, size and composition of the board (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) at least once every year
and make recommendations to the board regarding any proposed
changes;

2) identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members
and select or make recommendations to the board on the selection
of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(3)  assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

(4) make recommendations to the board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors in particular, the chairman and the president
(chief executive); and

(5)  where the board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting why they believe the
individual should be elected and the reasons why they consider the
individual to be independent.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continueq)

(b)

(c)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee monitors and reviews the diversity policy
of the board members. The company recognises that diversity of the
board members provides a balance of skill, experience and professional
knowledge for the company’s business and future development. The
diversity policy is achieved by consideration of various aspects, including
but not limited gender, age, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional knowledge and experience with the business of the
company. The ultimate decision on selection of candidates will be made
upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidate will bring to
the board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established and is governed by its written
terms of reference in accordance with code provision C.3.3 of the CG
Code. It currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie and Prof.
ZHANG Xianquan. Mr. TANG is currently the chairperson of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the group and
providing advice and recommendations to the board.

The Audit Committee is also authorised to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance
of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this
necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(c)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee has performed the
following duties:

1.

reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor
and reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements, with
recommendations to the board for approval;

reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as
well as assessment of potential impacts on the group’s financial
statements;

reviewed the group’s internal control and risk management
systems, the effectiveness of the group’s internal audit function
and discussed the relevant issues including financial, operational
and compliance controls, and risk management functions;

reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory
requirements;

considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment
and approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor;

discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations; and

reviewed and monitored external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The board has delegated the duties and responsibilities in performing its
corporate governance functions to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
is responsible for corporate governance functions with the following duties:

(@)  to develop and review the company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the board;

(o) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to directors and employees; and

(e)  to review the company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the group which should give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the company and the group and of the results and cash flow for that
year in compliance with relevant laws and applicable accounting standards.
The board also ensures the timely publication of the financial statements of the
group.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, therefore the directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 3§ 27



EEELRHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BN 2 B &

RAREEE  ZAB ZINEZBEAE TR KE ST
BB 75 Pk B A £ B T3 AR5 9 Bl W ER 2 & 3
W

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the reporting year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the
company, provided the following services to the group and its respective fees
charged are set out as follows:

&M

KWEREE Type of services charged Fees

ANEBFT

RMB’000

KEEZ BZRHE Audit services for the Group 1,757

JEBIZARTS Non-audit services -

4B %EE Total 1,757
MEREZ ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
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HER-AREFENYBRRERFTELEZERER
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EERAMETABEZ EREAKREERAGNTE
FREEAIT ¢

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the group for the relevant accounting periods in
accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements. In preparing the
financial statements for the reporting year, the directors have adopted
appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently. The financial
statements for the reporting year have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on
pages 87 to 88 in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the reporting year, the group has complied with principle C.2 of the CG
Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of such systems, while the board oversees management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis and an internal audit on the internal
control and risk management systems performed on an annual basis. Main
features of the risk governance and management systems are described as
follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Risk Governance and Management

The management of the group proactively manages the risks by establishing an
Enterprise Risk Management (‘ERM”) framework to assist the Audit Committee
and the board in discharging its risk management responsibilities and individual

business units in managing their key risks. With reference to the
Control - Integrated Framework”

“Internal
Issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COS0”), the main features of the

ERM system are illustrated below:

o Control Environment: a set of standards, processes and structures that

provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the group.

o Risk Assessment: a dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analysing risks to achieve the group’s objectives, forming a basis for

determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: action established by policies and procedures to help
ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement

of objectives are carried out.

o Information and Communication: internal and external communication to
provide the group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day

controls.

o Monitoring: ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each

components of internal control is present and functioning.
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AREARERE (& Risk Governance and Management (continued)

AERWEREAREBUTXFARWIZERGIEE  The group’s risk governance structure is guided by the “Three Lines of
I8 o Defense” model as shown below.

Board of Directors
o

Audit Committee

BREEE

1st Line of Defence 2nd Line of Defence 3rd Line of Defence
BB 2B SE3ERAAR
Financial Control
BTSRRI
Management
Controls
EIREEE System of Risk 0
Management and 23
Internal Control ok g
B EERABEERR Internal Audit g >
AR g
Compliance
Risk Management =)
and Internal
Controls
Measures
EISEER Data Privacy and
P EREEIEIEE Information Security
BEALERENZR
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Risk Governance and Management (continued)

As the first line of defense, risk owners of all corporate departments and
business units of the group identify and evaluate the risks which may potentially
impact the achievement of their business objectives, mitigate and monitor the
risks (including but not limited to business, operation risks) by designing and
executing control procedures in their day-to-day operations. They conduct risk
assessment on a regular basis to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of
controls that are in place to mitigate the identified risks.

As the second line of defense, the group establishes specific functions to
ensure the first line of defense is properly in place and operating as intended.
The responsibilities of these functions include but not limited to financial
control, risk management and internal control, compliance, data protection and
information security and so forth.

As the third line of defense, the existing Internal Audit (“IA”) function acts as
an independent assessor which is composed of professionals with relevant
expertise (such as certified public accountant). It is responsible for i) reviewing
the major operational, financial, compliance and risk management controls of
the group on a continuous basis and ii) proposing any enhancement to the
risk management and internal control systems for consideration by the Audit
Committee and/or the individual department concerned. It schedules its work in
an annual audit plan which is reviewed by the Audit Committee every year. The
audit plan is derived from risk assessment basis and is aimed at covering each
significant corporate department and business unit in which the group involves
in day-to-day management within a reasonable period.

The Audit Committee assists the board in overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the group, including:

—

reviewing, at least annually, the risk management and internal control
systems of the group with the IA function to ascertain whether
management has fulfilled its responsibilities in establishing and
maintaining effective systems;

(ii) reviewing the risk assessment results, including changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last review and the group’s ability
to respond to changes in its business and the external environment; and

(i) discussing with management on the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions to ensure that these are
adequate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Risk Governance and Management (continued)

The board has the overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems, including:

(i) setting the group’s strategies and corporate goals;

(ii) evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving its strategic and business objectives;

(i)  overseeing management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems;

(iv)  overseeing the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis, and ensuring that a review of the systems is conducted at
least annually to ensure their effectiveness;

(v) reviewing the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last review and the group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

(vi)  considering any significant control failings or weaknesses that have been
identified during the period.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the reporting year, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

The board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. TSANG Hing Bun was appointed as company secretary of the company
with effect from 3 November 2015. Although Mr. Tsang is not an employee
of the company as required under code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, the
company has assigned Mr. CHENG Yee Pun, the executive director, as the
contact person with Mr. Tsang. Information in relation to the performance,
financial position and other major developments and affairs of the group are
speedily delivered to Mr. Tsang through the contact person assigned. Hence, all
directors are still considered to have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary in light of the above arrangement in accordance with code
provision F.1.4 of the CG Code. Having in place a mechanism that Mr. Tsang
will be informed of the group’s development promptly without material delay
and with his expertise and experience, the board is confident that having Mr.
Tsang as the company secretary is beneficial to the group’s compliance with
the relevant board procedures, applicable laws, rules and regulations. For
the reporting year, Mr. Tsang has duly complied with the relevant professional
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities have been in
force to protect the directors and officers of the group from their risk exposure
arising from the business of the group.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders are encouraged to maintain direct communication with the
company. Shareholders who have any questions for the board may write
directly to the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room 1001,
10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, or email
to info@maxnerva.com. The company secretary will direct the questions to
the board. For institutional investors, please call (852) 3628 3815 or email to
ir@maxnerva.com for further information of the company.

Any questions regarding the shareholdings of the shareholders can be

addressed directly to the company’s branch registrar, Tricor Abacus Limited at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings if they are unable to attend the
meetings. The process of the company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and if necessary, changes will be made to ensure
that shareholders’ needs are best served.

Board members, in particular, either the chairman of board committees or
their delegates, appropriate management executives and external auditors will

attend AGMs to answer shareholders’ questions.
Procedures for members to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the company’s registered office in Bermuda and its principal
place of business in Hong Kong, for the attention of the company secretary,
to require a SGM to be called by the board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If the directors do not within 21 days from
the date of the deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them may convene the SGM in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result
of the failure of the directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed to
them by the company.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the general meeting, signed
by the shareholders concerned and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of those shareholders.

If the requisition is in order, the company secretary will ask the board to
convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On the contrary, if the requisition
is invalid, the shareholders will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, a
SGM will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered members for consideration of
the proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at SGM varies according to
the nature of the proposal is as follows:

- at least twenty-one clear days’ and not less than ten clear business
days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes a special resolution
of the company, which cannot be amended other than a mere clerical
amendment to correct a patent error; and

- at least fourteen clear days’ and not less than ten clear business days’
notice in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as
amended), (i) shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders, are entitled to request
the company to give shareholders notice of a resolution which is intended to
be approved at the next annual general meeting or special general meeting.
If any shareholders wish to propose a resolution to be put forward at a
general meeting of the company, a written notice to that effect signed by the
requisitionists with contact information must be deposited at the company’s
Hong Kong principal place of business, Room 1001, 10/F, Houston Centre,
63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon (addressed to the company
secretary). The notice shall contain, inter alia, a description of the proposed
resolution desired to be put forward at the meeting, the reasons for such a
proposal and any material interest of the proposing shareholder in such a
proposal. The request will be verified with the company’s share registrar in
Bermuda or the Hong Kong branch share registrar and upon their confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the company secretary will ask the
board to include the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at the AGM or the SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, the details of which are as follows:

o At least 14 days’ notice (the notice period must include 10 business
days) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
company in SGM.

o At least 21 days’ notice (the notice period must include 20 business
days) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
company in AGM or a special resolution of the company in AGM or SGM.

In the event of failure in serving the notice to the company by the requisitionist
within reasonable time, the company reserves the right to claim from the
requisitionist any expenses incurred by the company in serving the notice of
the resolution and circulating the statement given by that requisitionist to all
shareholders in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
(unless the company otherwise resolves).

The rights and procedures for proposing resolution to be put forward by

shareholders at a general meeting is posted on the company’s website
Www.maxnerva.com.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders are one of our key stakeholders. The board and senior
management recognise their responsibilities to represent the interests and
create long-term sustainable value for the shareholders.

The company communicates to its shareholders through announcements and
annual and interim reports published on its website http://www.maxnerva.com.
Shareholders may put forward their enquiries to the board in writing by sending
the same to the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room
1001, 10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon.
The directors, the company secretary or other appropriate members of senior
management respond to enquiries from shareholders promptly. All shareholders
are also encouraged to attend general meetings of the company to discuss
matters relating to the group. At general meetings of the company, the directors
will answer questions from the shareholders.

Investor relations has always formed an important part of the company’s
corporate governance. It provides two-way communication between
management and the investment community and continually updates investors
on the company’s latest business developments in a timely manner. The
designated team also regularly provides management with market feedback
and opinions from the investment community to improve the governance and
operations of the company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change to the Constitutional Documents during the
reporting year. The latest version of the Constitutional Documents can be
downloaded from the websites of the company or the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The company is committed to sharing the results with shareholders while
striking a balance of continuous development of its business. Given the current
economic and financial conditions, the possible financial resources needed for
business development, the company does not expect to distribute any dividend
in the near term since it intends to invest the capital into its core businesses
as it strives to become one of the leading providers in industrial solution, smart
office and new retail sectors.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report presents our efforts
and achievement made in sustainability and social responsibility. The ESG
Report details the group’s performance in carrying out the environmental and
social policies and fulfilling the principle of sustainable development.

Scope of the ESG Report

The scope of the ESG Report remains unchanged from last reporting period,
which covers the whole group’s environmental and social performance during
the reporting year. The environmental key performance indicators (“KPI”) as
disclosed in the ESG Report are based on the performance of our operating
headquarters in Shenzhen for the reporting year, as the headquarters is the
major site of operation of the group.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. We
have complied with the above provisions during the reporting year.

Reporting Principles

The content of the ESG Report is determined through stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment process, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, collecting and reviewing the management and stakeholders’ opinions,
assessing the relevance and materiality of the issues and preparing and
validating the information reported. The ESG Report covers all key issues that
are concerned by different stakeholders.

Quantitative environmental and social KPIs are disclosed in the ESG Report
so that stakeholders are able to have a comprehensive understanding of
the group’s ESG performance. Information of the standards, methodologies,
references and source of key emission of these KPIs are stated wherever
appropriate. To enhance comparability of the ESG performance between
years, the group has strived to adopt consistent reporting and calculation
methodologies as far as reasonably practicable. For any changes in
methodologies, the group has presented and explained in details in the
corresponding sections.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continueq)

Information and Feedbacks

For details of the corporate governance of the group, please refer to the
corporate governance report on pages 16 to 36 of this annual report. Your
opinions are highly valued. If you have any advice or suggestions, please feel
free to contact the company through:

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
Room 1001, 10/F, Houston Centre,
63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel No.: (852) 3628 3857
Fax No.: (852) 3188 1523

BOARD STATEMENT

The group believes that good ESG governance strategies and practices are
crucial to the business in long term, especially in enhancing investment values
and returns. The board of directors is directly responsible for the oversight of
the group’s ESG-related issues, including measures, laws and regulations. The
board also bears the responsibility to monitor the execution of ESG-related
actions and provide macro instruction for policy setting, as well as review the
content and quality of the ESG report annually.

The board understands that it is essential to set ESG approach and strategy
according to the importance of ESG issues towards the group and its
stakeholders, therefore the board has assigned a third-party ESG professional
to conduct materiality assessment on ESG issues. To identify the material
issues, stakeholder surveys have been carried out, and industry-specific issues
were considered by using materiality maps together with professional advice.
Directors have also participated in the engagement exercise and provided
constructive opinions in determining the material ESG issues. The board is well
informed about the results and will keep reviewing the engagement channels
and exercise.

To make sure the management of ESG issues is on the right track, the board
oversees the coordination between departments according to their respective
targets, and will look for opportunities to set more explicit ESG goals and
targets for the group.
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Stakeholders

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Understanding and taking actions towards stakeholders’ concerns and
expectations is essential towards our sustainability development. The
engagement of stakeholders helps us recognise our sustainability performance,
therefore we have established appropriate communication channels so that

comments and feedbacks from major stakeholders are effectively and timely

addressed.

The following table summarises the main expectations and concerns of our key

stakeholders and the corresponding management responses.

A

Expectations

EEEEIE BERE
Management Responses/
Communication Channels

B R 55 E 1 8

Government and Regulators

BRER

Shareholders

AIERH

Partners

. BFPERBE ERRER
. SRS R R
. B B B AN AR

o Compliance with national policies,
laws and regulation

o Support for local economic growth

o Tax payment in full and on time

. [E1R

. BHREE

. RIARBEE
. BHERBMER

o Returns

o Compliance operations

o Rise in company value

o Transparency and effective

communication

. HEEE
.  ATHP

. B1TE8

. EEHA

o Operation with integrity

o Equal rivalry

o Performance of contracts
o Mutual benefits

. EHERER
. EHARERESTES
. BERER

° Regular Information reporting

° Regular meetings with regulators
o Examination and inspection

. KREAE

. AS

. BT M BEERX KA B UL
° General meetings

° Announcements

o Email, telephone conversation and

company website

. EBIR

. 5Y5m B R3O

. B2HEKREF

o Business communication

° Discussion and exchange of opinions
° Engagement and cooperation
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continuec)

HE

Expectations

ETEEEIE BEERE
Management Responses/
Communication Channels

£F

Customers

I
Environment

=11

Employees

HERAR

Community and the public

. B E Em KR

. BiITEX

. HEEY

o Outstanding products and services
o Performance of contracts

o Operation with integrity

. & AE B HE

. IRIGIRE

o Energy saving and emission
reduction

o Environmental protection

. TR (RE

. M2

. M R @A

. HEERE

. AR

o Protection of rights
o Occupational health
o Remunerations and benefits
o Career development
o Humanity cares

. ERE

o Transparency
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. FERIRFB O KRR
. ERMEERE

. HERBTEE

. HRERETE

o =R [ElEH

° Customer service center and hotlines
o Customer satisfaction surveys

° Meetings with customers

o Social media platforms

° Client reviews

. ESG#HR &

° ESG reporting

o HETHTES

o P9 BB HR T 5z P i 48
o BT

. B b 5y &

o BT &S

o Meetings with employees
o House journal and intranet
o Employee mailbox

° Training and workshop

o Employee activities

. ATEY
. A%
. RERD

. HRERETE

o Company website

° Announcements

° Interview with media

o Social media platforms
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Employment and Labour Practices

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continuea)

In view of the relevance and validity of this ESG report with the group’s
environmental and social performance, the group has conducted a materiality
assessment to identify ESG issues that are material to the business of the
group and its stakeholders. The assessment is based on stakeholder surveys,
materiality maps provided by well-known external institutions’, as well as
professional opinions from the third-party ESG professional. The material ESG
issues as identified are shown as follows:

. Bl ke 3 R
o Training and Development
EEER

Operating Practices

J BTI%uib
o Employee Diversity

. BERMERBERE

d mBEEE

. RES

° Customer Privacy and Data Security
Quality Management

o Anti-corruption

AEST

8T

ANERDAEBNZ R EABEIREUNA
TEBBE - HEBAT RAREREETRMHEAR
FHNFM KRR BERSFEARE THNR
HE-BEREA TEHE R -FERE 2T
by RIEFUREMTERENERET(EEBER
EHIY(PEARKMEALEE) R(FEARHENE
BEERE) EEEBIEMBERERZER - M
BIENERE TN A ERRERZ IFRE-

! BEMTGFPRINEEEECEMSCIRAFEES
FHZEZEE(SASB)E B ENESGITEEEHE X
SASBEE £ B °

. EEAR

o FN A R IR E

° Operational Compliance

o Intellectual Property Protection

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

Employment

Human resources act as the pillar of the group, thus employing the suitable
talents for different positions is of ultimate importance. To recruit talent,
we offer competitive remuneration to all of our employees. Throughout the
reporting year, we have strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations
in its places of business such as the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China (1% A R M E% &%) and
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (Fh#E A R M E %
& TE5%) in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination
other benefits and welfare of employees. We have made our best effort to
ensure that the legitimate rights and interests of our employees are protected in
accordance with laws.

! The materiality maps referenced in the materiality assessment include the ESG
Industry Materiality Map and the SASB Materiality Map produced respectively by
MSCI and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB).
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employment (continued)

Anti-discrimination is highly valued during the employment process, we select
the right candidates only based on their qualifications, experience and ability
without taking into consideration of their gender, race, age, nationality, marital
status, pregnancy, disability and religion etc. We strictly prohibit the use of child
labour and forced labour in accordance with the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labour (22 IEf#EHE THE) . As a mean to avoid employing child
labour, all newly employed staff is required to provide identification documents
for age verification purpose. Once such practice is discovered, the group would
investigate the case thoroughly and dismiss relevant employees immediately.
An employment contract which clearly defines the job title and duties of the
respective employee has to be signed so as to prevent the employee from
performing work out of their prescribed responsibilities. For employees who
request to resign, we follow relevant procedures to conduct exit interviews with
them in an effort to collect opinions from them for any possible improvement of
our policies.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employment (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, we employed a total of 498 employees and the total
workforce by gender, age group, employment type, and geographical region are

as follows:

By Age Group
HERE R 5
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2020
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employment (continued)

The employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region are

as follows:
HE_ZSZZH BHEZZ—NF
+=ZB=+—H +=ZA=+—H
IHEE IFFE
For the For the
year ended year ended
BT REE(%) Employee Turnover Rate (%) 31st Dec 2020 31st Dec 2019
gk FilE by By gender
B Male 18 38
ZM Female 12 22
G A BB By age group
<30 <30 22 44
30-50 30-50 14 29
>50 >50 20 40
i & & 5 By geographical region
A PRC 16 35
55 Hong Kong 0 0
=0 Taiwan 34 28
g Vietnam 0 R n.a.
Al R 3 Training and Development

BUBAXBHASNOEREXERYSUETIHE
MEZ - AEERETINBEZRERRMEDTL
BUAR AR ER D o UL - FRAFI 7 B TR 8 K53l LA
RARENTAERAERH

REREFEE 7ERAZEHITEAKNNETHE
BT EARBIRERABBE -RAPXMASRM
EMERRTEAREEIREERAFENN B RE
g UERSEATFRERDA  HRMANERA
BREMHAH - RATAMTHBEASNERE
Al I EEHEERIS EMEARMINEEEG-
SN AT EEMASREEBANERER H
BEF RBEFRBEAR NS LIRSEIH
TERENHARN T # MRS TIERX - #HY
WEI HARHE-RIIODAREI AEEREE
HE - RREFRTBEBPFINEEIERRE  LUE
REABTEEBMNBEEF-

Building suitable career paths with a bright future is crucial to every employee.
The group sees employees’ career development as a component of our
business success. Hence, we deliver education and training to our employees
in an effort to build up their working skills and knowledge.

During the reporting year, the group has organized hundreds of training courses
and workshops for employees of different levels from various departments.
We have offered introduction and training on our products and different types
of smart manufacturing solutions to our technical staff so that they are well
equipped with sufficient knowledge on our products before providing services
for our customers. Pre-sale training, which was specific to our salespersons,
was also organized to improve their sales technique and hence our sales
performance. Besides, training related to human resources management,
financial procedures, procurement procedures and I.T. were also provided to
relevant staff so that work efficiency was increased with employees’ advanced
skills and familiarity with the systems. Targeting new employees, we have
offered a series of induction training with regard to the group’s policies, system
operation and daily work flow of different departments in order to familiarise
themselves with the group’s daily operation.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Training and Development (continued)

In addition, to keep abreast of the ever-changing business environment, an
educational subsidy policy has been put in place to encourage employees to
pursue up-to-date job-related knowledge, such as SAP certification, externally.

We also sponsor our employees who take examinations pertained to their

designated roles and responsibility.

During the reporting year, we provided training to 464 employees which
accounted for 93% of the group’s employees. The time inputted for each

AN employee, on average, was 13.4 hours.
BEZTZEHF Eﬁz%:@—ﬁﬁ
+-A=+—H +ZB=+—
IEEFE JtEE
For the For the
Percentage of year ended year ended
ZIEITHD (%) employees trained (%) 31st Dec 2020 31st Dec 2019
R85 By gender
B4 Male 91 55
pegc Female 100 51
BESRANE D By employee level
Bk High 920 43
AR Middle 96 58
B4R Low 90 49
HaE - Notes:
1, TE-NEFHBRROERESGREIESIBREH R 1. The data of 2019 is restated according to the formula provided by the Stock

Fri B RNES] -

Exchange after the latest review on the ESG reporting guide.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Training and Development (continued)

BE_T-TH BE_ZT—NF
+=ZB=+—H +ZA=+—H
IEEFE IFEE

For the For the

year ended year ended

31st Dec 2020 31st Dec 2019

HERE 52 By gender
B4 Male 13.1 3.4
ZM Female 14.3 3.6
BES&RE D By employee level
= 4R High 7.0 4.3
FR AR Middle 14.7 3.5
E4& Low 12.7 3.2

RHEIEEE RS TRMAEIEE > HAAITT
HETRHBIARE - RARMEV T HEEERR
NERFEETAEY FRAREFEARAHNER-
KEBETIZHREMBER TRERIBER TEE
BRERRESE RABBEXSENTEHAXEZ
BIZEN -EERERTRSEERENES THRE
BEABREPETEREE

EERZEZ

RPU—BEEREERBERZE - NARSEE > RN
BEETAEREEMTHHNERER M(FEA
RAMBEBERG AEIREBN(HERE REBERK
B e

As a well-rounded development pathway, we also offer promotion opportunities
to employees adding to the provision of training. We adopt the performance
evaluation and management policy in an attempt to assess the employees’
performance regularly to provide a foundation for their promotion and
salary adjustment. By taking into consideration of the employees’ target
accomplishment, job completion, work quality and performance etc., we
evaluate our employees’ performance with performance appraisal which
includes face-to-face interview. Employees who have achieved outstanding
results in performance appraisal will be given priority in the process of
promotion.

Health and Safety

We always put priority on employees’ health and safety. During the reporting
year, we strictly conformed to the relevant laws in the group’s places of
business such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases (F1#E A B BB 2 &8 7%) and
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (B ¥ % 2 & f# B 15 4) of Hong
Kong.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Health and Safety (continued)

Our management is responsible for implementing safety measures so as to
assure our employees with a safe and healthy workplace. Our management
also ensures that necessary information, instruction and supervision are
provided so that all employees are safe from injury and health risks. We
organise safety orientation for new employees to keep them informed and
trained with safety regulations and emergency procedures. The emergency
procedures such as fire or explosion emergency plan have been well
established, and we regularly arrange rescue, fire and evacuation drills in order
to prevent casualties in case of accidents. In the past three years, there were
no work-related injuries and fatalities, thanks to the effort put by the group in
creating an injury-free business environment.

BE_T-ZF HBEZ-HNE BEZN\E

+ZB=+—H +ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H

LLEE FE FE

For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended

BIR Indicators 31st Dec 2020 31st Dec 2019 31st Dec 2018
BTEEEAZETAH Number of work-related fatalities 0 0

BTEREBZIETE%) Rate of work-related fatalities (%) 0 0 0
AIEmiEkzITER Lost days due to work injury 0 0

AEHREIRCOVID-19)8 % KAEBEEH— 7578
B #2 BiE Rz 12 5 B 2R o AN EE B 85 /s COVID-19B5 #5 F i}
UiREREE# AEEFHEENIERZH KM
BEEATURBEEMNVARTELIZERIE B2 A
BRE-FAERBIAMBOSZ UERPEANSHTZA
HEBR AEELHBAEETINENHBNTERE
Eo U EHEREENRERRT LI EEEEIS
BRI R FEMBENEBHELIE A E
BEGRSNEIETEA®R-

In correspondence to the outbreak of COVID-19 worldwide, the group has
implemented a series of preventive measures and control policy. A handbook
of the control and prevention of COVID-19 was released to raise employees’
awareness. Special working arrangement was launched so that employees
were allowed to work from home depending on the latest pandemic situation to
avoid mass gatherings. All staff are required to wear masks, as well as measure
body temperature before entering the premise. Whereabouts information of all
staff during the Spring Festival was recorded, and employees’ health condition
was reported regularly. Besides, the management has strived its best to
cooperate and support local government’s pandemic prevention and control
work, and prepared adequate pandemic prevention supplies for employees.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Welfare

In order to stimulate the working initiative of the employees, we provide a wide
range of welfare including those required by laws and offered by the group. To
assure our employees of sufficient rest time, we follow relevant regulations to
define working duration for employees and we allow employees to have flexible
working hours. Our employees are also entitled to a number of leaves such as
public holidays, annual leave, maternity leave, marriage leave and funeral leave.
We also contribute to all applicable statutory insurance and mandatory funds
for employees in different locations. Besides, we offer allowances to employees
at different positions, for instance, salespersons who frequently communicate
with clients are granted communication allowances. Every year, each employee
is also provided with a free body checkup.

In addition, we place emphasis on the work-life balance of our employees by
hosting various team-building activities, festival parties and birthday parties
which allow our employees to relax and interact. We also prepare prizes
and gifts during birthday parties and special festivals as a reward for our
employees.

OPERATING OUR BUSINESS

Supply Chain Management

To thoroughly fulfill the environmental and social responsibility, management
of our business operation including the supply chain cannot be neglected. As
a way to ensure that qualified products and services are provided, we target
and cooperate with suppliers with high credibility such as long-established
suppliers and those from eminent enterprises. We have set up comprehensive
procurement policies and systems which act as a guide to opt for and manage
our suppliers. During the selection process, suppliers are evaluated mainly
based on their product quality, delivery, production capacity, compliance and
past performance from environmental, health and safety aspects. Suppliers
who fail to meet the requirements will ultimately be disqualified.

Environmental and social risks along the supply chain are always considered
by the group. We give priority to suppliers that comply with national, regional
and industrial environmental standards, follow internationally recognized
standards and own certifications concerning energy management systems,
environmental management systems and social risk management. We also
value the employment and incorruptibility of suppliers. Therefore, we ensure
that suppliers are committed to uphold the human rights of employees by
implementing internal regulations in accordance with internationally accepted
norms. Whether they have adopted sufficient occupational health and safety
policies and obtained relevant certifications is also an important consideration.
The cooperation with suppliers who are found to be incompliant with relevant
laws and regulations regarding anti-bribery, anti-corruption and any other
unethical business practices will be terminated at once.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

Furthermore, we endeavor to select environmentally friendly products and
service during procurement. For example, we prefer eco-friendly products
which are energy-efficient or made of recyclable materials such as refillable
pens and recycled paper. We also encourage the staff to pay attention to
the expiry date of products and use products purchased earlier to avoid
unnecessary wastage. Besides, to reduce carbon footprint, we tend to select
local suppliers or suppliers geographically closer to the company.

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
HwER S EBHE
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M ©
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Product and Service Quality

We provide industrial, smart office and new retail solutions, in which our
employees are involved in the sales and installation of the hardware and
software. The group has established a quality management system, which has
obtained ISO 9001:2015 certification, to ensure that we can attain a high level
of product and service quality.

When selecting and purchasing products, the group strictly follows the Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China (T ARHXMNEERE &%) .
We always set up contract terms regarding product quality with suppliers to
ensure that the corresponding products have passed necessary testing and
attained certain industrial standards. The products we provide are guaranteed
to have met all applicable health and safety requirements under China
Compulsory Certification (4 B3l 4 & s 5858) , as stipulated according to the
Provision on the Administration of Compulsory Product (3& 14 2 S2 50 e5 B IR
7E) .
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Product and Service Quality (continued)

As a professional service provider, we never spare ourselves in the pursuit
of excellence in service quality and the complete provision of services in
accordance with customers’ needs and expectations. After-sales services
such as maintenance, training on product application and product return are
always provided, adding to the major I.T. services we provide. We constantly
keep track of the experience and opinions of our customers by implementing
a thorough feedback-tracking system. In case of complaints on goods and
service quality, staff from different teams who have their own designated roles
and responsibilities will work together in carrying out prompt follow-up actions
so that impacts or inconvenience can be minimised.

During the reporting year, the group did not received any major complaints
about its products and services and did not record any products sold or
shipped that were subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Privacy Protection

We play a pivotal role in privacy protection by handling information and data of
customers and employees with the highest degree of carefulness. We strictly
complied with relevant personal privacy regulations adopted in places of
business such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (8l A & ¥} (FAFZ) 15 451)
of Hong Kong during the reporting year.

A privacy policy is attached to our services to let customers understand
how we collect, utilise, save and share their information, as well as how
the information is controlled, updated and protected. Specifically, we have
established a comprehensive database encryption system with regular
checking, both manually and automatically, to protect customer data. To
access customers’ personal data, employees are required to get approval from
several parties including the legal department and their department heads. Our
employees are also liable to not divulging confidential information of the group
to any third parties.

For employees’ personal information, we also spare no effort on the prevention
of data leakage. Information of all employees, including the resigned ones
and the candidates, is used for recruitment purpose only and is absolutely
confidential. Such data will not be kept for a period longer than that required by
relevant regulations.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Intellectual Property Rights

To prevent infringement of intellectual property rights of the group, our
customers, suppliers and any other business partners, we strictly conformed
to the relevant laws and regulations such as the Patent law of the People’s
Republic of China (F#E ARHEFEIEFX)and the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FR#E A B 1 12 %) during the reporting year.

Our specialised talents are proficient in research and invention, particularly in
the aspect of software development. During the reporting year, the group has
successfully obtained patents for 45 self-developed systems, such as remote
control app and total quality management system. To effectively apply for
and protect the invention patent and software copyright, we have established
and implemented a policy on intellectual property right protection. Besides,
protective clauses which have been reviewed and approved by our professional
lawyers are included in the contracts signed with customers, suppliers
and employees in order to give legitimacy to our intellectual property right
protection.

In case of advertisement, we are also devoted to preventing the infringement
of intellectual property rights, either by others or by the group, through the
conformity with relevant laws such as the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China (F#E A 1 EE &%) during the reporting year.

Anti-corruption

Corruption could be a source of risk that weakens a business’s stability and
hampers its development. We on no account allow any actions and behavior to
blemish the image of the group. Thus, we are committed to ensuring that every
department meets its legal obligations, at the same time joins hands to prevent,
detect and eliminate corrupt practices, hence reducing the number of bribery
and corruption incidents.

We do not tolerate any attempt to commit corrupt practices by employees,
contractors, agents and business partners and take any such attempts
seriously. We communicate internal rules, laws and regulations to employees
through meetings and other usual communication channels in an effort to
emphasise the importance of integrity, honesty and fairness and to prevent
potential bribery, extortion, fraud as well as money laundering. All management
and staff are highly encouraged to report cases of suspected corruption,
either to their supervisors or other managers. Suspected corruption cases will
be properly investigated and associated actions, such as disciplinary action,
reporting to relevant authorities and prosecution, will be taken. Any breach of
the anti-corruption policy is deemed to have committed a major misconduct
and is meted out to a disciplinary action.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Anti-corruption (continued)

During the reporting year, we did not provide any training related to anti-
corruption and were not aware of any breach of laws and regulations in relation
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, such as the Regulations of
the People’s Republic of China for Suppression of Corruption (Fr#E A R £ F1E

A B 5 1%4) and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (B LE B8 B& 1% 1)) of Hong

Kong, that had a significant impact on the group.
PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT

Pollution Management

As environmental issues are drawing increasing attention among the business
community, we are dedicated to mitigating negative environmental impacts,
such as climate change, by controlling and minimising our emission. We bear
the environmentally friendly concept in mind in our daily operation and business
development.

Owing to the service-based business, we generate no water pollutants
commonly discharged from manufacturing processes. Likewise, we do not emit
air pollutants except for the private car used for maintaining our daily operation.
As a way to reduce emission, we require all the users of the vehicle to switch
off the idling engine to avoid unnecessary emission.

BE_T-TH BE_ZT—NF
+=ZB=+—H +ZA=+—H
IEEFE IFEE

For the For the

year ended year ended

31st Dec 2020 31st Dec 2019

FAEYI(NOY (F52)
REAEYI(SOY (F72)
FERI(PM) (F52)

Hizt -

1. 75 R HE R B X PR T B B0 B B — MR IGRA SR A IS
REWEEIEE

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (kg) 1.84 2.63
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kg) 0.06 0.08
Particulate matter (PM) (kg) 0.14 0.19
Notes:
1. The calculation of pollutant emissions is based on Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance

on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Pollution Management (continued)

Another principal source of emissions is the dumping of waste generated from
the operation of our office. During the reporting year, we were in compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the group
such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (% A\ B XM EE RS EE Y75 L IRIE
Bh3&5%) . Both hazardous and non-hazardous wastes were generated during
the reporting year, of which the former included waste batteries and the latter
consisted of mainly daily office garbage produced by employees. To avoid
detrimental impacts on the environment, non-hazardous wastes generated by
the office were collected by the cleaning company employed by the commercial
building where the office is located at, while the hazardous wastes were
collected separately at specific points in the building before collecting by the
designated party.

BE_ZT-EF Eﬁz?:@—ﬂﬁ
+=ZHA=+—H +ZB=+—
ILEFE thEE
For the For the
Waste Disposal year ended year ended

BEMEREIER Indicators 31st Dec 2020 31st Dec 2019
BEEEDESE (R) Total hazardous waste (g) 920 2,120
BHEEEZENESERE (R) Hazardous waste discarded
per employee (g) 8.29 17.67

BEEEYEE (TR)! Total non-hazardous waste (kg)' 11,880 17,280
BHEEEZENEZEES Non-hazardous waste discarded

(F=) per employee (kg) 107.0 144.0
izt Notes:
1. HREBEEVEANEREEEN R THETEEREM 1. Emissions data relating to non-hazardous waste is based on the daily estimated
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volume of office garbage and the volume to weight conversion factors provided by
Shenzhen Urban Management and Comprehensive Law Enforcement Bureau.

We have carried out a number of measures by following the principle of 4R
to minimise the amount of waste we generated. For example, we reduced the
use of paper by implementing double-side printing, and we spared no effort
to reuse office supplies such as stationary, papers, envelopes and files. For
recycling, we have set up sorting bins so that staff can sort and recycle plastics
and paper after using, and old computers would be recycled by electronics
companies. We also purchased recyclable and refillable products such as
refillable pens and rechargeable batteries to replace those disposable ones in
our office. During the reporting year, our Shenzhen office did not produce any
packaging materials.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Greenhouse Gas Emission

Despite the fact that we are not involved in energy-intensive businesses,
normal office operation which is indispensable to maintain our remarkable and
professional services is still a source of greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission.
Hence, we exert ourselves to abide by the relevant laws and make our daily
operation more environmentally-friendly. During the reporting year, we were in
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the group, such as the Environment Protection Law of the People’s Republic of

China (% A R HMBIR G REZE) .

BE_T-TH BE_ZT—NF
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IEEFE IFEE

For the For the

GHG Emissions year ended year ended

Indicators’

BE RS E

31st Dec 2020

31st Dec 2019

BERBHREE (CTEEHREEH) Total GHG emissions (tonnes CO2*) 83 180
BLEESRERENEEZ CELELKREEN Total GHG emissions per employee

(tonnes CO2°) 0.75 1.50
EFREREINR (EE) 2 (CRIEREEM Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)?

(tonnes CO2°) 9 14
BERAEREBYR EE2) 3 (ZabiE = M) Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)?

(tonnes CO2°) 51 60
BERAEREBYR EE3) + (ZEbiE =M Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)*

(tonnes CO2°) 23 106
Myt - Notes:
1. AEENAEREESEE_Sk FREEkEtE 1. The group’s GHG inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide.
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For the ease of reading and understanding, the GHG emissions data is presented in
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO:°).The calculation of GHG emissions is based on the
reporting requirements of Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange.

2. Includes direct emissions from the fuel combustion in vehicles. The emission factor
used for calculating carbon emission is provided by the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC.

3. Includes energy indirect emissions resulting from the generation of purchased
electricity. The emission factor used for calculating carbon emission is provided by the
National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC.

4. Includes other indirect emissions that occur outside the group. The disclosed figures
are resulted from paper waste disposal at landfills, water consumption and business
air travel. The emission factor used for calculating paper waste can be found in
Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange, while that for water consumption is provided by Shenzhen Water (Group)
Co., LTD. Emissions data relating to business air travel is based on the International
Civil Aviation Organization Carbon Emissions Calculator.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Greenhouse Gas Emission (continued)

In addition to the use of vehicles, which is a type of direct emission of GHG,
indirect emission from processes such as electricity consumption, water
and sewage treatment, disposal of paper to landfills and business trips
of employees are the main sources of greenhouse gas emission from our
operation.

To put emission management into perspective, we have adopted a number
of measures from paper recycling to energy conservation in an attempt to
reduce our GHG emissions. For example, we pragmatically cut down on
the use of paper by using office automation system to replace paper-based
administration system and using recycled paper and double-sided printing.
Reminders are posted at printing corners to remind employees to reuse and
maximise the use of papers whenever possible. Employees who are engaged
actively in overseas meetings are encouraged to substitute phone or video
conferences for business trips, although business travels have become less
frequent in the reporting year due to COVID-19. Generally, we endeavor to
build a green and healthy environment together with all our employees, thus we
encourage the use of public transport instead of private cars in their commute
to work. For details of energy conservation, please refer to “Energy and Water
Conservation”.

Energy and Water Conservation

To make contributions to environmental protection, the group endeavors to
conserve energy and water usage so as to reduce emission. We are always
aware of the possible impacts resulted from the overuse of energy and water,
thus we strictly manage energy and water consumption in our operation,
particularly in the office.

BE_ZT-2HF BE_T-NEF
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ILEFE ILEE

For the For the

Energy and water year ended year ended

BEIR R K SHFEIS 1R

consumption Indicators

31st Dec 2020

31st Dec 2019

ERHAERE CERE)
BEREEREFE ORRE)
3 #2 AE UM #82 K RLB)
BHESERHEES KR

KEBHFERE (LK)
SHEEKERHEMRE (LK)

Total energy consumption (MWh) 135 169
Direct energy consumption’(MWh) 38 55
Indirect energy consumption?(MWh) 96 114
Total energy consumption

per employee (MWh) 1.21 1.41
Total water consumption (m?3) 123 128
Total water consumption

per employee (m?9) 1.11 1.07
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Energy and Water Conservation (continued)

Notes:

1. Includes the use of fuel of vehicles. The conversion factor used for calculating energy
consumption is provided by the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC.

2. Includes the amount of purchased electricity.

In daily operation, we always bear in mind the avoidance of energy waste. We
set all computers to sleeping mode when idling and require our staff to switch
off appliances such as lights, computers and printers completely when not in
use and before leaving the office every day. We also clean all light fixtures and
air-conditioners in order to ensure that they are running at the highest efficiency
to avoid wasting energy. Besides, through office design, we try to maximise
the use of natural light and divide the office in separate lighting zones so as to
allow a more flexible use of light. Non-frontline employees are also allowed to
wear light so that energy for air conditioning can be saved.

In terms of water saving, we have also put lots of efforts and have implemented
plenty of water-saving measures including putting up water-saving reminder
labels in toilets to raise our employees’ awareness of water-saving and
arranging for repair and maintenance for dripping faucets immediately. In
addition, grey water is reused for cleaning and irrigation wherever possible.
During the reporting year, we had no issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose.

CONTRIBUTING TO COMMUNITY

We encourage employees to care for and spend time on the local communities
through participating in all kinds of social activities such as attending local
community activities and charitable donations. Employees are also encouraged
to participate in environmental protection activities and promote environmental
awareness within the group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements
for the reporting year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the smart office, industrial solution and new retail businesses.

An analysis of the group’s revenue and contribution to operating profit
by reportable segments for the reporting year is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group and an
indication of likely future developments in the group’s business can be found in
the paragraph headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on page
6 to 15 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Our results for the reporting year are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 89.

The directors do not recommend any payments of final dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE,
FUTURE PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT

A fair review of our businesses comprising analysis of the group’s performance
during the reporting year under review using financial key performance
indicators, future prospects and business development of the group,
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the group, are
set out in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report. Saved as disclosed of the completion of the acquisition of the Target
Assets from Hon Hai Group in the Management Discussion and Analysis, there
had been no material events after 31 December 2020 till the issuance of this
annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We have long considered environmental protection and energy conservation as
one of our key priorities in order to enhance the sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The board was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the company during the reporting
year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The company highly values the relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers as they are the foundation of the group’s success.

Employees

The company strictly complies with all the applicable rules and regulations
in relation to employment, to name a few, the Employment Ordinance,
the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, etc. The group has purchased all necessary insurance and made
monthly contributions for its staff and has measures in place endeavoured to
protect all staff’s personal information. There are channels for staff to express
their opinions with regard to their work. Moreover, the group also strives
to provide a safe, healthy and harmonious workplace with fair and equal
opportunities for staff of both gender and different races.

Customers

The group provides direct services and goods to customers and conduct
surveys to interact with them to gain market insights and feedback. For
the reporting year, sales to the five largest customers of the group in total
accounted for approximately 59% of the group’s total revenue, with the
largest customer accounting for approximately 33%. Credit terms offered to
customers ranged from 30 to 90 days. Management makes periodic collective
assessment as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of trade
receivables based on historical payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the trade and other debtors and whether there
are any disputes with the relevant debtors. The group’s historical experience
in collection of trade and other receivables falls within the recorded allowances
and the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible
receivables has been made in these financial statements. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. No significant recoverability problem
is identified subsequent to the reporting year.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS (continued)

Suppliers

The suppliers of the group are either well established companies or from well-
known enterprises to ensure that they are able to deliver goods and services as
requested. The five largest suppliers of the group in aggregate accounted for
approximately 57% by value of the group’s total purchases during the reporting
year, with the largest supplier accounting for approximately 40%. Furthermore,
anti-bribery policies are in place for all staff to comply.

During the reporting year, save for Hon Hai Group, none of the directors or any
of their close associates or any shareholders which, to the best knowledge of
the directors, own more than 5% of the company’s issued share capital had
any interest in any of the group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 are
set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the group are set
out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the company are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves
during the reporting year are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the company’s reserves are not available for
distribution. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i)
it is, or after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or
(ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of
its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium account.

DONATIONS

The group did not make any donations (31 December 2019: Nil). during the
reporting year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and there
was no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda, which
would oblige the company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the group for
each of the last five financial years/periods until 31 December 2020 is set out
on page 192.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the reporting year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairman)

Mr. CAl Liting (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. KAO Chao Yang

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. PARK Ho Jin'

Mr. JEON Eui Jong?

Mr. TSE Tik Yang Denis®

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan*

Mr. CHEN Timothy®

! appointed on 31 March 2021

2 resigned on 31 March 2021

8 resigned on 7 December 2020
4 appointed on 31 March 2020
5 resigned on 31 March 2020

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mr. KAO Chao Yang and Mr. CHENG Yee Pun will retire by
rotation in accordance with Article 99 of the Bye-laws and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. PARK Ho Jin will retire
in accordance with Article 91 of the Bye-laws and being eligible, offer himself
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at
the company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the company’s Bye-
laws.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

During the reporting year, there was no change in information of the directors of
pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin, aged 60, was appointed as executive director and Chairman
on 3 November 2015 and 28 March 2018 respectively. Mr. Chien is the general
manager of D Group, a business group within Hon Hai with over US$25 billion
annual revenues, and was a director with Hon Hai. Mr. Chien joined Hon Hai in
1991. He studied at Tamkang University. Mr. Chien was appointed as executive
director of CircuTech International Holdings Limited (previously named TeleEye
Holdings Limited) during the period from 10 June 2016 to 23 October 2017, a
company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock
code: 8051).

Mr. CAIl Liting, aged 46, was appointed as executive director and chief
executive officer on 19 December 2019. Mr. Cai has over 22 years of
experience in the electronic, manufacturing and information technology
industry. Since 2003, Mr. Cai has been employed by Foxconn Technology
Group as the vice president of product engineering & quality and later as the
head of the innovative product business division of D Group, a business group
within Hon Hai. Before joining Foxconn Technology Group, he had been with
Schlumberger Limited from 1997 to 2001. Mr. Cai obtained a Master of Science
in Computer Service from the George Mason University in the United States
of America and a Bachelor of Science in Electronic Engineering from Tsinghua
University in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. KAO Chao Yang, aged 52, was appointed as executive director on
28 March 2018. Mr. Kao has over 20 years of experience in the electronic,
manufacturing and information technology industry. He has been appointed
as the vice-president of the Foxconn Technology Group since 2015. Mr. Kao
currently oversees the Foxconn Global Operations which is both a key
business and strategic division responsible for driving initiatives across several
significant areas of manufacturing, supply chain management (fulfillment
and reverse logistic services). Prior to that, Mr. Kao held various duties
within Foxconn include start-up manufacturing sites, directing supply chain
operations, business account management with global customer presence
and administering information technology initiatives across China, US, Czech
Republic and Mexico. Mr. Kao obtained a Master of Science in Industrial &
Operations Engineering from the University of Michigan in the United States
of America and a Bachelor of Science in Industrial Design from Cheng-Kung
University in Taiwan.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Executive directors (continued)

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun, aged 45, was appointed as executive director on 28
March 2018 and is assuming the role of group chief financial officer. Prior
joining the company in 2016, he was the vice president of New World Strategic
Investment Limited, primarily responsible for private equity and venture
capital investments, M&A transactions and business development initiatives.
Mr. Cheng began his career with an international accounting firm and had
worked for a number of global financial institutions and Hong Kong listed
companies. He obtained his Master of Business Administration and Bachelor of
Commerce (Hons.) from the University of New South Wales and the University
of Melbourne in Australia respectively. Mr. Cheng is a member of CPA Australia
and CFA Institute.

Non-executive director

Mr. PARK Ho Jin, aged 44, was appointed as non-executive director on 31
March 2021. He has been with SK Holdings (C&C) since 2001 and is currently
the head of Strategic Planning Group. He holds a bachelor’'s degree of
Electrical Engineering at Korea University, Seoul, Republic of Korea.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, aged 44, was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Tang has been in financial service
industry for more than 15 years. Before that, Mr. Tang was a director with the
Deloitte & Touche Financial Advisory Services Group where he focused on
private equity and merger and acquisition transactions in the PRC and the
Asia Pacific region. Mr. Tang began his career at the Financial Services Group
at Ernst & Young in Sydney, and subsequently relocated to Hong Kong and
Beijing. Mr. Tang received a Master Degree of Commerce in Advanced Finance
and Bachelor Degree of Commerce from the University of New South Wales in
Australia. He is a Chartered Accountant of the Chartered Accountants Australia
and New Zealand, and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Tang has been an independent non-executive director of
Grown Up Group Investment Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1842) since 27
June 2019.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, aged 60, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Kan is a managing partner and founder of
ON Capital, a private equity firm that specialises in investing in China since
2004. Prior to founding ON Capital, Mr. Kan established i100 Corporation in
1999, a start-up incubator that went on to list on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He had also served as chief operating officer of CDC
Corporation (renamed to China.com later), founder of PointCast Asia, and had
established Sina.com in Hong Kong. Mr. Kan spent the earlier years of his
career successively at Apple Computer, Compag Computer, and established
Microsoft in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Kan graduated in business from Hong
Kong Baptist College and from the Stanford Graduate School of Business’
Executive Program for Smaller Companies.

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan, aged 47, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 31 March 2020. Prof. Zhang is currently a professor of Department
of Decision Sciences and Managerial Economics at The Chinese University
of Hong Kong (the “CUHK”) since 2017. Before he joined the CUHK, he
was an associate professor of Department of Information Systems, Business
Statistics & Operations Management at The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology Business School from 2006. Before joining the academia,
he worked as an analyst for an investment bank, and as an international
marketing manager for a high-tech company. He holds a patent in the United
States, and co-founded several companies in the areas of social networking,
FinTech, and LegalTech. Prof. Zhang holds a Doctor of Philosophy degree in
Management from MIT Sloan School of Management in the United States, a
Master of Science degree in Management, a Bachelor of Engineering degree
in Computer Science and a Bachelor of Arts degree in English from Tsinghua
University in the People’s Republic of China. He has been an independent
director for NASDAQ-listed e-commerce company Secoo Holding Limited
(NASDAQ: SECO) since September 2017. He also offered advice to Hong Kong
Cyberport Management Company Ltd., Jingdong Finance, Hupan University,
Huawei Investment & Holding Co., Ltd., China Mobile Limited, China Merchants
Securities Co. Ltd., Douban.com, and Radica Systems Limited.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the reporting year, the company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive and non-executive directors have not entered into any service
contracts and do not have a fixed term of service with the company. However,
all directors are subject to re-election by rotation at least once every three
years in accordance with the Bye-laws. Each of the independent non-executive
directors has entered into an appointment letter with the company for one year
and is renewable automatically for successive term of one year. None of the
directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the company which cannot be terminated
by the company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance in relation to the
group’s business to which the company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the reporting year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As far as the directors are aware, none of the directors or their respective
associates has any interest in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the reporting year. The company has
maintained directors and officers’ liability insurance which provides appropriate
cover for, among others, the directors.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as the disclosure in the Continuing Connected Transactions and
Acquisition of Target Assets from Hon Hai Group by Personify Inc., as far
as the directors are aware, at no time during the reporting year had the
company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or any contract of
significance for the provision of services by the controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries to the company or any of its subsidiaries.

64 EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



EXEHREE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EERESITHAEBREAEHIE
I B Bk A B Z B 1) ~ MR 7 R (&
LSRR

RIZEZEEF+_R=+—H AATEREFERR
SITBRAEBERRARRAEAEEEZE (EERES
KEE R (TS5 R EEG) EXVER) Z &7 48
B kEREFERSREBEES M EHEMAEXVE
BIRENBANMEARB Rz EER %A (8
BRBEESFAPERA ZZER R EFIRSE
Bzmk®r)  HAXHENREISRBERSG
BI2MFFAMERAT AR EEF 2B LM Em &k
B RRBLETRNZ EHETAEFTETESLS
WRETRAME R QB K B 2P 2 K XA Ul
T

REATEREEI10BTZRHFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the then directors
and chief executives of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which
were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register kept by the company, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in
the Listing Rules, to be notified to the company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:

Long position in the company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

[EUN: -

Personal

BBAER

Associate

A
Total
interests

B

interests interests Percentage

BEMWTE
Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin

B0 B 3, ST A
Mr. CHENG Yee Pun

=2
1. AR R B A B WS A Y2 FKan, Sachikoz 1A °

2. BB 5T L A /A F)800,00017 F Azt B M o

PBREXPRIIREESN REEMA NS _TF+
B=+—H ' xREEREFARSTHRAEMER
ERBIREEEER (EERBHFRPEHEMEXY
) 2RO ERRDUEREFEARNRSEANR
BRESRAEHRAEXVEETRESDBENEER
BBz ERRZINE (BEREBESRNE
BRI ZZEHRNREREFNER/ER 2 w3k
B) ; RNRFBEB SR EFG 36217 AL B b Z 1%
Ptz B 2 AR mEaEk e ; iR EHRA
el LR ETAESETES TS NRETR AN
RN R 2 AR AR A

2.81%

18,430,738 18,430,738
(Frzt1)
(note 1)

800,000 - 800,000

(Hizt2)

(note 2)

0.12%

Notes:
1. The interest was held by Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin’s spouse, Ms. Kan, Sachiko.

2. Mr. Cheng is interested in 800,000 share options of the company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the directors are aware, as at 31 December
2020, none of the then directors nor the chief executive of the company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to
the company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) were required to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) approved by a resolution passed by the shareholders of the
company on 30 August 2013, under which it may grant options to eligible
participants (as defined in the share option scheme rules) to subscribe for
shares in the company. Eligible participants refer to any full time or part time
employees of the group or any entity in which the group holds an equity
interest (“Invested Entity”) (including any directors, whether executive or non-
executive and whether independent or not, of the company or any subsidiary
or any Invested Entity); any holder of any securities issued by the group; and
any business or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees
(including any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any
sub-tenants) of the group or any Invested Entity or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the board, has contributed or may contribute to the group or any
Invested Entity.

A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set out as
below:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the company to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution or potential contribution to the group or any Invested
Entity. The company considers that the Invested Entity, an entity in
which the group holds an equity interest, may contribute to the group’s
profits. The company also considers that the granting of the options to
the employee, director, officer or consultant of the Invested Entity would
provide an incentive for their contribution to the Invested Entity which
indirectly benefits the group.

2. Administration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the
board whose decision on all matters arising in relation to the Share
Option Scheme or its interpretation or effect shall (save as otherwise
provided herein and in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding
on all persons who may be affected thereby.
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Grant and acceptance of options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the board may, in its
absolute discretion, invite any eligible participant to take up options to
subscribe for shares at a price calculated in accordance with paragraph
(4) below.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be made to eligible participants in
writing (and unless so made shall be invalid) in such form as the board
may from time to time determine and shall remain open for acceptance
by the eligible participant concerned for a period of twenty-one (21)
days from the date upon which it is made provided that no such offer
shall be open for acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary
of the Adoption Date or the termination of the Share Option Scheme or
the eligible participant to whom such offer is made has ceased to be an
eligible participant.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of an option. An option shall be deemed to
have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of
the option duly signed by the eligible participant together with the said
consideration of HK$1.00 is received by the company.

Any offer of the grant of an option may be accepted in respect of less
than the number of shares in respect of which it is offered provided that
it is accepted in such number of shares as represents a board lot for
the time being for the purpose of trading on the Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

4.

Exercise of options and price of shares

An option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee giving
notice in writing to the company stating that the option is thereby
exercised and the number of shares in respect of which it is exercised.
Each such notice must be accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the subscription price for the shares in respect of which the
notice is given. Within twenty-one (21) days after receipt of the notice
and the remittance and, where appropriate, receipt of the certificate of
the company’s auditors or independent financial advisers, the company
shall allot and issue the relevant shares to the grantee (or his legal
personal representative(s)) credited as fully paid.

Holders of the options are not entitled to voting, dividend, transfer and
other rights of the holders of the shares, including those arising on a
liquidation of the company, save as otherwise provided herein or under
the relevant laws or the memorandum of association of the company and
the Bye-laws in effect from time to time. Shares to be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of an option will be subject to all the provisions of the
Byelaws for the time being in force and will rank pari passu in all respects
with the existing fully paid shares in issue on the date on which the
option is duly exercised or, if that date falls on a day when the register of
members of the company is closed, the first day of the re-opening of the
register of members (the “Exercise Date”) and accordingly will entitle the
holders thereof to participate in all dividends or other distributions paid
or made on or after the Exercise Date other than any dividend or other
distribution previously declared or recommended or resolved to be paid
or made if the record date therefor shall be before the Exercise Date. A
share allotted upon the exercise of an option shall not carry voting rights
until the name of the grantee has been duly entered onto the register of
members of the company as the holder thereof.

The exercise price for options under the Share Option Scheme may
be determined by the board at its absolute discretion but in any event
will not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares
on the Stock Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as shown in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five (5) business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iiij the nominal value of the
share on the offer date.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

5.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

(i)

(if)

(if)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the overall limit on the number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the company must
not exceed 30 per cent. of the relevant class of shares in issue
from time to time. No options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the company
if this will result in this limit being exceeded.

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme shall not,
when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share option
schemes of the company involving the issue or grant of option
over shares by the company to, or for the benefit of the eligible
participants, exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
the approval of the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”), unless shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant
to sub-paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the scheme mandate limit.

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)() above, the company
may refresh the scheme mandate limit at any time subject to
approval of the shareholders in general meeting, provided that the
scheme mandate limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing the relevant resolution
(i.e. 39,423,944 shares). Options previously granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in
accordance with such schemes or exercised options) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating this limit. The company must
send a circular to the shareholders containing such information as
required under the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

5.

Maximum number of shares available for issue (continued)

(iv)  Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the company may
also seek separate approval of the shareholders in general meeting
for granting options beyond the scheme mandate limit provided
that the options in excess of the scheme mandate limit are granted
only to eligible participants specifically identified by the company
before such approval is sought. The company must send a
circular to the shareholders containing a generic description of the
specified eligible participants, the number and terms of options to
be granted, the purpose of granting options to the specified eligible
participants with an explanation as to how the terms of the options
serve such purpose and such other information as required under
the Listing Rules.

(v) As at the date of this annual report, the total number of options
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 25,043,944
representing 3.57% of the total issued shares at the date of this
annual report.

Grant of options to connected persons or any of their
associates

Any grant of option to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the company, or any of
their respective associates, under the Share Option Scheme must be
approved by the independent non-executive directors (excluding an
independent non-executive director who is the proposed grantee of the
option). Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the company or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates, would result in
the shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted or to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1 per cent of the relevant class of
shares in issue; and

(o)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of options must be approved by shareholders of
the company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

6.

Grant of options to connected persons or any of their
associates (continued)

A circular must be prepared by the company explaining the proposed
grant, disclosing (i) the number and terms of the options to be granted,
(i) containing a recommendation from the independent non-executive
directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is a
grantee) on whether or not to vote in favour of the proposed grant, (iii)
containing information relating to any directors who are trustees of the
scheme or have a direct or indirect interest in the trustees, and (iv) the
information required under Rule 2.17 of the Listing Rules.

Any change in the terms of options granted to a connected person or its
associates must be approved by shareholders in a general meeting.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each eligible participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month period up
to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Where
it is proposed that any offer is to be made to an eligible participant (or
where approximate, an existing grantee) which would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the twelve (12) month period up to and including the relevant
date of grant to exceed such limit, such offer and any acceptance thereof
must be conditional upon shareholders’ approval in general meeting with
such an eligible participant (or where appropriate, an existing grantee)
and his, her or its associates abstaining from voting. The company
must send a circular to the shareholders disclosing the identity of the
eligible participant or grantee, the number and terms of options to be
granted (and options previously granted) to such an eligible participant,
the information required under the Listing Rules. The number and terms
(including the subscription price) of options to be granted to such an
eligible participant must be fixed before the date on which shareholders’
approval is sought and the date of the board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

8.

10.

Time of Exercise of options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to be
determined and notified by the directors to the grantee thereof at the
time of making an offer provided that such period shall not exceed
the period of 10 years from the date of grant of the particular option
but subject to the provisions for early termination but subject to early
termination of the Share Option Scheme.

There is no specific minimum period under the Share Option Scheme for
which an option must be held or the performance target which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
become unconditional, after which no further options will be issued, and
thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any unexercised options
granted pursuant thereto and in order to give effect to the exercise of
any such options or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

The life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force until 29 August 2023,
subject to approval by shareholders to adopt the Share Option Scheme
at the AGM.

For detailed movements of the share options under the Share Option
Scheme during the reporting year, please refer to Note 26 of the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the company were entered into or
existed during the reporting year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” as disclosed
above, at no time during the reporting year was the company and any of its
subsidiaries of the company and its associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors or chief executive or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the company or any other body corporate. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, none of the directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares
or debentures of the company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such
right during the reporting year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES

At no time during the reporting year was the company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the company or any
other body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. 2015 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

On 23 December 2015, the company entered into four Framework
Agreements (each a “2015 Framework Agreement” and collectively, the
“2015 Framework Agreements”) with Hon Hai. Notwithstanding that
Hon Hai was not a connected person of the company under the Listing
Rules at that time, the company voluntarily complied with the reporting,
announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements for
the transactions contemplated under the 2015 Framework Agreements
as if Hon Hai is a connected person of the company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The 2015 Framework Agreements consist of
(1) the L.T. System Operation and Maintenance Framework Agreement,
(2) the Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project Framework Agreement, (3)
the Procurement Framework Agreement and (4) the Sales Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the Framework Agreements, the group agreed
to (i) provide I.T. support and maintenances services to Hon Hai Group;
(ii) provide build-own-operate and I.T. project services to Hon Hai
Group; (iii) purchase enterprise-level products including but not limited
to communication software, servers and related hardware equipment
from Hon Hai Group to be used primarily for the provision of various I.T.
services; and (iv) sell ancillary I.T. products to Hon Hai Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

2.

2017 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

As the term of each of the 2015 Framework Agreements expired on
31 March 2018 and following the change of financial year end date
from 31 March to 31 December, the company had on 22 September
2017 entered into the new framework agreements (2017 Framework
Agreements”) to renew the continuing connected transactions as
contemplated under each of the 2015 Framework Agreements for a term
of three financial years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

The annual caps of the 2017 Framework Agreements for the financial
years from 31 December 2018 to 31 December 2020 were as follows:

BX-%A
BRI RR —E¥R
EEREE BEARRER
I.T. System Build-Own-
Operation and Operate and RE HE
Maintenance I.T. Project Procurement Sales
Er #Er #r o
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
—E—-N\F 2018 103,479,918 322,088,370 165,302,704 20,262,617
“E-NF 2019 134,523,893 431,714,882 214,893,516 26,341,402
—ETEF 2020 174,881,061 561,229,346 279,361,570 34,243,822
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(continued)

2. 2017 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the group’s
continuing connected transactions with Hon Hai Group during the
reporting year are set out in the table below. All the actual transaction
amount of the group’s continuing connected transaction did not exceed
the respective annual caps.

ZEZEHE
ERRZEHE
=Sl <3:- 3 Actual
FE LR Transaction
Annual Caps Amount
for 2020 for 2020
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000

MEEER With Hon Hai Group
BB AR ES R MEE I.T. System Operation and Maintenance 174,881 52,016
BX-HAE-EEREMBEIER Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project 561,229 177,487
R Procurement 279,362 25,743
& Sales 34,244 6,184

MMARBNR _E—EF+—AZ+N\B T
NEBRFKE -t FERBEE N RE
THXZIAENBSERRGERALKREE
EFERBAZE0%ZEME (HEH)) BEZ
ETREF+ A=+ —HLEFE BEEHEE
HE R AEABUA Z40% AL > FHFIHR ZF
TEFEREFECETHR S

BUFATEFEERRER REAREFE
PRETZ2BHERERZEBNNAERR
BR—MEBRRED (VR —RBAEFERAE
ERET ; RNVEBEEBREREET B
HERABATEE AN GEFRABREZE
BER)E o UbSh > R IR L RBIE14A.661% > &2
AZBMEOEFERHEEREERRMG B
PHENRSIEARSEFELECFERERS
ZHEB KRG - A RB E @B PARZ %A
R B o

As disclosed in the circular issued by the company on 28 November
2017, the transactions as contemplated under the 2017 Framework
Agreements are also subject to the condition that the revenue attributable
to Hon Hai Group will be less than 60% of the group’s annual total
revenue (the “Condition”). For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
actual revenue attributable from Hon Hai Group represented 40% of the
total revenue. Thus we comply with the Condition for the reporting year
of 2020.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed and confirmed
that all the continuing connected transactions taken place during the
reporting year were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the same on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the company’s shareholders as
a whole. Moreover, the company’s auditor has provided an unqualified
letter to the board containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting
year in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the company to the Stock
Exchange.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

3.

2020 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

As the term of each of the 2017 Framework Agreements expired on 31
December 2020, the company had on 7 December 2020 entered into the
new framework agreements (“2020 Framework Agreements”) to renew
the continuing connected transactions as contemplated under each
of the 2017 Framework Agreements for a term of three financial years
ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023.

The annual caps of the 2020 Framework Agreements for the financial
years from 31 December 2021 to 31 December 2023 are as follows:

BX-%A
BRI RR —E¥R
ERAEE BEARRER
I.T. System Build-Own-
Operation and Operate and RE HE
Maintenance I.T. Project Procurement Sales
AR BT ANERET AR BT ANEET
RMB RMB RMB RMB
—E—F 2021 91,859,453 300,195,192 163,127,028 27,401,761
- 2022 110,231,344 360,234,231 195,752,433 32,882,113
—E-=F 2023 132,277,613 432,281,077 234,902,920 39,458,536

BREEH_Z_SEEEBRBETESZEEL
[RATETZERABENS @22 —F-
TR CFRIZEI=F+ZR=+—HIE=
B BRFE EEE"?tf’vﬁf’vﬁﬁﬂmTﬁ%Eﬁlﬁ—F
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Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the
proposed annual cap amounts under the 2020 Framework Agreements,

as one or more of the applicable percentage ratios of the proposed
annual caps of the 2020 Framework Agreements for the three financial
years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 for the transactions
contemplated under the 2020 Framework Agreements are expected to be
higher than 5% and more than HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the
transactions contemplated under the 2020 Framework Agreements are
subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As a result, a special general meeting was convened on 15
January 2021 where the Independent Shareholders approved all the
2020 Framework Agreements.
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ACQUISITION OF TARGET ASSETS FROM HON
HAI GROUP BY PERSONIFY INC

On 24 December 2020, the company, Personify Inc. as the Buyer and Foxconn
(Far East) Limited as the Seller entered into an Acquisition Agreement, pursuant
to which the Buyer has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Seller has
conditionally agreed to sell all of the Seller’s right, title, benefit and interest
in the Target Assets owned by the Seller and currently licensed to the Buyer.
The company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 46,680,000 shares
of the company at HK$0.50 each (the “Consideration Shares”) at a total
consideration of HK$23.34 million (equivalent to approximately RMB19.84
million) to the Seller for transferring the Target Assets to the Buyer. The
consideration was arrived at after arm’s length negotiations between the parties
to the Acquisition Agreement on normal commercial terms with reference to
(i) the future development and application prospects of the Target Assets and
the synergies expected to be created by applying the Target Assets in further
developing new applications and products and new sub-licensing business
model; (ii) operating and financial performances of Personify business in the
first ten months period ended 30 November 2020 as a result of the execution
of the licensing arrangement between the Buyer and the Seller and its
associates; (iii) the preliminary valuation of the Target Assets conducted by an
independent valuer; and (iv) the original arm’s length acquisition cost to the
Seller and its associates.

The Consideration Shares represent (i) 7.13% of the existing issued share
capital of the company as at the date of signing the Acquisition Agreement;
and (ii) 6.65% of the issued share capital of the company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares at the completion date. The
Consideration Shares are to be issued by the company under the specific
mandate to be granted by the Independent Shareholders to the directors at the
SGM.
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ACQUISITION OF TARGET ASSETS FROM HON
HAI GROUP BY PERSONIFY INC (continueq)

Reasons for the Acquisition

Ever since the outbreak of the COVID-19, substantial changes have been made
to people’s lifestyle as well as workstyle and demand for the video conferencing
related applications have increased dramatically since video conferencing
becomes a part of the new normal following the pandemic induced lockdown
and people are largely required to work from home, and the group also
foresees that in the long run, people and businesses will be more get used to
and adapting to the use of video conferencing and online smart office services
even after the pandemic. In view of the above, the company intends to allocate
more internal resources to the smart office business segment to grasp the
possible business opportunities that arise from the fundamental change to
the society caused by the pandemic. Given the above, the company intends
to continue developing Personify business. However, since the Target Assets
are only being licensed to Personify Inc. by the Seller and its associates,
the directors are concerned that the growth of Personify business might be
hindered in the long run without the ownership of Personify’s patents and
source code etc.. The directors consider the acquisition to be crucial to the
group for its development in the smart office business segment as (i) it may
enable the group to formulate a more comprehensive business development
and marketing strategy by exploring every available business options including,
but not limited to, generate additional licensing fee for granting others to use its
technology by sub-licensing the patents and/or providing access to the source
code or related software development kit that Personify Inc. cannot do so now
under the current licensing agreement with the Seller and its associates; (ii) it
is expected to provide the group with more incentive to deploy resources to
develop new and existing applications and products for Personify business; (iii)
it will be cost-saving in the long run as the group will no longer have to pay the
licence fee for the Target Assets after the acquisition; and (iv) it will eliminate
the uncertainties of the continuity of the current licensing arrangement between
Personify Inc. and the Seller and its associates as there is no guarantee that
the Seller and its associate will renew the existing licensing agreement upon
its expiry of the one year term. Furthermore, the acquisition will be settled by
issuance of the Consideration Shares to the Seller and the directors consider
this to be beneficial to the group as it enables the group to retain more cash to
endure the worsening economic environment due to the pandemic. Overall, the
directors are of the view that the terms of the Acquisition Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder and the whitewash waiver are on normal
commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the company and
its shareholders as a whole.

78 EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



EXEHREE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PERSONIFY INCTa) 5 & B Y2 i B
BREE®

EHRAZEE

ERERARKRESE EHRZEEMEDLER
B5%BHMEN25%  WiREE FHRBIFE 145 5 ULEE
FEERARAZ —HAEAFEBERBAERS R
BinZHE BERFAEESZ2100.00%K#E % IB &
R4£45 BFSK Holdings Limitedz 4942.33% & {45 &
#oFSK Holdings LimitedAA& A ABZTERE > H
#10167,236,5600% & {5 K B iBFDG Fund, L.P. (Al
787 T Asia-10 Acquisition Fund, L.P.)) f#
72,267,562 BN P ERE D DML ARE B
TRR 24925.53%5211.04% © FSK Holdings Limited
FDG Fund, LPAEFEIETENT5%2BREB A F
BIRBILAEN EHRAIETFSK Holdings Limited
ZHMBAOEARE BEMKERERETRETZR
SETRR - RE - BREEIUREMERT B
BiEs THRNEMAAZEE TRAB ZBEEA L

TR Z &R

MEAFETRAEROBEREARE—FITEHAL
MRARAE ZREBL39.38%ENMELI43.42% © A
I BRI A AL  GRIARMEMBEESEA
SN e pfFRI (TURBE<FRI)) RA26IE T 2 & 1E
LHEHFARBEWETARA MBS RE —R1TH
ATHEFERRAEFFHREZZ2BRMDEERE]
B2 HEMBSEHRFIMEEZEEN - LB RIEWR
TR B 6 R 1N EERA B RN R A
GHREFEPERE) BLRERERENAE Hit
EBAAMEE - BAKRE—RTEMATURSHK
BEER/ WEABRARETHEEEEZRE (B
FEEARBRFFSK Holdings Limited ~FDG Fund, L.P.%%
Kan, SachikoZ ) # R R RIS L L& Ik EE
EEKBEABEZ ARERNERE - BAANRRESRE
EIRHREBIRRPRESR RS EHE &2 W EE
WEZIEHZ — o HBEARRREREERE R FE
B R BN EE S ITER R g T

ACQUISITION OF TARGET ASSETS FROM HON
HAI GROUP BY PERSONIFY INC (continueq)

Listing Rules Implications

As one or more of the relevant percentage ratios applicable to the acquisition
exceeds 5% but all of them are less than 25%, the acquisition constitutes
a discloseable and connected transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. As at the date of the Acquisiiton Agreement, Hon Hai holds 100.00%
equity interest in the Seller and Hon Hai indirectly holds approximately 42.33%
attributable equity interest in FSK Holdings Limited, which is a substantial
shareholder of the company and has interests in 167,236,560 shares directly
and 72,267,562 shares indirectly through FDG Fund, L.P. (formerly known
as “Asia-10 Acquisition Fund, L.P.”), representing approximately 25.53%
and 11.04% of the issued share capital of the company respectively. FSK
Holdings Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund, L.P. contributing to
about 75% of its total commitment. Despite Hon Hai does not fall within the
ambit of an associate of FSK Holdings Limited under the Listing Rules, the
company voluntarily complies with the reporting, announcement, circular
and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements for the transactions
contemplated under the Acquisition Agreement as if Hon Hai is a connected
person of the company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Takeovers Code Implications

The issue of the Consideration Shares to the Seller will result in the increase
in shareholding of the Seller and its concert parties in the company from
approximately 39.38% to approximately 43.42%. Accordingly, such an
increase will give rise to an obligation under Rule 26 of the Hong Kong Code
on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Takeovers Code”) for the Seller to make
a mandatory general offer under Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code for all the
shares and other securities issued by the company not already held or agreed
to be acquired by the Seller and its concert parties unless the whitewash
waiver is obtained. An application will be made by the Seller to the SFC for
the whitewash waiver pursuant to Note 1 on dispensations from Rule 26 of
the Takeovers Code. The whitewash waiver will be subject to, among other
things, the approval of the Independent Shareholders at the SGM. The Seller
and parties acting in concert with it and the shareholders who are involved
in or interested in the acquisition and/or the whitewash waiver, including but
not limited to FSK Holdings Limited, FDG Fund, L.P. and Ms. Kan, Sachiko,
will abstain from voting on the resolutions to approve the acquisition and the
whitewash waiver at the SGM. It is one of the conditions of the Acquisition
Agreement that the whitewash waiver be granted by SFC and be approved
by the Independent Shareholders at the SGM. If the whitewash waiver is not
granted by the SFC or not approved by the Independent Shareholders, the
acquisition will not proceed.
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ACQUISITION OF TARGET ASSETS FROM HON
HAI GROUP BY PERSONIFY INC (continueq)

For more details, please refer to the company’s announcement and circular
dated 27 December 2020 and 22 February 2021 respectively.

A SGM was subsequently held on 15 March 2021 and the acquisition was duly
approved by the Independent Shareholders. The whitewash waiver was granted
by SFC. The acquisition was completed and the Consideration Shares were
issued on 22 March 2021.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable
non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules. The directors confirm that the company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2020, to the best knowledge of the directors, the following
parties (other than directors or chief executives of the company), had an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares which are required
to be disclosed to the company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 and
Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the shares.

REMAO T DR

ST VR 4= FEIERZEE S Lt

FELFRiFRR 15 & B Approximate

Number or percentage or

attributable EEE attributable

RERER 4B number of Nature of percentage of

Name of Shareholder shares held interests shareholding

FSK Holdings Limited 239,504,122 Bm 36.57%
Beneficial

FDG Fund, L.P. 72,267,562 g 11.04%
Beneficial
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)
Note:

To the best knowledge of the directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, Hon Hai
indirectly holds more than 40% attributable equity interests in FSK Holdings Limited. FSK
Holdings Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund L.P. contributing to about 75% of its
total commitment. The 239,504,122 shares interested by FSK Holdings Limited include the
72,267,562 shares held by FDG Fund, L.P.

General partner of FDG Fund, L.P. is FDG Fund GP Limited (formerly known as “Asia-10
Acquisition GP Limited”) which, in turn, is controlled by Mr. TSE Tik Yang, Denis, a former
non-executive director who resigned on 7 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, the company has not been notified of any other
interest representing 5% or more of the share and recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the company and within the
knowledge of the directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this annual report, the company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the reporting year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE,
INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the company’s corporate governance practices, independence of
independent non-executive directors and the Audit Committee are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 36.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
group for the reporting year with the management, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the group and discussed risk management and
internal controls and financial reporting matters related to the preparation of the
annual results for the reporting year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the company nor its subsidiaries had sold and redeemed any of the
company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
1,748,000 shares).
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TAX RELIEF

The company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares. Intending holders
and investors of the company’s shares are recommended to consult their
professional advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications
(including tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or
dealing in shares. It is emphasised that neither the company nor its directors
or officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities
of, holders of shares in the company resulting from their subscription for,
purchase, holding, disposal of or dealing in such shares.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the board
CHIEN Yi-Pin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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To the Shareholders of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to
191, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a

summary of significant accounting policies.
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of

Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the loss allowance for trade
and lease receivables.

Loss allowance for trade and lease receivables
Refer to Note 3.1(b) and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had gross trade and lease receivables
of approximately RMB264,000,000, for which a provision for impairment of
approximately RMB62,000,000 was recognised.

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure lifetime
expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance for all trade and lease receivables.

Management estimated the loss allowance by grouping together debtors with
similar risk characteristics for collective assessment. The estimated ECL rates
were based on historical credit loss rates for different groups and adjusted to
reflect the current and multiple forward-looking information on macro-economic
factors that are considered relevant to determine the ability of customers to
settle the receivables in the future. In assessing the sufficiency of the ECL
estimation, management considered factors including the settlement pattern,
credit profile and on-going trading relationships with the customers.

For trade and lease receivables relating to accounts which are long overdue
with known liquidity issue or non-response to collection activities, they are
assessed individually for loss allowance.

We focused on auditing the impairment of trade and lease receivables because
the estimation of ECL is subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty
and inherent risk of subjectivity. It involved significant level of management
judgement on the selection of internal and external data from various sources
that were considered to be appropriate in their circumstances to establish the
historical credit loss experience and to adjust this experience for expected
future changes.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We have performed the following procedures to address this key audit matter:

- We obtained an understanding of the management’s internal control
and assessment process of the ECL of trade and lease receivables
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved in
determining the assumptions to be applied.

- We evaluated and tested the management’s key controls relating to
management assessment performed on the ECL of trade and lease
receivables, including aging analysis review and regular assessment
performed on collectability of the receivable balances.

- We evaluated the outcome of prior year’s assessment of ECL to assess
the effectiveness of management’s estimation process and assessed
whether it has been consistently applied in current year.

- We assessed the appropriateness of the expected loss provisioning
methodology of the Group, the key assumptions adopted and the
reliability of the historical data used to the model in determining expected
credit losses.

- We understood the past repayment history and the collectability of
all long overdue balances through discussion with management. We
corroborated management’s assessment against available evidence,
including searching customers’ background; reviewing their historical
transactions enacted with the Group and the respective collection pattern
and plan, etc.

- We tested the payment profiles of sales and aging of trade and lease
receivables used in the calculation of loss allowance, on a sample basis,
to invoices, bank advices and other relevant documents.

- We assessed the reasonableness of the use of forward looking
information by management by cross checking the inputs of assumptions
(e.g. unemployment rates and gross domestic product) to the relevant
external data sources or public available information.

- We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to impairment of
trade and lease receivables in the context of the HKFRS 9.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that management’s

judgements and assumptions applied in relation to the loss allowance of trade
and lease receivables were supportable by evidence obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 3§ 87



BB S

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’ S REPORT

Z KM B 51 & B iR R AR

=Rl

. FECHYBRENERIHRSN-EBNR
2 BRERE URGHMBERERERESTERIR
BERRZMEE-

. B OEEENERAEBETINYHEEER
R BENBH R UWEHAHY BRI
KER-HMEE B£EBFNAM HEN
HIT-RPIRBESHERAKEEBEE-

FREMEES RAREZZEGEE 7 H80F
BE FEZH EXEHERS @ERMES
FR R 1) H PO BB I A (F ] B K ERPE ©

HMEREZZEEREH RARMETSAH
BYMNEREXBEEER TEMMBBRAENES
EMEERAETERMBUIMNMAEMANEMSE
B UREBRANBERTALHGREBIMELERE
BYTT BN SERENBI B SB 45 1

NREZZEGBEBENEFED HMEEMESEY
FHBEHMBRENEFTRAER  AMBEE
FEFH - RAMERYMREPHABESE IR3F
ERERTAFAMARBELERE A EMKERY
BRT URGERPARMBSTBEBREREN
NEmERBEELENRARM G  HIURETEER
HRBBZER

PARBIZBMBENESEEGBARBEME
Lt

BERMKEG T ENEHFR
HEDE

E% “F-—F=A=+—H

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lai Pui Ling, Sandra.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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SHFAER

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
HEZZ-ZE+ZHA=1+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

—EZEHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
btat ARHEFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue 5 523,417 430,995
iH & A Cost of sales 7 (429,153) (353,790)
EH] Gross profit 94,264 77,205
Hau A Other income 6 4,755 3,743
Hth (5548) U # > 7358 Other (losses)/gains, net 6 (3,419) 584
THEERBRH Loss allowance for financial assets 20(b) (3,492) (1,429)
HERKIHASR Selling and distribution expenses 7 (11,458) (11,278)
—MRRITHAESR General and administrative expenses 7 (48,833) (50,471)
IREERsE Research and development expenses 7 (10,953) (4,557)
mEER Operating profit 20,864 13,797
REWA—F28 Finance income — net 9 1,516 1,384
DME—REEErER Share of results of a joint venture and an associate
—EHE AT S 16 ) (353)
BRER1S M AT EF) Profit before income tax 22,376 14,828
FriSiRf Income tax expense 10 (7,742) (3,253)
FEGHM Profit for the year 14,634 11,575
—ECEHE —ZT-hF
2020 2019
A BBl A& Bl
RMB cents RMB cents
EAREBEESFHREA Earnings per share for profit attributable to
EiLENzEREH ordinary equity holders of the Company
BREREF Basic earnings per share 12 2.23 1.77
SREERF) Diluted earnings per share 12 2.23 1.77
T EHFEREERPEM M —HEE- The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the

accompany notes.
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EHEERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COVMIPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE_Z_ZF+__A=1+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

—EZEHE —Z—hF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEHHM Profit for the year 14,634 11,575
Hihiz & (B538) W : Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
O FEEM T E Bm z HH Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss
SMNEIE A5 Currency translation differences (3,413) 2,955
FEHMES (BR) kE Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (3,413) 2,955
FEEEERE Total comprehensive income for the year 11,221 14,530
& BHR S U R 2R FE A B BB B B 5 — F B RE © The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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EHEERER

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

RZZZFHF+A=+—H
As at 31 December 2020

=Sl <3:- —E-NF
2020 2019
btat AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B5E ASSETS
EREEE Non-current assets
EEE Intangible assets 13 1,262 2,090
Mz KSR RRE Property, plant and equipment 14 14,474 12,011
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 31,818 41,646
R—RE#EA AT & Investments in an associate and a joint venture 16
—HEErEZRSE - -
BAFEFAERZESHEE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17 16,318 17,529
SEREERWIEE Trade and lease receivables 20 20,557 28,353
BENREREEERS Prepayments and rental deposits 21 199 373
f%'_?fﬁ_?iﬁ:é_% __________ Total non-current assets 84,628 102,002
REBEE Current assets
=78 Inventories 18 23,181 30,728
BNEE Contract assets 19 528 1,523
SERAERWIEE Trade and lease receivables 20 181,443 198,001
FEMHIE RS REMEWRIE  Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 21 34,212 11,388
RERREEBY Cash and cash equivalents 22 212,436 183,786
ég{ﬁi@j}%% ________ Total current assets 451,800 425,426
mEE Total assets 536,428 527,428
¥ EQUITY
AT ABERERFE Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company
fig A& Share capital 25 64,479 64,479
egbamiaki| Share premium 25 187,511 187,511
] Reserves 27 102,803 91,195
R Total equity 354,793 343,185
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aHEERRR

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
RZZEZFHF+ZA=+—H
As at 31 December 2020

ZEZTHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
ik ARBFT ANEBFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
=i LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
HEEeE Lease liabilities 15 17,108 28,389
f@?fﬁ_iﬁ%z_é ______ Total non-current liabilities 17,108 28,389
REAaE Current liabilities
FEAT & 2 ER1E Trade payables 23 104,617 102,716
s & A R E M ENIE Accruals and other payables 24 28,619 30,220
aHNERE Contract liabilities 19 13,306 5,883
HEESR® Lease liabilities 15 12,277 12,962
FE1TFRIE Tax payables 5,708 4,073
wReEE Total current liabilities 164,527 155,854
mes Total liabilities 181,635 184,243
HEEREE Total equity and liabilities 536,428 527,428

FROFNIBEZAHYBREBEFEEN _S_—5F  The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 191 were approved by

—AE=1+—H#tERREEE- the Board of Directors on 31 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf.
M=K BhHiE
E=1 #HITR
CHIEN Yi-Pin CAI Liting
Chairman CEO
T EHEESBEREER BT —HRIE- The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.
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EHEDREER

CONSOLIDATED STATEVMIENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HEZZ-ZE+ZHA=1+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

b NGiE 2PN
Attributable to owners of the Company

[ BRiniEME & B
Share Share Total
capital premium Reserves equity
ANEEFT ANRBEFT ANBEFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Hizt2s) (Hiz225) (Hiz227)

(Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 27)
WZE-_ZEF—H—HZ4&# Balance at 1 January 2020 64,479 187,511 91,195 343,185

FEkE Comprehensive income:

FEIRT Profit for the year - - 14,634 14,634
Httir & 5548 ¢ Other comprehensive loss:

SNEMEELE Currency translation differences - - (3,413) (3,413)
FEHFEENE Total comprehensive income for the year - - 11,221 11,221
WHEABEBAZEHEA Transaction with owners in their

BEANETZRS capacity as owners:

EEERESE Employee share option schemes

- RERBEE - value of employee services - - 387 387
NEEAEBEAZEHH Total transaction with owners in

BEANETZRRS their capacity as owners - - 387 387
R-ZT-ZH+-H=+—H At 31 December 2020 64,479 187,511 102,803 354,793
RZF—-NF—A—HZ&EER Balance at 1 January 2019 65,111 191,340 72,252 328,703
FEWE . Comprehensive income:

FERF Profit for the year - - 11,575 11,575
Hithiz U - Other comprehensive income:

SNEMEETE Currency translation differences - - 2,955 2,955
FESRKRERE Total comprehensive income for the year - - 14,530 14,530
NEEABEBEAZBHH Transactions with owners in their

BEANETZRS capacity as owners:

EEBREE Employee share option schemes

—EBERBEE - value of employee services - - 1,000 1,000

& 17 BB [B] K 5% 84 Shares repurchased and cancelled

(Hfzt25R%27) (Note 25 and 27) (632) (3,829) 3,413 (1,048)
NEEAEBEAZBHH Total transactions with owners in
_BBEANEGZRRS their capacity as owners (632) (3,829) 4,413 (48)
RZIE—hFE+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2019 64,479 187,511 91,195 343,185

e HEm S B REER MM E—fRE

conjunction with the accompany notes.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
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aHRERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEZZZE+ZA=+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ZEIEHE —Z—hEF
2020 2019
k=3 ANRB¥TFT ANEHETFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
RETFZHERE Cash flows from operating activities
REEBMEB RS Cash generated from operations 28(a) 56,394 86,770
W ERF B Interest received 2,729 3,126
BEIPTISIR M Income tax paid (6,107) (9,348)
KaEgmesz#RE Net cash generated from operating activities 53,016 80,548
KREEBZHAERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEYME -HERKE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (2,008) (3,096)
EERTEE Purchase of intangible assets (166) (2,087)
HEYE B RREFMSIIE  Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment 28(b) 12 148
BERATEFABRZ Purchase of financial assets at fair value
SREE through profit or loss 5,196 (18,272)
HERATHESFABRZ Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
TREEZMERIE fair value through profit or loss - 1,570
H—EEEhETE Contribution to a joint venture (4) -
IREEHAIRITIE Withdrawal of short-term bank deposits - 1,330
BREEBMAZFRE Net cash used in investing activities (7,362) (20,407)
MEFBZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
FBEIRH, Share repurchased - (1,048)
EEHEaBZELAR Repayment of capital and interest element of
I & 265 lease liabilities 28(d) (14,312) (16,774)
HEZRESEMR Refund of rental deposit - 392
MEEBMAZERE Net cash used in financing activities (14,312) (17,430)
ReRAEEEYZ Net increase in cash and
EINEEE cash equivalents 31,342 42,711
REVNZRERRECEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 183,786 140,138
SMEEREEH N IRERIRE Effect of foreign exchange rate change
LB E R on cash and cash equivalents, net (2,692) 937
RERZRERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year 22 212,436 183,786
T EHREREREER BT —HRIE- The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompany notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATENMENTS
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EEEMNERBERAR ((FARIEREF
REBATHEH) R—ANNEZA=HIR
B—NAN—FBERERBENBREZMNK
URERRLBRAB -HEMMER MU S
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM 12, Bermuda° &RAT KM K — A NAHF
MA+HBAEEBHERZMBRABT R E
o

N ZEZEF+ZA=+—HBH AEENEE
XBAHEEARE (EMBE) ERE®,
HEBERUREAHA - TELRTERRRM
AR RS ER BN ERASERERE
I R AE RAAE AR TS ©

BRBIRPEIN LEMBHREUARE TAR
) 2o

EEESHEHSE

MUREEEHPYFRERAEBZEEGTFTER
I T BB ARBAIN WFBREFM2EHRN
FMEEEHERER LESHVBREDS
HESENEBRBEAERARDKREFRBMEMZ
REFEFTA -

21 EEEE

(a) TFEBEEBUBHRELZAREELAE
%6/

FEBZGHMBRERDREME
BRAZEBYBREER (FEM
BREZEN ) REBREKEAGE
622E 2 R EMREL

GENERAL INFORMATION

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda on 3 February 1994 as an exempted company under Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Canon’s
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The shares of the
Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited since 14 April 1994.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group is principally engaged in sales of
information technology (“I.T.”) products and software applications, and the
provision of system and network integration, I.T. solutions development
and implementation, and related maintenance services to office, industrial
and retail customers.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”), unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the Group
consisting of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (‘“HKFRS”) and requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which is carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The area involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or area where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

Amended standards and conceptual framework
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments and
conceptual framework for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2020:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

Definition of material

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a business

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

Revised conceptual framework for
financial reporting
Hedge accounting

The management assessed that the amendments and
conceptual framework listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(d)

New and amendments to standards and interpretations
(collectively “Amendments”) which are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Group

The following Amendments have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2020
and have not been early adopted by the Group:

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19-related rent concessions'

HKSA 39, HKFRS 4,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS
9 and HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

Interest rate benchmark reform —
phase 2?2

Annual improvements
project

Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 - 2020°

HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and
HKAS 37 (Amendments)

Narrow-scope amendments®

AG 5 (revised) Revised accounting guideline 5
merger accounting for
common control combinations®

Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current*

Insurance contracts*

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 17

HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 174

HK Int 5 (2020) Presentation of financial
statements — classification by
the borrower of a term loan
that contains a repayment on
demand clause*

Sale or contribution of assets

between an investor and its
associate or joint venture®

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

5 A date to be determined

The Group will adopt the Amendments when they become
effective. The Group anticipates that the applications of the
above Amendments have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when
necessary to ensure consistency with policies adopted by the
Group.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.
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2 EEGHHRBE @ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
22 AHERIKREZSTHRIE &) 2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)
(b) BERE () (b) Associates (continued)

AEBHREBEARD ZERRZ W Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
REHRERAEERBEE AT its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
B ARIEE REBIREBEET T interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
B BRIEFERSETEEEEE eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
HIRBESR - ZHERTRNERE impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
BFNEGsINREERERIEHE of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
o M RANEBFTIRMBEBR necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
—%o the Group.

BRERFVRNEENREAEDR The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
YR BT 5E2. 8FT 2l BUR = TR E A& o is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy

described in Note 2.8.

(c) BEZH (c) Joint arrangement
AEBCERBEEBVHREENS The Group has applied HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
1EEEZH BEaE2 % Investments in joint arrangements are classified as joint
BENHEAGERLE DEIANE venture. The classification depends on the contractual
REENENRAREFR miIE rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the
BELHNEREEEB - REaEhzE legal structure of the joint arrangement. Investments in
N ERERGETR joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting.
RIEEDZGHE BREYTEMAE Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
W HEBETRABEMUNIER RS are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
AEBRGHEE R RERRMN T recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
BEINEMRS R GEEDSAER or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's
FEMERESEMES WD E share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
BoBWHEKREELENRER investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
RAREREEINR- or receivable from joint venture is recognised as a reduction

in the carrying amount of the investment.

EAREEEHZER AT RNEE Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
NEBEBERIBHERZSRBIE investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
m (BEAMEMEIKRRER including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
BRI F AEEIARE—FTRIEG Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
BoRIENEEERESEHIRE incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
HERE S (IRIE entity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

2.4

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(c) Joint arrangement (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.8.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s functional
currency is Hong Kong dollars while the consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
income statement within “Other (losses)/gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
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All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost amounts, net of their residual values if any, over their
estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements the
lease term as follows:

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing the

proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“Other (losses)/gains, net” in the income statement.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 3§ 103



BHMBRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

104

SEECHHRERE w

2.7

2.8

B EE

PR BB B IS A IR IR T A E R &
CHAMERMEENRABRTER UL
EMADLIBABTERMF RS HEAHE
RmESL  HEIESFMAsHERF AU
B R#H

FERMEENRNE

EBENERNBECFESREESTIA
BETHS NEAFHLRNBERN
SBETAELRRERETERTRE
A - Bt FEMEEESAEMHLIRNIEB
70 oY A BE TS BR T B B AE 8 04 U [0l B A
BETAS RESEREEZREEE
HEPIU RIS 28 2 ZFREITHESD - UKD
TEUBEZRAFENREEM AN E
REEERME ZRSERE - RFTHRE
B BEREEBIEBRESAANRE
BREE ZBRERABRKEEBINE
MEENBEEMLAS (REELEM) IR
ERMA-BEZAENFEREE (&E
BN AR BREHRRINAERE 7T LU
[ElETTIRET °

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software, and are amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that are not subject to depreciation or
amortisation are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as following
measurement categories: (i) those measured subsequently at
fair value through profit or loss; and (i) those to be measured
at amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. Management determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

For assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, gains
and losses will be recorded in profit or loss. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.
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Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in the consolidated income statements
when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL and is not part
of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
and presented net in ‘Other (losses)/gains, net’ in the
period in which it arises.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives, for
example, a convertible bond, are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

KX T A Equity instruments

AEEBHRNTFEHAERESKREE The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
TEREFE - BRRATESTABRZ at fair value. Changes in the fair value of financial assets
EMEBEEZ ATFEEFNRSHAE at FVPL are recognised in Other (losses)/gains, net in the
R EAM (518) W > SFREN R consolidated income statement as applicable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Financial assets (continued)

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with all instruments subjected
to the expected credit loss assessment. The impairment
methodology applied to debt instruments other than financial
assets through profit or loss depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(b)
details how the Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables (excluding other tax
receivables), contract assets and finance leases receivables,
the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1(b) for further details.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

Trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See note
20 for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Trade receivables are presented on the consolidated balance sheet
within trade and lease receivables.

Contracts assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. A contract asset becomes a receivable when the
Group’s right to consideration is unconditional, which is the case
when only the passage of time is required before payment of
the consideration is due. The impairment of contract assets is
measured, presented and disclosed on the same basis set out in
Note 2.9(d).

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held
at call with banks.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly

attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Treasury shares

2.17

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back or a
share-based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is
deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the Company as
treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where
such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period in the countries where the Company
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant
employees. These plans are generally funded through
payments to schemes established by government or
trustee-administered funds. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the Group pays contributions on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefit relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

Hong Kong

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to
participate in a defined contribution scheme as defined in
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group under independently administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both the
Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subjected to a
cap of HK$1,500 per month, with contributions beyond these
amounts being voluntary. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested to the employees.

The PRC

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its
relevant employees in the PRC. The Group and its relevant
employees make monthly contributions to the plans at the
respective statutory rates on the relevant income (comprising
salaries, allowances and bonus). The Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits
beyond its contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits
payable to retired employees.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations (continued)

Taiwan

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension
plan (the “Plan”) under the Labor Pension Act (the “Act”),
covering all regular employees in Taiwan. Under the Plan, the
Group contribute monthly an amount based on 6% of the
employees’ monthly salaries and wages to the employees’
individual pension accounts at the Bureau of Labor
Insurance. The benefits accrued are paid monthly or in lump
sum upon termination of employment. The Group has no
further obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement
benefits beyond its contributions.

All contributions to pension plans are fully and immediately
vested and the Group had no unvested benefits available to
reduce its future contributions.

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities
of bonus plan are expected to be settled within twelve
months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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The Group operates a share-based compensation plan for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participates
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

° including any market performance conditions (for example,
an entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-market performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. When
the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nhominal value) and share premium.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense
within “finance income — net” in the income statement.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income
and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been

met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.
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Sales of goods

The Group engages in sales of I.T products including but not
limited to servers, monitors, projectors, interactive displays,
computer hardwares and softwares, and other Internet-of-
Things (“loT”) products. Sales of goods are recognised when
the control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer, the customer has full
discretion over the channel and price to sell the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs
when the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Accounts receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in other income.

Finance and operating lease income

The revenue recognition for the lease income under finance
and operating leases are stated in Note 2.24.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(d)

I.T. Project

Revenues from I|.T. Project are generated from providing
services for development of tailor-made software, platform
and related hardware in smart manufacturing, smart office
and new retail business. The revenue is recognised based on
the actual service provided to the end of the reporting year
as a proportion of the total services to be provided because
the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.
This is determined based on the actual labour hours spent
relative to the total expected labour hours.

The revenue of rendering of services comprises the
agreed contract amount. Some contracts include multiple
performance obligations, such as the sale of hardware,
consultation services and related installation services. Where
the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where
these are not directly observable, they are estimated
based on expected cost plus margin. If contracts include
the installation of hardware, revenue for the hardware is
recognised at a point in time when the hardware is delivered,
the legal title has passed and the customer has accepted the
hardware.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward
completion are revised if circumstances change. Any
resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or
costs are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision become known
by management.

In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If the services
rendered by the Group exceed the payment, a contract asset
is recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered,
a contract liability is recognised.

If the contract includes an hourly fee, revenue is recognised
in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice.
Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis or according to
agreed payment terms and consideration is payable when
invoiced.
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(e) Maintenance and consulting services

Revenues from maintenance and consulting services are
recognised on a time proportion basis over the period of the
contract or when the relevant services have been rendered,
as appropriate.

(f) Financing components

For contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to customers and payment by
the customers exceeds one year, the transaction prices were
adjusted for the time value of money. For the sales with credit
terms ranging from 30 to 90 days, no element of financing is
deemed present, which is consistent with market practice.

2.24 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group, except for all short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the fixed lease payments.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24

2.25

Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; and

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-
value assets comprise I.T. equipment and small items of office
equipment.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor
is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and
recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as
lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the
balance sheet based on their nature.

Lease income from finance lease recognised as income based
on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the
lessor’s net investment outstanding in respect of the finance lease.
At commencement of the lease term, the lessor should record a
finance lease in the balance sheet as a receivable, at an amount
equal to the net investment in the lease. The derecognition and
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9 apply to a lessor’s net
investment in a lease.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of
the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period.

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and
fair value interest-rate risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company. The Group would occasionally
enter into certain foreign currency forwards options to manage
its exchange risks. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan
and the PRC with most of the transactions settled
in HK$, RMB, United States dollars (“USD”) and
New Taiwanese dollars (“NTD”). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from
various currencies, primarily with respect to USD.

Management has a policy to require group companies
to manage their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currencies. It mainly includes managing the
exposures arising from sales and purchases made
by the relevant group companies in currencies other
than their own functional currencies. The Group also
manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures and would consider the use of foreign
exchange contracts to manage its foreign exchange
risks, where appropriate.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

MBRBERER (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) FHHEE (& (a) Market risk (continued)
() SEREEE () () Foreign exchange risk (continued)
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As at 31 December 2020, certain of the Group’s trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other payables were denominated in foreign
currencies, details of which have been disclosed in
the respective notes to these consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2020, for companies with RMB
as their functional currency, if USD had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been approximately RMB48,000 (2019:
RMB11,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of bank
balances denominated in USD. For a company with
NTD as its functional currency, if USD and RMB had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against the NTD, with
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year would have been approximately RMB151,000
higher/lower and RMB22,000 lower/higher (2019:
RMB533,000 higher/lower and RMB14,000 lower/
higher), respectively, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of lease liabilities
denominated in USD and losses/gains on translation of
bank balances denominated in RMB.

In the opinion of the directors, the HK$ is reasonably
stable with respect to the USD under the Linked
Exchange Rate System, and accordingly, companies
with HK$ as their functional currency does not have
any significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
transactions or balances as denominated in USD.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.



B MR R M E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 HERKBEIRw

3.1 MBEAKRREER (&

(a)

(b)

s EE ()
(i)  HERERAFEFFEE

FEBRNBRAREERER
BARBUNDTHA XE
BoRIBITRENN FAERT
BEARLEREE HBERE
M EE22 c RE B FRIY K BY
MxgHmEBEEEREHEE
BE BREFBERME16H
B-ZEEMEXGFENEE
BEEAEEEBERAFET
XRB IEEEERAAT
ENXEARILERNEKR - &NE
B EANBEANRERR
PRE MR A K o

MRAEEN BB E
+ZBE=t—BLREAH
BB E AR 2 IREE
B o

FEm 5

RITRE  EERAERUWIRIEL
REMEE B RIEBHENAT
Rz HMEWHRIEEEEERR -

()

BEREE

EERBRLOEREGHRE
IEo

AEBRBORTREFN
UREB -FEKRGENK
HEMEBE BRRIFES
kEEERE -EEERAH
FEHREARAZEH ST
BHMELNEIE-

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash at banks, details of which
are disclosed in Note 22. The Group’s exposure to
changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its
lease liabilities, details of which are disclosed in Note
15. Lease liabilities carried at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk but management
considers that the fair value interest rate risk is
immaterial. The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the Group did
not have material interest bearing liabilities as at 31
December 2020.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash at banks, trade and lease
receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables carried at amortised cost.

(0

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.

The majority of the Group’s cash at banks are
deposited in major financial institutions located in
Hong Kong, the PRC and Taiwan, which are in good
reputation and high credit quality. Management does
not expect any losses arising from non-performance by
these counterparties.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

MBRBERER (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (& (b) Credit risk (continued)

() EREE () () Risk management (continued)
EERREBEEELEBEREE Credit risk includes risks resulting from risks of
PREFEONER R concentration and counterparty default. As at 31
Z2TEF+ZB=+—8" December 2020, the Group has concentration of credit
rEBEBEEEHRAR risk as its top 5 trade debtors represent 67% (2019:
AHEHAAZRhEEREES 62%) of the total trade and lease receivables and
FEUWEBRIEL K & 4 & E 4848 contract assets. The Group also has policies in place
67% (ZE—NF 162%) o A& to ensure that sale of products are made to customers
EEBETESIFTBER R E with an appropriate credit history and the Group
ERTERGEEXSHENE performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers.
PRAEBEHIFHEELED Normally the Group does not require collaterals from
EELSR - AEE—HKRTE trade debtors.

EREBEFIRMEIET
i) RE (i) Impairment

BERVIRARGHNEE

FEEEREEYTREE
Bk RMC 7 A EREIE
BiBE HE EERWKIR
BEhaNEEERZHEMR
FESHRER ERFTEDT
(EEIR RPN 3
WERIE BB A & X E W AR 1A
BRON o

REHEEFGERBEESRS

A

RE 7R H E B A
R IR E KRR O
P 0 B 3 1 W BRI 75
18181 {5 L0 3T $2 50 245 o
ACE-BEL_A=4—
B % ER T 8 ¥R
BRI 45 8 A 2 #658,889,000
T(ZB—AEARE
62,314,00070) E 3 2 2 B
e

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets, except for those individually significant
trade receivables or trade receivables at default which
are tested individually.

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual

basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection
of receivables are assessed individually for provision
for impairment allowance. As at 31 December
2020, full provision of these balances of individually
assessed trade receivable of RMB58,889,000 (2019:
RMB62,314,000) was provided.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
basis

The Group categories its trade receivables and
contract assets, except those individually assessed,
based on the risk characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 12 months before
31 December 2020 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables, including but not limited to the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economic
growth.

The Group has identified the Gross Domestic Products
and unemployment rate of the countries in which it
sells its goods and services to be the most relevant
factor, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates
based on expected changes in these factors.

The Group divide trade receivables and contract assets
into 2 categories by the geographic location of its
customers and credit risk characteristic, as follow:

- Category 1 is for customers conducting business
in Asia.

- Category 2 is for customers conducting business
in US.

With different types of customers, the Group calculated
the expected loss rate respectively.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December

2020 was determined as follows for both trade
receivables and contract assets.
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MBERERER (&)

3.1

(b)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk factors (continued)

BRI (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) JEE () (i) Impairment (continued)
EXEEURBERGNEE Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
(#)
F—HE RENRERERNEE Category 1: Customers conducting business in Asia
®%=fB ZENER ~E+ZfER +ZA
RZEZ%%F )i ek i a8 N L@ @t
+-A=+-H Trade receivables and contract Up to 3t06 61012 Over 12
BERWIRE assets as at 3 months months months months
REVEE 31 December 2020 Current past due past due past due past due Total
ANEETFr ANEEFT AEBEFT AREFT AREFT ABEFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BHERX Expected loss rates 0.3% 0.6% 3.8% 6.5% 76.3%
REEE Gross carrying amount 123,281 3,681 3,752 6,117 2,611 139,392
FRES Loss allowance (321) 1) (144) (399) (1,992) (2,876)
REFE Net carrying amount 122,910 3,660 3,608 5,719 619 136,516
BB R ERBREBNES Category 2: Customers conducting business in US
%= Z=ENEA ~Et+ZfER +ZfER
RZIBZZEF i bk ki B NE@E ast
+-A=+-H Trade receivables and contract Up to 3to6 6to0 12 Over 12
EERWRER assets as at 3 months months months months
BNEE 31 December 2020 Current past due past due past due past due Total
AEEFT ANBEFT AEBEFT AREFT AREFT ARETT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000
BHEEX Expected loss rates 0.5% 0.8% 2.0% 2.9% 2.9%
REAE Gross carrying amount 52,626 12,602 1,173 - - 66,401
BEAE Loss allowance (265) (100) (24) - - (389)
REFE Net carrying amount 52,361 12,502 1,149 - - 66,012

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 MBRAKER &) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) JRE () (i) Impairment (continued)
EEEBURBERENEE Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
#&
S Total:
&% ZEAER ~Et+ZfEBR +Zf8R
RZZZZE B =EREH bl B V)i st
+ZA=+-H Trade receivables and contract Up to 3t06 61012 Over 12
EERWIRE assets as at 3 months months months months
RENEE 31 December 2020 Current past due past due past due past due Total
ANEETFr ANEEFT ABEFT AREFT AREFT AEBEFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BHEEX Expected loss rates 0.3% 0.7% 3.4% 6.5% 76.3%
RELE Gross carrying amount 175,857 16,283 4,925 6,117 2,611 205,793
BREE Loss allowance (586) (121) (168) (398) (1,992) (3,265)
REZE Net carrying amount 175,271 16,162 4,757 5,719 619 202,528
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group,
and a failure to make contractual payments for a period
of greater than 120 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract
assets are presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line
item.

Movement in the loss allowances for trade and lease
receivables is as follows:

ZEIEE —Z-NEF

2020 2019

AREFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

RER At the beginning of the year 62,314 59,821
HEEWNARBRIERG Loss allowance for trade receivables 3,492 1,429
9494 Written off - 219)
PE 2 =28 Exchange difference (3,652) 1,283
REXR At the end of the year 62,154 62,314

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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(b) FEmEE (&)

(i)

JR1E ()

R BB EULARIE

AEBERBER ERIN
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REBERAEZ EMSH
EEZEEBER2EEH
REZHRBNERRZHR
MBERRZELE R ETT
L BEERA BT HED
BUZR > 15 B BB 0 4% BE 1
meBREREDLDRETZ
BEAMNBEHREERIBET
RIZZZ2EEFE+-A=+—
B Ast22 M
EMEENEBREEAAR
98,0007 (ZE—N4E : A
R #98,0007T) °

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment (continued)

Finance leases receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
recognise lifetime expected credit loss for finance
leases receivables that results from transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 16. Given the track
record of regular cash flow received by the Group, the
directors are of the opinion that the risk of default and
expected loss rates by these counterparties is low and
does not expect any losses from non-performance
by the counterparties. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
The expected credit loss rate of the remaining finance
leases receivable is minimal and no loss allowance was
made as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Other financial assets at amortised costs

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables (excluding tax
recoverable).

The credit quality of other financial assets at amortised
cost has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. Management
considers that the credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and the impairment
provision is determined based on the 12-month
expected credit loss. The loss allowance for other
financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 December
2020 is RMB98,000 (2019: RMB98,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities
and takes into account all available information on future
business environment including among others, the economic
impact of the unprecedental COVID-19 on the economies
of the countries in which the Group and its customers and
suppliers operate.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
additions of property, plant and equipment, purchase of
inventories, settlement of lease liabilities, payment for trade
and other payables and payment for operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of internal resources and bank
borrowings, as necessary.
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(c)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

REEZ R () (c) Liquidity risk (continued)
AEENHREZEEHRERERRTE The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
RS ETERUBREREH expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains
REMREEEBYUARBHEEN sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate amount of
EREGEME UREEHAEE committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity requirements in
B ESME the short and long term.
TRV BRIEHEEHIESHOEBA The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into
B 89 &R HA R A & B A RA B HR 48 B relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
NEMBED T TREENERE at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
RERAERAFLHEMNNREH The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
HstENENFEMIRERE & undiscounted cash flows, including interest payments
EEREAOFEFENR B computed using contractual rates, based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay.
man
-8 —FERE REERE REme IREE
Between Between Total
Within 1and2 2and 5 contractual Carrying
1 year years years  cash flows amount
ANEEFT ANEEFT ANREFT AEEFT AEREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EHaEREEERZ Contractual maturities of
BHEIHA financial liabilities and
lease liabilities
RZZ2ZZHE+ZH=+—H At 31 December 2020
EEXRE Trade payables 104,617 - - 104,617 104,617
fEst B R R EME [ B Accruals and other payables 8,105 - - 8,105 8,105
HEEE Lease liabilities 13,206 11,583 5,928 30,717 29,385
125,928 11,583 5,928 143,439 142,107
RZE—hE+"B=+—H At 31 December 2019
P ZIRTE Trade payables 102,716 - - 102,716 102,716
st BERREME[TIE Accruals and other payables 7,292 - - 7,292 7,292
HEAR Lease liabilities 14,354 12,827 16,853 44,034 41,351
124,362 12,827 16,853 154,042 151,359
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F+_A=+—HBFXEERATE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Fair value estimation

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all the resulting fair value
estimates on the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is made according to the fair value measurement hierarchy under
HKFRS 7.

The different levels of fair value measurements are defined as
follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level
3).

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the Group’s assets that are
measured at fair value at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

HEZEE-
BH=
Level 3
2020 2019
ARBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BHE Assets
BAFEFABGZEMEE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
— AR ES — Convertible bond - 3,553
—JFLEHEE — Unlisted investments 16,318 13,976
st Total 16,318 17,529

EFREBR— BHR-_KEHR=Z
I m e o

\TETERE+R=+T—H#%
AFEFABREZEREESHA—
LGNS EEM ST A o

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
year.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were
valued as at 31 December 2020 by an independent external
valuer.

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



B MR R M E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

3.2

1A 45
HHERMEIR @ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
AFEGE (& 3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)
(i) RAFEER ) (i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)
SH T B EMANREGE R Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
BIEFERGABBENES B1F instruments include a combination of unobservable inputs,
BRI E N FHRAERE R K EE including discount rate, average revenue growth rate and
REZo terminal growth rate etc.
TEBANRZZEZZEFE+ZA The following table summarizes the quantitative information
=+ BEAFESFABERNERH about the significant unobservable inputs used in the
BEZATFEZGHEMANEKXIE valuation of the fair values of financial assets at fair value
BREABIBIEEER - through profit or loss as at 31 December 2020.
RZBZEE
+ZB=+-H
. HATE . g FEEHA FREHA
e IN:E S hER# BAME yEEE HBANTEZHMA
Fair value at
31 December Range of
2020 Valuation Unobservable  unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Description RMB’000 technique input input input to fair value
BATESABEZEHEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3
—aRES - BEFE () TR TEA TR
- Gonvertible bond Net Asset Value (Note (i)) N/A N/A N/A
BATESABEZEHEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss N )
—FLHRE 16,318 BREENE BRE 20.56% BREds ATEME.
- Unlisted investment Discounted Cash Flow Discount The higher the discount rate,
rate the lower the fair value.
fEEEREEM /B 1% IR R ERIK
ARED /B IAR%1,220,00075
AR 1,375,0007T °
If the discount rate increases/decreases
by 1%, the post-tax profit will be
RMB1,220,000 or RMB1,375,000
lower/higher, respectively.
THREERE 286% BaBREds ATEUR.
Average The higher the revenue growth rate, the
revenue higher the fair value.
growth rate ~
WG RERM, E01% BIRH
BENBEM/ R’ NEE151,0007T
If the average revenue growth rate
increases/decreases by 1%, the post-
tax profit will be RMB151,000 higher/
lower.
REERE 2.20% RERRXHR ATEERC
Terminal The higher the terminal growth rate, the
growth rate higher the fair value.
BREEEEEN/ A% IRRER
2,/ A0 AR 1%928,00075
AR 1832,0007
If the terminal growth rate increases/
decreases by 1%, the post-tax profit
will be RMB928,000 or RMB832,000
higher/lower, respectively.
Mzt Note:
0] AEBEBERRSHR KE i) The Group has determined that the investee's net asset value

HEWEEFBEATRRESH
NTEEE -

approximates fair value of the convertible bond at the end of the
reporting period.
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(i)

(ii)

RFEER (B)

1S E M= EERHIFRRE AR
BB EUBEARR AEHAE
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EREAFESEEY BXEKHEE
FUWEBEUREGHNEE -BER
HEWRIE) Uk EBRE S
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—AE+ZA=+—RiLEEES
STREZEH:

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Fair value estimation (continued)

(0

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Changing unobservable inputs in Level 3 valuation to
reasonable alternative assumptions would not have

significant impact on the Group’s profit or loss.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial
assets, including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
lease receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, and the Group’s current financial liabilities
including trade payables, accruals and other payables and

lease liabilities, approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:

ZEZTHE —E-NEF

2020 2019

AREFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

W—B—H As 1 January 17,529 -
wE Addition 5,196 18,272
REEEBEE HiEe) Fair value losses (Note 6) (5,017) (728)
PE R Z%E Exchange difference (1,390) (15)
w+-—B=+—H As 31 December 16,318 17,529
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payments to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or obtain new bank borrowings.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet)
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as
“equity”, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net

debt.

TRETAEER ZBEARLGE . The table below analyses the Group’s capital structure:
=Sl <3:- —E-NF
2020 2019
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
wREa’| WiE15) Total lease liabilities (Note 15) 29,385 41,351
B RERIREEEY BiFe2) Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) (212,436) (183,786)
BERFRE Net surplus (183,051) (142,435)
BEAREBLE Gearing ratio AEAN/A 38 AN/A

RIEBE_ZEER_E—HLE+_A
=t+—RB> AEEERRESFERR
tEE RS ELEELABEA -

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group was at net cash

position, hence the gearing ratio is not applicable.
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(b) FAERXIEE R AR B UL A TSR

EONERER AR AERBRSE
HMAREGHNESHZEM B D LSBT MH
RHBZETWA - ERBEDLREBEEZA
ERETIGMELESORNEERZE
THREEZEENEMANLES > 5iR
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HAEBER/ RERB DR EKES
TRAEEBEZENRR B RETD
REESEERBEERRAMIEL -

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Expected credit loss of trade and lease receivables

The Group makes loss allowance for trade and lease receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates, including the economic impact
of the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic on the operations of the
Group and the countries in which it operates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b)(ii).

Revenue recognition of rendering of services for L.T.
Projects

The Group recognises certain revenue on the rendering of services
by reference to the percentage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, when the outcome of a
contract can be estimated reliably. The percentage of completion
is measured by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date compared to the estimated
total contract costs to be incurred under the transaction, or the
value of services performed to date as a percentage of the value
of total services to be performed under the transaction. Significant
assumptions such as the total budgeted staff costs, are required
to estimate the total contract costs and/or the percentage of
completion. The estimates are made based on past experience and
knowledge of management.

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



B MR R M E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 BEGHHERESR @

(c)

(d)

FRiG I R B SE 1 IR

AEBREEFRABDEEMER LZER
BMPRER - R EEF BB R AR
BERAE - BEETRZ KT BEIEER
KRR - AEBRESABMEBIRIEM
ERARARNBELFENEE -HZES
ENERRBERBEN RV LHNE
BoEMEERETEETABEERD
BB BRI RIS B E R B A

AEB AN EMRIBERR - RETE
ZERBRAGLRERAEG -HZEEE
NELRMBERARENBRER  BIAR
ERRBTEMEREERNAHIBERE
2z &

RATEMNABEZ EMEEZATE
fisst

WIRARTIEZXZRATFEF AED
ZEREEZATFEXRBEERMNEE -
AEBRCHEAEERESES ALY
Bk ZEBRREBENSRESHREFE
ZHR-FTAZEARBRREZERRE

2B IEWBEN (WEES.2() °

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions where
its subsidiaries operate. Significant judgement is required in
determining provisions for income taxes. There are certain
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

The Group is also exposed to other taxes and duties. Significant
judgement is required in determining these provisions. Where the
final outcomes of these matters differ from the actual results, such
difference will impact the provisions made and the earnings stated
in the consolidated income statement.

Estimation of the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss that are not traded in an active market is determined using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a
variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. For
details of the key assumptions used and the impact of changes to
these assumptions (Note 3.2(i)).
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SEERBEREEEBERANERE Y-

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive
directors (collectively referred to as the “Chief Operation Decision
Maker” or “CODM”) that make strategic decisions. The CODM reviews
the internal reporting of the Company and its subsidiaries in order
to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segment based on the Group’s development
plan and the internal reporting provided to the CODM.

To be consistent with the reposition strategy of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and to align the segment presentation in
the internal reports provided to the CODM, management determined
to change its operating segment presentation into the three operating
segments as follows:

1. Smart Office Business

- The provision of video conference related solutions plus
brand licensing and supply chain management of smart office
equipment.

2. Industrial Solution Business

- The provision of smart manufacturing solutions and services
to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of production
lines, plant facilities and the management of industrial parks.

3. New Retail Business
- The provision of digital retail signage solutions.

The comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2019 have
been restated to conform with the current year’s presentation.

Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that is managed by the respective business unit leaders. CODM
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of profit before income tax. Other information provided to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

Assets of reportable segments exclude corporate assets (mainly including
corporate cash and cash equivalents, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, prepayments and other receivables, and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss), all of which are managed on
a central basis. Liabilities of reportable segments exclude corporate
liabilities (mainly including lease liabilities, accruals, other payables and
tax payables). These are part of the reconciliation to total balance sheet
assets and liabilities.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
BE_S-ZE+ZRA=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020
TERR
ERMAER FRER MTEER wmt
Smart Industrial
Office Solution New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ARBEFT ARBEFT AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (Hif5#a) Revenue (Note a) 233,215 250,482 39,720 523,417
EROHMEE Results of reportable segments 8,744 31,614 5,454 45,812
ERDIEEBFERE RN A reconciliation of results of
HIRWT © reportable segments to
profit for the year is as follows:
ERPBZEE Results of reportable segments 45,812
KABRBA (FZ) Unallocated income/(expenses)

(HtzEb) (Note b) (31,178)
FEEF Profit for the year 14,634
HthoaEEN - Other segment information:

EAMSZH Capital expenditures 186 8,926 - 9,112
MEEBREZEITE Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 45 3,653 - 3,698
FREEERE Depreciation of

right-of-use assets - 9,443 - 9,443
mEEE#H Amortisation of

intangible assets 79 828 - 907
TMEERIBEE Loss allowance for

financial assets 440 3,037 15 3,492
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WARZEER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
HEE-NF+_B=1+—HILEEE KE5)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Restated)
TERR
BEMAER FEER MEEXER w3
Smart Industrial
Office Solution New Retail
Business Business Business Total
AEBEFT AREFT AREFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (fiata) Revenue (Note a) 166,188 264,807 - 430,995
SR EE Results of reportable segments 3,618 32,930 - 36,548
ERDIEEBFEREREFZ A reconciliation of results of
HIRAT © reportable segments to
profit for the year is as follows:
ERDPWZEE Results of reportable segments 36,548
FAEWA, ) Unallocated income/(expenses)

(Hiztb) (Note b) (24,973)
FEGF Profit for the year 11,575
HthaEEN - Other segment information:

BEAMSZH Capital expenditures 45 25,579 - 25,624
ME-BBRRREBITE Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 323 2,146 - 2,469
EREEENE Depreciation of

right-of-use assets - 8,661 - 8,661
mEEHEH Amortisation of

intangible assets 23 1,930 - 1,953
TREERERE Loss allowance for

financial assets - 1,429 - 1,429
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(continued)
Kzt - Note:
(a) SIFEEZRSHNZWA (a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time

AEBMU TS 2 E QAR NEE R BRI R E R
BHEERERRRBEEWRA

and at a point in time in the following major product lines:

BHE-_Z-ZTHE+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

TEBR
BEMAEH BRER MEEES et
Industrial
Smart Office Solution New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ARBBFT ARBBFT ARBTFT ARBETFT
YL A FERR Z B R Timing of revenue recognition RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
El#HIER I.T. projects
— A E R RF R A — At a point of time 33,764 63,695 8,828 106,287
—BEE RS - Over time 12,365 114,897 30,892 158,154
HIE KRB AR Maintenance and
consulting services
—MEERF R — Over time 2,441 47,955 - 50,396
HEER Sales of goods
— A E R RF R A — At a point of time 184,645 21,219 = 205,864
MERAEKRA Finance lease income = 404 - 404
REREWA HaE0) Operating lease income (note (i) - 2,312 - 2,312
233,215 250,482 39,720 523,417
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(a)

140

DIFREFEHZHEA (&)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Note: (continued)

(a

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continueq)

BE_Z-hE+-RA=-+—-HLEFE EE5)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Restated)

TERR
BERNEE FREH MTEER wat
Industrial
Smart Office Solution New Retall
Business Business Business Total
AREFT ANBEFT ANBEFT ANEEFT
AT 2 B Timing of revenue recognition RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BHifl#iRiEl I.T. projects
— A EE R RS - At a point of time 78,733 79,776 - 158,509
—BEERE — Over time 33,274 101,468 - 134,742
e RE RS Maintenance and
consulting services
—BEERR - Over time 2,026 55,587 - 57,613
HEGM Sales of goods
— A S — At a point of time 52,155 25,595 - 77,680
FEAEKRA Finance lease income - 454 - 454
REREWRA Ha20) Operating lease income (note (i) - 1,997 - 1,997
166,188 264,807 - 430,995
Wizt : Note:
0] KREHEWAEETEHREEHEERR 0] Operating lease income represents the income mainly generated from

BRETEHBCRAGMEREERSEE

AEEHEA-

leasing of servers and operating the automated system to its customers
by charging a fixed monthly rental charge.
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(a)
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BHBMUER D ZWMADRRBRERZNZ
BERMEE RERFAEMENTRRADNT
wmr

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Note: (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue by geographical location is determined by the destination where the
services and products were delivered. Revenue from customers on the basis
of customers’ locations is analysed as follows:

—E-ERE —ZT—NEF

2020 2019

ARHEFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

5B Hong Kong 2,365 101
F The PRC 254,393 323,536
ESET The United States 195,830 43,888
=5 Taiwan 70,595 63,130
H A Others 234 340
523,417 430,995

HEZZ-ZFE+ZA=+—HIFE A
HARHE175,264,0007T (ZE—HE AR
54,022,00070) RE—HE—F A hAEER
WAB3% (CE—HNEFE 13%) BE_ZT_THF
+ZA=+t—HIEEE HEEBRATEZ
THE MR AR EEABIRALS59% (ZT—NEF .
49%) ©

BE_Z_SE+-_B=+—HLFE KA
£ AR 210,480,0007T (ZZ—HE : AR
237,467,0007T) RERAEA TR EEE TER
DERABRHEEEAT  (LAEBEAEIAL0%
(ZE—HE:55%) - FER AEETBES
B EEFWALNARE2,060,000 7T

For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue of approximately
RMB175,264,000 (2019: RMB54,022,000), representing 33% (2019: 13%)
of the Group’s total revenue, is derived from a single customer. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, sales to the five largest customers of the Group
in total accounted for approximately 59% (2019: 49%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue of approximately
RMB210,480,000 (2019: RMB237,467,000), representing 40% (2019: 55%) of
the Group’s total revenue, is derived from related parties, Hon Hai Precision
Industry Company Limited and its group companies. During the year, the
Group also generated revenue of approximately RMB2,060,000 from its joint
venture.
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MABRSEHER @

(continued)
Bt - (48) Note: (continued)
(b) RPBUEA D) TERERCEBEESE (b)  Unallocated income/(expenses) mainly include government subsidies, finance

B HE BERA - EEBANRAX WE-
HMBRRRETE EREEERE ERREE

BER PSR REMEERS -

MEDB 2 XERFE RN ERARUT :

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

income, employment benefit expenses, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets, legal and professional fees,

income tax expense and other operating expenses incurred at corporate

level.

is provided as follows:

A reconciliation of operating segments’

results to total profit for the year

ZECTHE “Z—hF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DEES Segment results 45,812 36,548
FARWA B : Unallocated income/(expenses):
— BT BN — Government subsidies 4,349 3,370
—RE WA — Finance income 2,729 3,126
—ME KB RREITE - Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (2,866) (3,730)
—EREEEINE - Depreciation of right-of-use assets (3,280) (4,210)
— BB EEN - Amortisation of intangible assets (87) (481)
—FEKREEER - Legal and professional fees (5,459) (3,808)
—EERAMX - Employment benefit expenses (9,889) (12,463)
— IZ BTN &= - Auditors’ remuneration (1,757) (1,400)
—PEMRAX - Income tax expense (7,742) (3,253)
—HAh — Others (7,176) (2,124)
FERA Profit for the year 14,634 11,575
BHE_ T ZEN_ZT—NE+-B=+—H During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, all capital
IFE FREEAMELTHIRERE &8 KE expenditure were incurred in the PRC, Taiwan and the United States.

Bik
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(continued)
RZZEZZEH+”-“HA=+—H
As at 31 December 2020
TERR
ERMAER FRER MTEER wmt
Industrial
Smart Office Solution New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ARBEFT ARBEFT AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
DEEE Segment assets
DEEE Segment assets 93,385 201,406 5,927 300,718
HihknEEE (Hsta) Other unallocated assets
(Note a) 235,710
EHEERGRNEEE Total assets per
consolidated balance sheet 536,428
DEEE Segment liabilities
DEBE Segment liabilities 52,127 95,884 205 148,216
Hit k& ®E Batb) Other unallocated liabilities
(Note b) 33,419
EHEEEERNESR Total liabilities per
consolidated balance sheet 181,635
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
AZE-AF+ZA=+—H (KE7)
As at 31 December 2019 (Restated)
THEBRARE
BEMAER e MEEXER w3
Industrial
Smart Office Solution New Retail
Business Business Business Total
AEBEFT AREFT AREFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NEEE Segment assets
DEEE Segment assets 66,515 246,343 - 312,858
Btk D &EE Ksta) Other unallocated assets
(Note a) 214,570
EHEERGRNEEE Total assets per
consolidated balance sheet 527,428
AEBaE Segment liabilities
DEBE Segment liabilities 46,168 101,976 - 148,144
Hit k& @ #atb) Other unallocated liabilities
(Note b) 36,099
EHEEEERNEESR Total liabilities per
consolidated balance sheet 184,243
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et -

RZIZ_BFR-_F-NAFEF+ZB=+—8"
Ht RN EEETBZOREARBAZRERR
TEEM ME - HBERRE EAREE R
I RIE R B ERRIEN KRB AT E ABE
ZEREE-

KENH 2 EERBEENRNT ¢

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other unallocated assets mainly included
cash and cash equivalents, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
prepayments and other receivables, and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for corporate usage.

Operating segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

—ECTHE —E-hE

2020 2019

ARETFT ANEBBEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

ERDEZDEEE Segment assets for reportable segments 300,718 312,858
ROBLEE Unallocated assets

- RERREEEY - Cash and cash equivalents 212,436 183,786

o EN — Property, plant and equipment 3,372 6,074

—ERAEEE - Right-of-use assets 2,644 4,472

—FE{T TIE K E At FE UL TR I8 - Prepayments and other receivables 940 2,621

—RBATESABGRZCREE - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 16,318 17,529

—HAth - Others - 88

EHEEEERNEEE Total assets per consolidated balance sheet 536,428 527,428

FR RKDEEERNABYE HERSEUR
FREEED A ARES9,000T (ZE—H
£ AR%13,0007t) B AR#3,070,0007T (=
Z—hF . AR#5,206,0007T) °

RIBZEFER_Z—hE+B=+—0H"
AEBZ RBOIFRBEEMPHE - MHE th

During the year, the addition to property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets in unallocated assets were RMB89,000 (2019: RMB13,000) and
RMB3,070,000 (2019: RMB5,206,000), respectively.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, majority of the Group’s non-current assets
were located in the PRC with others located in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the

IR EE BB RER- United States.
RIZZZEER-_F-—AFE+_A=+—8> (b) As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other unallocated liabilities mainly
Hthk DAk BBEFTEBELABRAZESE included accruals, other payables, lease liabilities and tax payables for
A HtEAHE HEaERELRE. corporate usage.
KENWzABREBEHRNOT : Operating segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:
—EEE e
2020 2019
ARETFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
2ROV HEEE Segment liabilities for reportable segments 148,216 148,144
FpREa’E Unallocated liabilities
—FEST & B R EMEA RIE — Accruals and other payables 23,638 26,839
—fEaE — Lease liabilities 4,073 4,519
—ERIE — Tax payables 5,708 4,073
—H - Others — 668
AHEEEERNEEE Total liabilities per consolidated balance sheet 181,635 184,243
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Hithg AR EAth (5518) Yk

6 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER (LOSSES)/

ik GAINS, NET

—E_THE —E-NE
2020 2019
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT #E B Government subsidies 4,349 3,370
Hh Others 406 373
HAs A Other income 4,755 3,743
HEME HBRREZEIE Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 3) (41)

BATEFAEBRZEHEEY Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value

NFERBE through profit or loss (5,017) (728)
ERWE (B518) F58 Net exchange gains/(losses) 947 (419)
HERAFEFAERZ Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value

ETRMEEZWE HEEG) through profit or loss (Note (i) = 1,570
B EZ W Gain on modification of lease - 1,341
R—REHEA AR ZREZ aE Gain on the investment in an associate (Note 16)

(Htat16) - 353
FERERERE (W) Provision for legal claim (Note (i) - (1,383)
Hth Others 654 (109)
Hth (5598) /W F5E Other (losses)/gains, net (3,419) 584

st -

Note:

(i)

(i

BHE_Z—tE=ZRA=+—HLEEE &&
EUWE—MIE LT AB 21,002,673 KM% >
ZRENRBECEHBRE RS —NERA
+HEB AEET I MHRBEURBARE
1,570,000t E—%F = A HEZFELHTRAT 2
2EHRM - ZRXRBERBE_ZET—NE+TAH
St—HUESERM ZEERIALEREA
F#1,570,0007T °

BHE_ZT-—NE+BA=+—HLEFEE X
ERMBLIBEE_T-AF+-B=+—H
LEEZHFEFFLREZRRERFEARE
1,383,0007T °

(i)

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group acquired 1,002,673 shares
of an unlisted company and the investment was fully impaired in the same
year. On 15 May 2019, the Group entered into an agreement to sell all of its
shares of the unlisted company at a consideration of RMB1,570,000 to a third
party. The transaction was completed during the year ended 31 December
2019 and the Group recognised a gain on disposal of RMB1,570,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group made a provision
of legal claim of RMB1,383,000 regarding a loss case near year ended 31
December 2019.
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7 BEBISZAX 7 EXPENSES BY NATURE
=Sl <3:- 3 —ZE-NF
2020 2019
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EAREER 2B KRR A K Costs of hardware and software for

HESMMA I.T. projects and cost of goods sold 359,819 263,966
BEEGHNHZ (BEEEME) Employment benefit expenses (including directors’

(H13%8) emoluments) (Note 8) 86,012 94,307
SNEE A Sub-contracting fee 7,739 15,325
ME BB REREBINE Wat14) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

(Note 14) 6,564 6,199
EREEERE Wat15) Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) 12,723 12,871
MG ERM A (H5£15) Expenses relating to short term leases (Note 15) 341 1,325
REBERYS Travelling expenses 2,624 3,669
FRREEER Legal and professional fees 9,054 7,338
B E Consultancy fee 1,657 -
WAERT Office expenses 2,855 2,233
EEESE HE13) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 13) 994 2,434
1ZELEM Bl <& Auditors’ remuneration

— B IZRE — Audit services 1,757 1,400
GFERERE (HWEE18) Provision for impairment of inventories (Note 18) 580 2,287
EEHX Advertising expenses 183 162
Hihpaz Other expenses 7,495 6,580

500,397 420,096
BARR Representing:

& A Cost of sales 429,153 353,790

THE R HAS Selling and distribution expenses 11,458 11,278

— R RITEREX General and administrative expenses 48,833 50,471

REER Research and development expenses 10,953 4,557

500,397 420,096
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EEEFMRAXZ 8 EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
BiEEEMe 2 BEER®FBEIOT : Employment benefit expenses, including directors’ emoluments, consist
of:
ZEZTHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e~ TE MR Wages, salaries and allowances 71,280 71,470
BEYEEREEZHERE Share options granted to directors and employees 387 1,000
TE4T Bonus 5,605 4,968
BIRERA—EBERTE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 1,025 6,280
=R R EAM Welfare, benefits and others 7,715 10,589
86,012 94,307
REUWA—REE 9 FINANCE INCOME - NET
ZEZEHE “Z2—-hHF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE WA Finance income
RITEMFEWA Interest income from bank deposits 2,729 3,126
2,729 3,126
B E A AR Finance cost
HMEaGFN SRz WaE15) Interest expenses for lease liabilities (Note 15) (1,213) (1,742)
FRIE WA Net finance income 1,516 1,384
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FRiFIRFA

RAAFEEHREERERB - SBAERILIR
BESABEEXARNREET B Z A EEREF
#16.5% (ZZF—NFE 1 16.5%) 2 MFIBHE
HBE_Z_EF+_A=+—AHLEE +
B A8 REEMILEEZEBATARM
HEEMEBMMNEDBA15%20%K30% (=
T—NE 1 15%20% K ) o

RIESHRMEERFTEEER > HhmEF
BEFA AR EERMASRERAE DHBH-F
TEEETT T CHFRACE-N\EFEEETT
EEZEBELEMBRIIZEIG%

BEFEABESREIBR AR —BHEHF
AEERFASRBEME B -FT—CtF=E
TECEFEABECEMBRREIG%-

10

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong profits
tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong. Group
companies established and operating in the PRC, Taiwan and the United
States are subject to corporate income tax at the rate of 15%, 20% and
30% (2019: 15%, 20% and Nil) respectively, for year ended 31 December
2020.

Two of the subsidiaries in the PRC were approved by the relevant
local tax bureaus under the preferential tax policy for the high and new
technology enterprises, and were entitled to a preferential corporate
income tax rate of 15% from 2020 until 2022 and 2018 until 2020,
respectively.

One of the subsidiaries in the PRC was approved by the relevant local
tax bureaus under the preferential tax policy for the western region of the
PRC, and was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15%
from 2017 until 2020.

=Sl 3:- —ZE-AF
2020 2019
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

EHRIE Current taxation
—FEiR — Withholding tax 2,105 1,958
—FEBEMRER - PRC corporate income tax 2,536 2,070
—BEMER — Taiwan income tax 1,905 1,270
—Hh - Others 956 -
RBEFEREEBARE, BEEAH)  Under/(over)-provision in prior year 240 (2,045)
7,742 3,253
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FrisiREZ @

FEBEGFRERAGN 2 ME BRABHN
BHERGNZMETHNEMELE Z BRI
B EBNT

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuea)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

—EZEHE —E-NEF

2020 2019

AREFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

B PRS0 Al R Profit before income tax 22,376 14,828
ZBERREEE AR RN 2 Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to

EHREFE R profits in the respective jurisdiction 4,057 2,617

BAEFRRZ WA Income not subject to tax (217) (74)

ARz ZH Expenses not deductible 2,497 3,525
R SRRIEFT ISR 2 Other temporary differences for which no deferred

HMESMELR income tax were recognised 109 (209)

TWRERRLEFRSREEY Tax losses for which no deferred income tax assets

MIEE 18 were recognised 1,803 2,191

B ABEREERD ZNIERE Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (943) (1,195)

RBEEERETE, (BEEEME)  Under/(over)-provision for previous year 240 (2,045)

—EHFETFABRKREZEINR Withholding tax on dividend of a PRC subsidiary 2,105 1,958

—EEETFRABRZAMEREER Profit retention tax for a Taiwan subsidiary 189 -

MBKEEE Tax incentives (2,098) (3,515)

X Income tax expense 7,742 3,253

RIB-EFE+_A=+—H REFELEM
MIEEEARS0,173,00070 (ZE—HE A
R #£24,459,0007T) HRIEIEFF SR EE AR
#4,612,0007T (Z & — 15 : AR 3,839,000
70) cILEREARIEBIBA M EBEZRHR A
EE o ZEEHIBARKE,478,000T (ZE—N
£ AR¥11,333,00070) FJERIAAAEH R T
RIEAEY ARIE23,695,00070 (ZE—NF :
AR #13,126,0007T) BRI ZEZRAEEM (=
E—AF RIS IEEER) ©

RHREREELEET AR ZAERERAZEN
MIRED R BEWR21% N _E_FE+_H
=S+—RB IERETHERAETATDZR
PEHZA ARE124,571,00070 (ZZT—H4F -
AR #147,327,0007T) FERFE 2 BN BIE
LRSI IB A& B AR 18,365,000t (Z&E—A
£ AR18,576,0007T) * RAAZENER B
RERE-

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB4,612,000 (2019: RMB3,839,000) in respect of tax
losses amounting to RMB30,173,000 (2019: RMB24,459,000). These
unutilized tax losses can be carried forward against future taxable
income. RMB6,478,000 of these losses (2019: RMB11,333,000) can be
carried forward indefinitely. The remaining tax losses of approximately
RMB23,695,000 (2019: RMB13,126,000) will expire by 2025 (2019:
expiry by 2024).

The withholding tax rate for unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
operated in the PRC and Taiwan are 5% and 21%, respectively. As at
31 December 2020, deferred income tax liabilities of RMB8,365,000
(2019: RMB8,576,000) have not been recognised for withholding tax that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain PRC and Taiwan
subsidiaries of RMB124,571,000 (2019: RMB147,327,000) as such
accounts will be reinvested.
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11 EEFERERE (kE(EHE2 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
B {7 61) (55622%) 553831 (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
(AE) (REBEEZHmER) R 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
B (538622GE) REFALTHM ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
I 357 88 E3Kk) (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING

RULES)
(a) EEKRSTHRAEMNE (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
HE_ZZEF+-A=1+—HLHFE> The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
KANBBEZZMESHIIWT - year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

REARESAAHEFARNESZENARMNE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HREZEH

EYNGE

HFARZER

B2 EMEH
BT R H
Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

HEHES director’s
B{IBfIE  other services
BERHER FEf3%M  in connection

HEIf5  Remuneration with the
EERZ Employer’s paid or  management
f&st#E  contribution receivable  of the affairs
Estimated toa in respect of of the
HETEA HE2M money retirement accepting  Company or
e #%  Discretionary Housing value of benefit office as its subsidiary st
ESL Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits scheme director undertaking Total
AEEFR AEBF7T AREFRT AEEF7 AEBF7T AREF7T AEEFT ARBF7T AEEF7T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WTES Executive directors
BEWEE Mr CHIEN Yi-Pin - - - = = = = - -
EhfEns Mr CAl Liting

(#iTR) (Chief Executive Officer)

(Hizti) (Note j) - - - - - - - - -
BRELE Mr KAO, Chao Yang = = = = o - - - -
BEMEL Mr. CHENG, Yee Pun - 1,038 186 - - 16 - - 1,240
et Sub-total - 1,038 186 - - 16 - - 2
FHTES Non-executive directors
Eiiba ik Mr TSE Tik Yang, Denis

(Hiztvii) (Note vi) - - - - - - _ - _
JEON Eui Jong  Mr JEON Eui Jong (Note iv)

& (Hstiv) - - - = - - - - -
BIUIEHRTES  Independent non-executive

directors
BRELE Mr TANG Tin Lok Stephen 107 - - - - - - - 107
BEAREE Mr KAN Ji Ran Laurie 107 - - = = o - - 107
e Mr CHEN Timothy

(Hiztv) (Note v) 27 - - - = = = - 27
RERUR Prof. ZHANG Xiaoguan

(Wiatvi) (Note vj) 80 - - = = s = - 80
NGt Sub-total 321 - - = = o - - 321
@it Total 321 1,038 186 - - 16 - - 1,561
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11 EEHFRIES (KE(EE2 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
622E) 353831%K (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION

(AE) ((WBEEFMEER R 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
A) (35622GE) REE LHHR ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
A EEXR) @ (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a) EEKBRSTHRAEMNSE (& (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)
HE_Z—hWF+A=+—HLEFE> The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
KRNBZEEZMEWT - year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:

REAREARTHEFRATESZENARANE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HREEEM

RRAFE

HFARZEE
EHZEMBRE

B R

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

HRENES director's
BABME  other services

EERIER FEFTEE  in connection
St Remuneration with the
HitgR 2z Employer's paidor  management
hEti(E contribution receivable of the affairs
Estimated toa in respect of of the
WETEA 2 money retirement accepting Company or
ik #¢ Discretionary Housing value of benefit officeas its subsidiary st
BRL Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits scheme director undertaking Total
NEBF NEEFT NEBTFm NEBFr NEEFT NEBTFm NEBFr NEEFT NEBF
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000
HiTES Executive directors
BEWEE Mr CHIEN Yi-Pin - - - - - - - - _
EhiEnk Mr. CAI Liting

#i7k) (Chief Executive Officer)

(Histi) (Note j) - - - - _ _ _ _ _
BESEE Mr. KAO, Shih-Chung

(#7R) (Chief Executive Offcer)

(Wistir) (Note i) - 435 - - - 8 - - 443
BRERE Mr. KAO, Chao Yang - - - - - - - - -
BERLE Mr. CHENG, Yee Pun - 996 184 - - 16 - - 1,196
Nt Sub-total - 1,431 184 - - 24 - - 1,639
FRTES Non-executive directors
HBErE Mr TSE Tik Yang, Denis

(Wztvir) (Note vij) - - - - - _ _ _ _
LEE Eung Sang  Mr LEE Eung Sang (Note /i)

K& (W) - - - - - - - _ _
JEON Eui Jong  Mr. JEON Eui Jong (Note i)

K5 (Hativ) - - - - - - - _ _
BIUIFRTES  Independent non-executive

directors
BRETE Mr TANG Tin Lok Stephen 105 - - - - - - - 105
BoAxE Mr KAN Ji Ran Laurie 105 - - - - - - - 105
BEERE Mr CHEN Timothy (Note 1)

(Hiatv) 105 - - - - - - - 105
gt Sub-total 315 - - - - - - - 315
st Total 315 1,431 184 - - 24 - - 1,954
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(a)

(b)

EEkEaITHRASME (&

Weti: RIZ-hAE+ZA+ILBEZE
BRTEERITE

MEti: RIZ—hAE+ZBA+NLBEHER
TEERITE

Miski: WRIZZ—AE=BZ+/N\BETF
HITESR

Mekiv: DR ZZTE—AE=Z=BEZ+/\BX
B —H=ZB=+—HEZEA
EBEFERITES

Msv: RIZ_TEE=B=+—HTH
UIERITES

Miztvi: RIZTEF=ZA=+—HEZF
AEUFRITES

Mistvic MRZZTZFEF+ ATt HREIER
TEE

Mf&vii: PARK Ho JinfeEM B - —4=8
=+ —BHESZEBIFRITES

TEREHMAL

AEEFRNIRERSHMALTH -85

B=x (T
NI

T—NF I —) RZFHIZS
@)z e

FREMGRTEE (CTE—AF mE) A

11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

Note i:

Note ii:

Note iii:

Note iv:

Note v:

Note vi:

Note vii:

Note viii:

Appointed as executive director and Chief Executive Officer on 19
December 2019

Resigned as executive director and Chief Executive Officer on 19
December 2019

Resigned as a non-executive director on 28 March 2019

Appointed and resigned as a non-executive director on 28 March
2019 and 31 March 2021, respectively

Resigned as independent non-executive director on 31 March 2020

Appointed as independent non-executive director on 31 March

2020

Resigned as a non-executive director on 7 December 2020

Mr. PARK Ho Jin was appointed as a non-executive director on 31
March 2021

Five highest paid individuals

One of the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year were directors (2019: one) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 11(a).

The emoluments payable to the remaining four (2019: four)

T2 EBIT individuals during the year are as follows:
BT E “E-hHF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEHEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BEATE FREA B Ha R Basic salaries, housing allowances,
K EYEF share options, other allowances

and benefits in kind 3,467 1,619
FER NS Rk Contribution to pension scheme 101 225
TE4T Bonuses 1,551 934
5,119 2,778
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(b)

(c)

()

(e)

aAnEEHEMAL &)

BRALZHMEUTEER

11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The emoluments of the remaining individuals fell within the following

bands:
A
Number of individuals

—EZEHE —E—-NE

2020 2019

T E AR #1,000,00070 Nil to RMB1,000,000 - 4
A 1,000,001t 2 AR %1,500,00075 RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 3 -
AR #1,500,0017c 2 AR 12,000,00075 RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 1 -

EEZRAEMNRBERF

FRNHEESEMHERAFTRRAKRAFAT
2 (H AR 75 M 2 UK ER 30 U EAE AT 4R R 48
A BB (T2 —NF  E) e

MERUESREMEFE=ZAZAE

FRAABLEREABDEREES
RBMAERNE=FHTEDAE (CF
—NEFE) e

EMERES HEEFZBEHEA
MRS R WA AUERE
HitR 52 HH

RERNFEREERRE FRBHEAF
ZFRE) WER) TEIUEREE F
EREFEFNZEZANBENEATAES
AMEZBEZENER BUERKE
th2Z (CE—NEF  H) -

(c) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services to the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year (2019: Nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services to the
Company (2019: Nil).
(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
controlled entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of the Company, where
applicable, in favor of the directors, or body corporate controlled
by or entities connected with any of the directors at the end of the
year or at any time during the year (2019: Nil).
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12

ERE RS (KIE(EBAQ 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
=) R B ) (556228) 5538315 » (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
(n8) (MEBEEEFNmEN) A 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
B (538622GE) REFALTHM ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
AlRTEER) @ (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RU LES) (continued)
(f) EBESENXZ THIASHPZEXAR (f)  Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts
RERFERETAERE > XABEEHE No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
EARNB2HITRAEBRERER 2 to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
BEARG ZHARGHNTERNEEES which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
FRAEAFR (CE—AF 8 o directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2019: Nil).
SRREF 12 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) E=&E (a) Basic
BREABADREFARNLBD BT Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
BAEGEABRUBETZER (FEIE attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
EERS) EFHEaEtE- average number of ordinary shares in issue excluding treasury
shares, during the year.
ZEEHE —Z-hE
2020 2019
NAB DT B ARG EF] Profit attributable to equity holders of the
(AR F) Company (RMB’000) 14,634 11,575
BEITEBERMETSH Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(FA2) in issue ("000) 654,863 654,964
G EARF] Basic earnings per share
(195 HA ZN R B (rounded to RMB cents) 2.23 1.77
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(b)

e

SRBEEMNBEREETEERINE
FHE UBRERMEREECEBRESR
;mmst B - RIBERES B/ FHITHR
DREANBTEETZER RETIR
ATEEERFTLADRMEAMEBNER
BHENTHE WENRNEE ER
BARTEBREMWNDEENERE
BEEHEE PG ENROBEELR
RERBECTEMAIZETHROBER
tE#R o

HE-F_FER-_F-AE+ A
St—HLEE aRBRELREEN
B ERESRNRSRESRTZ S
DR

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Shares issuable
under the share option schemes are the only dilutive potential
ordinary shares. A calculation is made in order to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average daily quoted market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, dilutive
earnings per share was of the same amount as the basic earnings
per share as the share options were anti-dilutive.
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13 BMEEE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
IS B RS ER
Acquired
computer
software
ANEBTFT
RMB’000
R-_E—h&—HA—H At 1 January 2019
27N Cost 9,686
R Accumulated amortization (7,249)
BREEE Net book amount 2,437
HE_ZT—hAE+HA=+—BHILEE Year ended 31 December 2019
HA¥IERER(E Opening net book amount 2,437
hE Additions 2,087
iy (Wat7) Amortisation (Note 7) (2,434)
MREREFE Closing net book amount 2,090
A_E—NE+_A=+—BK At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020
—E2F—A—H
D% Cost 11,773
R Accumulated amortization (9,683)
EREFE Net book amount 2,090
HE_Z-_EH5+_A=+—HLEE Year ended 31 December 2020
ARV AR R B Opening net book amount 2,090
NE Additions 166
s (at7) Amortisation (Note 7) (994)
BARERERE Closing net book amount 1,262
RZZE_EH+"-_B=+—H At 31 December 2020
[N Cost 11,939
RET Accumulated amortization (10,677)
BREFE Net book amount 1,262
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14 Y)E - BB R=HE 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R EE
EliEE HEWMERE Rt et

Furniture,

Computer Leasehold fixtures and
equipment improvements equipment Total
ARETFT ARBEFT ARBEFT ARBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

RZE2”_ZE£—H—H At 1 January 2020

[N Cost 26,601 4,431 14,442 45,474
REtineE Accumulated depreciation (16,745) (3,122) (13,596) (33,463)
IREEE Net book amount 9,856 1,309 846 12,011

HEE_TZ-_ZEF+”"H=+—H Year ended 31 December 2020

LHEE

HBYRESEE Opening net book amount 9,856 1,309 846 12,011
[ERETE Exchange difference 12 2) (3) 7
hE Additions 8,737 90 208 9,035
HE Disposals (15) - - (15)
e (Wa7) Depreciation (Note 7) (5,752) (638) (174) (6,564)
HRERmEE Closing net book amount 12,838 759 877 14,474

NZE-EF+-"H=+—H At 31 December 2020

B A Cost 35,325 4,518 14,647 54,490
REtinE Accumulated depreciation (22,487) (3,759) (13,770) (40,016)
IREFE Net book amount 12,838 759 877 14,474
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14 ME-KBR=B @

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

RINKE
BiikE HEWMEEE B HEr
Furniture,
Computer Leasehold fixtures and
equipment improvements equipment Total
ANEBFT AEBFT ANREEFT ANREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RZZ2—h&E—HA—H At 1 January 2019
B A Cost 53,214 4,431 14,607 72,252
REITE Accumulated depreciation (17,568) (1,919) (13,537) (33,024)
IREFE Net book amount 35,646 2,512 1,070 39,228
BE_Z—hEF Year ended 31 December 2019
+=B=+—HILEE
B EREDR (B Opening net book amount 11,602 2,512 1,070 15,184
P& T2 A= 2R Exchange difference 117 - 2 119
AE Additions 3,051 - 45 3,096
HE Disposals (81) - (108) (189)
Ee (Hfzt7) Depreciation (Note 7) (4,833) (1,203) (163) (6,199)
BARERERME Closing net book amount 9,856 1,309 846 12,011
RZZE—NE+ZHB=+—H At31 December 2019
B A Cost 26,601 4,431 14,442 45,474
RETITE Accumulated depreciation (16,745) (3,122) (13,596) (33,463)
ERMEFE Net book amount 9,856 1,309 846 12,011
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14 MFE-HEREE @ 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (ontinued)
Wizt Notes:
(a) FREENITERSHABRIOBRNOT : (a) Depreciation incurred during the year is charged to the consolidated income

statement as follows:

—ECEHE —E—-hE
2020 2019
ARBEFT ANBWEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
SHE R A& Cost of sales 3,264 1,827
THE RAAHMAS Selling and distribution expenses 80 36
— M RITHREX: General and administrative expenses 3,209 4,256
SiEEE Research and development expenses 11 80
TERTE Total depreciation 6,564 6,199
15 FRHESEEREEER 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES
(i) NEHEEEBRDPHEI ZSEE () Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
EHEEEERYIRT T EBRBEEZ The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts
T relating to leases:
ZEZEHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERHEEE Right-of-use assets
BB Computer equipment 27,790 37,174
b YNES Offices 4,017 4,328
RE Vehicles 11 144
31,818 41,646
HEasE Lease liabilities
RE Current 12,277 12,962
IR Non-current 17,108 28,389
29,385 41,351
FRABEEAREEEAR AREKS,070,000 Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were
T (ZE—h&E . ARMK25,660,000) ° RMB3,070,000 (2019: RMB25,660,000).
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15 FRHESEREEEE® 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)
(i) FHRAEEENE (ii) Measurement of right-of-use assets
ERAERAEEEANTEIEERR ! The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of
assets:
EEE WAE RE wmt
Computer
equipment Offices Vehicles Total
ANEBFT AEBFT AEBEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RZZE—hE—H—H At1 January 2019 24,044 11,512 361 35,917
AE Additions 20,454 5,206 - 25,660
es (Mat7) Depreciation (Note 7) (8,661) (3,993) (217) (12,871)
HE Disposal - (8,401) - (8,401)
BB 70 = &8 Exchange differences 1,337 4 - 1,341
N ZE—NE At 31 December 2019
+-A=+—H 37,174 4,328 144 41,646
RZZZZH—H—H At 1 January 2020 37,174 4,328 144 41,646
NE Additions - 3,070 - 3,070
e (BaE7) Depreciation (Note 7) (9,443) (3,147) (133) (12,723)
fE R =R Exchange differences 59 (234) - (175)
N B EE At 31 December 2020
+-B=+—H 27,790 4,017 11 31,818
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15 FRAEEEREEGRE®

162

(iii)

(iv)

REHABRPERIZEHE

GHABRIRT T AREEZ R

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

(iii)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following amounts
relating to leases:

ZEIEE —Z-NEF

2020 2019

AREFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HEaGEMNERE Interest expense for lease liabilities 1,213 1,742
BN EBRRMZMAX Expenses relating to short-term leases 341 1,325

HERZZ-ZFRRHBESA
K 1514,653,00070 (ZZ2—NF : AR
18,099,0007T) °

FEBMZHEEFHREAREGZE

FEBEEZERAE -BRRE KRS
B HEGNERAETERRIEEIE-

HEFRRZENEERZ TEIEET
() B9 5 R R A6 4 o 7B 5 173 5 A~ Bt A0 A ) 22
H EREARANEEEEFLEE
mRi - HEEERSBFEERTA

(iv)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was RMB14,653,000
(2019: RMB18,099,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, computer equipment and
vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1
year to 4 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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16 N—HHEATIR—MBEEE 16 INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A

EZrRE JOINT VENTURE
R—EHERARAR—Ba8bx2REZEF) The movements of investments in an associate and a joint venture is as
wmr follows:
ZEIEHE —Z—hEFE
2020 2019
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
w—A—H At 1 January = -
AE (Ma3) Capital contributions (Note (i) 4 353
DIEAEEEE Share of loss for current year (4) (353)
BW+-B=+—H At 31 December - -
UTFTHIWNAEBRR _ZE_EFRZE—LLF Set out below is the details of the associate and a joint venture of the
+_B=t+—HZHEADREELEFF- Group as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. The associate and a joint
TXFABE RN REELEZRAERTE venture as listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary
RABRL  HAEEBZEES- shares, which is held indirectly by the Group.
RIE_EFER_E—NF+B=+—H" Details of the principal investments in an associate and a joint venture as
R—EHERARAREGELEZFELEFBN at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
o
EEMEBE I
ERLE o i B 32 B 2K FRE#EZE DL RFREE SERHE
Place of
business/
country
establishment/ % of ownership Nature of
Name of entity incorporation interest the relationship Measurement method
—EBECTE —T—hE
2020 2019
FITEHEREBRRAE  FEH 15% 15%  Hiati %
(u'ﬁ]gu)
The PRC Note i Equity method
Retail Hardware Solutions 3£ 50.1% =1 e m A
LLC (T Retail Hardware |)
Retail Hardware Solutions United States Note ii Equity method

LLC (“Retail Hardware”)
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ﬁ’:‘—F’ﬁEﬁﬁ%’z}a BE—RB&%¥% 16 INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A

EZRE® JOINT VENTURE (continued)

oz Note:

(i) BRA—RBR-ZE—NAE_BZ+tHEMK 0] R is a limited liability company incorporated on 27 February 2019. It
UZBRAE cZABINWERMEVPANEL T8 F was engaged in the provision of interactive video conference and other loT
1@ TR B R IE S % R H A i AR A R solutions under the brand name of VPANEL. On 26 March 2019, the Group
FR-NRIE—NFE=BZ+H &xE@TL entered into an investment agreement to acquire 15% shareholding of &5
— R EREUZREAR353,0007T Y iE at consideration of RMB353,000, which was settled by injection of intangible
BR15%KE KBUEIARREEZAER assets of the Group at equivalent value to & 5#, the fair value of which was
BREEEZFAGE HRATFTERFTEBIS determined by an independent qualified valuer in the PRC. The injected
BERGEMEE -FMIABFEEALERNRN intangible assets are softwares and trademark internally generated by the
BEEZHHREZE AL REBERARZESE Group. As a result, a gain on investment in an associate was recognised as
WHmERBE_S—NEFE+A=+—HIEF other gains during the year ended 31 December 2019.

BB AEMUE -

(i) RIZEZEFZAZ+NAH ARATEETFTA (ii) On 29 February 2020, Maxnerva Technology Services US LLC, a wholly
S]Maxnerva Technology Services US LLCELE owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a shareholder agreement
UBE=ZFURRGHE LRI —EEaERE with an independent third party to establish a joint venture, Retail Hardware,
Retail Hardware » 5% /A 5] 2 — B 7% 35 B 5% ffit A% 32 which is a limited liability company incorporated in the United States. The
HNEREELAB AEBELES01ET BER Group contributed USD501 (equivalent to RMB4,000) and hold 50.1% of
AR #4,0007T) » 5B Retail Hardware 50.1%HY equity shares of Retail Hardware. The Group classified its investment in Retail
&1 o < 5 B8 H A Retail HardwareJ18 & 7348 Hardware as a joint venture. It was engaged in provision of temperature
AEELE - HNENEZERMERERAME screening access control devices in the US.

BEo
BREAEERHE R REErEIERA There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in an
Mz AEE. associate and a joint venture.
2 SEvs S =
HAFESFABHEZEMEE 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

BERAFEFABRSECEMEEGCET Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the following:

FEIE -

—EEHE —Z-NE
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

ERBEE Non-current assets

AR ES (B2 0) Convertible bond (Note (i) = 3,553

JEEHRE (Ha2(0) Unlisted investment (Note (i) 16,318 13,976

16,318 17,529
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17 BAFES A EmZEMEE

(&)

(i

RIE—AFZAZ+HH x&EBEBE=H
BITABEEFNEXA3.5%ILHR2418 8 A2 H
2 B 1 §& (8% E{E600,000% 7T (FHEN AR
4,224,00070) (MEERTHARRES ) ©
RIEZZE+A=+—H AEEHR—B
VR HBET AT ARG S U RERE
# A £ REHE5885,100E 75 Hh EIIRE R
& &5 MR & K s F) B 9 5] %600,000% 7T
$235,100% 75 » MU K& 889 A %250,000% 7t (18
ERARK1,732,0007) (TFaTpRES ) ©
MARERESNIPEEREZS =98
+H EMEAIL% - EREPAE AR
REBHYBEREE2BABIRERS R EIE
SAEEMARTAZERR RBAMHHM
Bz B s o

ZEAMRESZ ATFEHBLGEAR-F
EFEREB-NE+_B=+—HEE-A
FEBRATEER= (F53.2) - ATFEZH
REMHFIERTH M (B8 /B8 PR

=
Bt ©

HREEEBRA N2 ZFE+"A=+—
B MaRESETAGTEEANFERE
M BB AEBMHAIRKRESRENA S
EHEN-A R_B-_EE+_/B=+—H"
AR ESHNAFERS

R_E—NE+—B+_0 x&EEEBIFE
=HEET72,916R M L% IF L EERE
22.08% > f{{B%2,000,000& 7T (FHER AR
14,048,0007t) * R ZZEZZTF A B /N\H K&
EEZELE = HEE18,2208 5B INE 2 14
ZIE L ERE0.5% M AR HE - {8 %500,000% 7T
(HHE R AR #3,464,0007T) ©

WREAA—REFUNEMNZIMRILIZBRA
B TEFINEERFERETRERZERM
ity AR BRI BRI 2 R R R B R o

FEFREZAFERBIGEOIN -2 R
FRZIZE-AFE+B=+—HEE-AFE
BRATEER= (W:E3.2) - ATEEZHINEG
HFIBRIEM (5518 Wak BRI R -

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i

On 25 February 2019, the Group purchased convertible bonds of USD600,000
(equivalent to RMB4,224,000) at an interest rate of 3.5% per annum and
matured in 24 months from a third party issuer (“old CB”).

On 31 October 2020, the Group entered into an amendment agreement with
the same third party issuer to revise the principal amount of the convertible
bonds to USD885,100, which include the principal and accrued interest of
the old CB of USD600,000 and USD35,100, respectively, and an additional
principal of USD250,000 (equivalent to RMB1,732,000) (“new CB”). The
maturity date of the new CB is extended to 10 February 2023 and with an
interest rate at 3.5% per annum. Whether before or after the maturity date,
the Group has the right to convert all or a portion of the outstanding principal
amount and all accrued interest into fully paid and non-assessable shares of
the issuer.

The fair value of these convertible bonds were determined by an independent
valuer as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. The fair value is within level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy (Note 3.2). Changes in fair value were recognised in “other
(losses)/gains, net” in the consolidated income statement.

As management considered that the new CB issuer has a significant going
concern issue as at 31 December 2020, the chance of recovering the Group’s
investment in the new CB is remote. The fair value of the new CB was nil as at
31 December 2020.

On 12 November 2019, the Group purchased 72,916 shares from an
independent third party, representing 2.03% of shareholdings of an unlisted
entity at consideration of USD2,000,000 (equivalent to RMB14,048,000).
On 8 May 2020, the Group purchased 18,229 additional shares from this
independent third party, representing 0.5% of shareholdings of the unlisted
entity at consideration of USD500,000 (equivalent to RMB3,464,000).

The investee, a limited liability company incorporated in Delaware, is mainly
focus on the first digital and fully-scalable sensing technology to solve the
noise immunity and tuning challenges of traditional touch sensors.

The fair value of the unlisted investment was determined by an independent
valuer as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. The fair value is within level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy (Note 3.2). Changes in fair value were recognised in “other
(losses)/gains, net” in the consolidated income statement.
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BRATEAAEGZEMEE 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

#) PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
ZERRNFEFABRCEMEERETTS These financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated
Bo in USD.
EHEE AFTEAEPRAZEER EREX Refer to Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements for information
Bk F2RAA MM BIRERMNES.20 about the valuation methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value.
=8 18 INVENTORIES
—EZEHE —Z-NEF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e R Hardware and software 28,080 35,047
BEEE Provision for impairment (4,899) (4,319)
FE— B Inventories — net 23,181 30,728
Mt Notes:

(i)

(i

R BRIt AR EBEBEIEHE MK (i

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost of sales

FEMEAA AR359,819,0007t (ZE— N5 attributable to the Group’s operations amounted to RMB359,819,000 (2019:
AR #263,966,0007T) ° RMB263,966,000).
GFERBESHNT (ii) Movement in the provision for inventories is as follows:
ZECZE —E-hE
2020 2019
AEEFT ANEWETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REH] At the beginning of the year 4,319 2,032
FERERE Provision for impairment of inventories 580 2,287
REXR At the end of the year 4,899 4,319

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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19

BNEERSHNER

FEERCHEITIEAETREGNERZEEKRE

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related to

& : contracts with customers:
—E-EHE —ZT-AE
2020 2019
ok AEBBFT ANEHEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
EHEE Contract assets
—%=h — third parties 341 1,088
—REEATL - related parties 187 435
BENEE Total contract assets (a) 528 1,523
AHaE Contract liabilities
—$=5A — third parties 10,877 2,480
—BAEAT - related parties 2,429 3,403
wEHNBE Total contract liabilities (b) 13,306 5,883

BHNEE

GHEETZHRAEREINRE B H
EEmERREEIRAEZRAE
il e BB ER RIS BFREFEE
P& WRRIE ©

AR AEREEANKEBERGENRE
BRAMREHEDRE GHNEEEMA

7N
Mo

GMNBEEZREEBLEEQATEMEE-

(a)

Contract assets

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to receive
consideration for work completed but not billed as at the reporting
date. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the
rights become unconditional.

Contract assets decreased as the Group has provided fewer
services ahead of the agreed payment schedules for the I.T.

projects.

The carrying amounts of contract assets approximate their fair
values.
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19 SHEERGHNER® 19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) BHHE®E (b) Contract liabilities
BHEBETERBEENARNERZA The contract liabilities primarily relate to the deposits or payments
M ERIEHRZRBELERE Z1ZE received in advance for sales of goods not yet delivered to
IRBER - WATARRNE L FRIEHE customers or services not yet performed. Revenue is recognised
AR 75 B e 820 o when goods are delivered to customers or when services are
performed.
HRERANMZHEEER  aNasdam Contract liabilities have increased due to timing difference in
0o payments by customers.

TRV ARSAEESE 2 WA F R The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
EESNBERR R - in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities.

ZECTHE “Z—hF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FTABI S4B (BiZER Revenue recognised that was included in
B A the contract liabilities balance at the
beginning of the period
FEU R IE Receipts in advance 2,216 7,879
TRINBEECERERHENEEZRE The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
TRHNEE- resulting from fixed-price long-term contracts.
ZEIEE “Z=-NEF
2020 2019
AEREFIT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R+ A=+—HZEEZH75 Aggregate amount of the transaction price
EERIETTRASH allocated to long-term contracts that
ZREESBEEEE are partially or fully unsatisfied as at
31 December
AiBiE—F Not later than one year 23,502 26,728
Bl —FRABEAF Later than one year and
not later than five years 32,643 50,492
56,145 77,220
FMEHMENZHARA—FHER iR All other contracts are for periods of one year or less or are
BREENHGE RESBMBERSEE billed based on time incurred. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
BIE15SE 2 e "I EZEXREBITEN transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
ZRHBEERIEE- disclosed.
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20 EXREERWIRIE 20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES
—ECEE —E-hE
2020 2019
AEBBFT ANE¥EFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
S EWARIE (K5t (@) Trade receivables (Note (a))

—%=h — third parties 158,552 132,814
—REEATL - related parties 97,349 146,577
__________________________________________________________________ g5_5_,9_0_1_ | 279,391
RMEEERBIRIE a5 () Finance leases receivables — total (Note (c)) 8,253 9,277
SHERAEEWERIE —43%8 (B73#(d)) Trade and lease receivables — gross (Note (d)) 264,154 288,668
B EBEIREE (WAEwm) Less: loss allowance (Note (b)) (62,154) (62,314)
EENRAERINRE—F5E Trade and lease receivables — net 202,000 226,354

B EERBERWIRTE Less: trade and lease receivables —

—JEmBE (D non-current portion (20,557) (28,353)
HERLBEEKREE - RENIGN Trade and lease receivables — current portion 181,443 198,001
EELAEREKREEREEHEEQAFER The carrying amounts of trade and lease receivables approximate their
e fair values.
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eske ‘= N .
20 EXREERWIREE @ 20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)
Wizt Notes:
(a) FEBZKRIENHEEEER—HRNF=1+XE (@)  Majority of the Group’s sales are made with credit terms generally ranging
NTRALE - EERBWNREREZHBZRER from 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on
DI - invoice date is as follows:
S 3~ —Z-NF
2020 2019
ARETFT ANEBBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DRA+TX Less than 60 days 131,277 170,493
NTERE—BZ+X 60 days to 120 days 37,324 23,997
—Bt+t—XkEZBA~TEX 121 days to 360 days 17,330 23,344
BiB=H/ 1+ X Over 360 days 69,970 61,557
255,901 279,391

170

(b)

RIZ-BE+-A=+—H > SE£EKERE
YAREB2,154,0007C (ZE—NE: AR
62,314,0007T) % BiRE K 2 8 EE - BRI
ERFE I IE A R 58,889,000 T = & H R 7
AR UMEERENERER BE_T %
FE+ZA=+—BItEE REBRENEY
EERAEERBEEFHNEEREEA AR
3,265,00075 (ZB— L4 : ) o

EREERAERBIRB GIEREET &
2 BN EE3.1(b)(ii)

(b)

At 31 December 2020, trade receivables of approximately RMB62,154,000
(2019: RMB62,314,000) were impaired and fully provided for. The individually
impaired receivables of RMB58,889,000 mainly relate to customers who are
in unexpected economic difficulties. During the year ended 31 December
2020, loss allowance for trade and lease receivables on collective basis of
RMB3,265,000 were made (2019: Nil).

Movement in the loss allowances for trade and lease receivables refer to note
3.1(b)(ii).

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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ete = _ .
20 EXREERKIRE @ 20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Wizt (& Notes: (continued)

(c) MEHESEWIRE (c)  Finance leases receivables
RIEZEFRIE-AFE+ZBA=+—H% The reconciliation between the gross investment in the lease and the present
HEXELrREEKRBEEFRENRENEN value of the minimum lease payments receivable at as 31 December 2020 and
T 2019 is as follows:

—EERE —ZT—NEF
2020 2019
ARETFT ANEBETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JERENFE U TR IE Non-current receivables
MERE-EUERIB4R%E Finance leases — gross receivables 8,428 9,907
RBEENRLE W Unearned finance income (1,250) (1,654)
7,178 8,253
TR EN FE U TR IE Current receivables
MERE-EERIE4R%E Finance leases — gross receivables 1,479 1,479
RBEEN R E W Unearned finance income (404) (455)
1,075 1,024
—E-EE —Z-AF
2020 2019
ARBETFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RLE R SR REURRIEAREE ¢ Gross receivables from finance leases:
— BB —F - No later than 1 year 1,479 1,479
——FEMEZME - Between 1 year and 2 years 1,479 1,479
—MEE=F2H - Between 2 years and 3 years 1,479 1,479
—=—FFNOFH - Between 3 years and4 years 1,479 1,479
—NEERFZME - Between 4 years and 5 years 1,479 1,479
—BBAF - Later than 5 years 2,512 3,991
9,907 11,386
FEHERBREA KRR E W @ Unearned future finance income on finance leases (1,654) (2,109)
8,253 9,277
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SEREEEWIRIE @ 20

Wit (&
(c) FRBEASEKWIRE @)

RIE_ZFE+_B=+—H &HEDNE
HOERIOENMEREHELHETZEAE
ZRIBE (CE—NE R -HREHNETER
R—EREEREGFERNEE BEPERZR
%) WRRMIGERARE mMESHEERR ZE
HELEEREESETAEA WMZEEEN
—EmEREE-

TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Notes: (continued)

(c) Finance leases receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the balance represents a smart school project under

two finance leases arrangements for 9 years and 10 years respectively (2019:

same). The project constitutes a finance lease since the contract conveys the
right to control the use of identified assets, the equipment used under this

project, for a period of time in exchange for consideration and at the end of
the lease term, these leased assets will be transferred to the leasee without

any consideration.

(d) Trade and lease receivables are denominated in following currencies:

(d) EEREAEREIRBENTIESE:

—EoEE —E-AE

2020 2019

AREFT ABHEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR RMB 121,959 168,912
ESSH UsD 125,239 94,973
Wmas NTD 16,956 24,783
264,154 288,668

BRftmE R REMEBKRRE 21

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

—E_THE —E-NE
2020 2019
AEBBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

JETENER Non-current portion
AT FRIA (f13E(a) Prepayments (Note (a)) 199 373

RENER Current portion

BT HRIE (Wit (a) Prepayments (Note (a)) 32,491 9,018
FENHEE Rental prepayments 146 259
HhaJ W [El1iR 18 Other tax recoverable 166 84
H W R IE Other receivables 1,457 2,083
B R Less: loss allowance (98) (98)
34,162 11,346
B FREE AN TRIB (Wit (a) Prepayment to a related party (Note (a)) 50 42
34,212 11,388
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22

FEMRIE-REREMMEWWRIE 21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

# RECEIVABLES (continued)

Wizt Notes:

(a) RIZ2_EFR_ZF-AF+A=+—8" (a) As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, prepayments mainly represented
ENREBEFrEANEERREFEZBNER payments in advance to suppliers for the purchases of inventories and prepaid
KRFENMHEEMZ rental expenses.

FEMNRE -ZeREMEURREULTIE LS Prepayments, deposits and other receivables are denominated in

B: following currencies:

—ECEHE —ZE—hHF
2020 2019
ANEBEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BT HK$ 1,546 331

AR RMB 30,497 9,687

E7T usb 12 -

el NTD 1,760 1,743

s E (TEEE) Vietnamese dong (“VND”) 596 -

34,411 11,761

RERHEFEY 22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

—EZEHF —E-hHE
2020 2019
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BTRE MEASHNRAEERR Cash at banks, maximum exposure to credit risk 212,369 183,779

FERE Cash on hand 67 7

RERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 212,436 183,786

ROTRESENFEFRARESHRITERENX
0.01%E1.75%AFENFIXBHIAE (ZF—N,
F R - UMARBHEZAEAARERE R
ReEBYERRTEMNIBIT BZEUAR
M EERRRRINEUREREPEEIN
Y978 % <7 R B BT A8 1 B9 9 BB B AR B R 3R
Eo

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates of 0.01% to 1.75% per annum during the year (2019: same). The
Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB are deposited
with banks in PRC. The conversion of these RMB-denominated balances
into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds out of PRC is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the government of the PRC.
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22 RERREEEBY @ 22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

RERREFBYLUTIERFE:

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in following currencies:

ZEZTHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HK$ 1,858 2,639
AR RMB 153,026 126,934
ETT UsbD 31,218 48,936
mat NTD 26,302 5,277
g VND 32 -
212,436 183,786
23 FEFTEXEERIA 23 TRADE PAYABLES

ZEZEHE “Z2—-hHF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

eI 2RI Trade payables
—$=5 - third parties 98,946 99,445
—RIEANTL — related parties 5,671 3,271
104,617 102,716

AP EEBET 2 EERNF=+EE+E
X (CB—NE:FE) FZo

The majority of the suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 75
days (2019: same).

A EERERERARZREDNUT !

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

follows:
—ECTRF —E—NE
2020 2019
ANEHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Y At N Less than 60 days 90,912 89,514
ANTXE—EB_I+X 60 days to 120 days 12,390 12,244
BB —B_tX Over 120 days 1,315 958
104,617 102,716
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23 BIEXERE@® 23 TRADE PAYABLES (continued)
FETE2RIBU T EHEE - Trade payables are denominated in following currencies:
=Sl <3:- 3 —ZE-NF
2020 2019
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 64,944 62,906
E7T usD 29,989 35,908
maks NTD 9,684 3,902
104,617 102,716
24 EstERKRHEMEMRIE 24 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

-G 5:- 3 “E-hHF
2020 2019
ARBHEFT AEIEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEAT Hr & R ACAL Accrued salaries and bonuses 19,397 18,670
FESTRERE Accrued operating expenses 3,543 2,457
HE IR I Other tax payables 1,117 4,258
Hh (T E Other payables 4,562 4,835
28,619 30,220

FETE AR EMENRBEBUTIE K E ! Accruals and other payables are denominated in following currencies:
BT —=E-NF
2020 2019
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HK$ 2,501 2,114
AR RMB 17,918 21,692
ETT UusbD 949 -
maks NTD 7,251 6,414
28,619 30,220
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fe 7 e B (7 i (B

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

f& Zs Share capital
KA &E &
Number of Nominal
shares value
FR ANEEFT
‘000 RMB’000
RZZ2—hHF—F—H As at 1 January 2019 662,239 65,111
B 17 B[Ol Ke sk 88 (W7 5E) Shares repurchased and cancelled (Note) (7,376) (632)
N_E2—hhE+_A=+—H" As at 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020
—EZF—F—HK and 31 December 2020
—T=H+_-_B=+—H 654,863 64,479
s E Share premium
ANEEFT
RMB’000
RZIZ—nHF—F—H As at 1 January 2019 191,340
Re1n Bl Re sk 88 (A 5%) Shares repurchased and cancelled (Note) (3,829)

RIZE-—AF+ZA=+—H"
. =
“E2TE2F+"B=+—H

As at 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020

187,511

Mat -

HE_Z—hLERIZE—NF+ZAE=+—HBLF
B> RAABZ—BFRBUEK0.69EITE0.77ETH
BEREEHERXZMAERABHEE&7,376,0008

7T (HHER AR4,461,0007T) ~EFER_E—N\FER
B=+H2THKREBEFEAE FESEBRIAATR
BoBREERMENR-S—NFHEA=+HA=EH-
I ERA QB EETRADHIBZSRG Z@mE E
EIRFRZ ERM AN EEERMEERPING 48
EREFHERNMEENSBEEARARRERAERE
EeNEElE -

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, a subsidiary of the Company
repurchased a total of 7,376,000 of its own shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited at prices ranging from HK$0.69 to HK$0.77 per share for a total
consideration, excluding expenses, of approximately HK$5,205,000 (equivalent to
RMB4,461,000). The directors were authorized to repurchase shares of the Company
at the annual general meeting held on 30 May 2018. The repurchased shares were
cancelled before 30 April 2019. Accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced by the nominal value of these shares and the premiums paid on these
shares upon the repurchase were charged against the share premium account, an
amount equivalent to the par value of the shares canceled was transferred from the
Company’s retained earnings to the capital redemption reserve.

FR.1ET
B EE BRESER BREEER BERE
Number of Highest Lowest Aggregate
shares of price price consideration
BEAMG Month of purchase HK$0.1 each per share per share paid
TR Hr Er FET
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000
22— N\F+—A1 November 2018 3,000 0.69 0.69 2,070
—Z2—-N\F+ZA December 2018 2,628 0.70 0.69 1,818
—E—-NF—A January 2019 1,748 0.77 0.69 1,317
7,376 5,205
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BBEARABDNR _E—=FNA=+HERMAZE
RIS EFE2RNBRS > M) EER
ERREEER IAERSEREZER =
ERL2EBRNRBES @FEFR2NEAFA
BREARREBRZEMNES  THENT
HIERTRImEBULAS) (IFAER#ETZ
EREFZERAFAEA; K4 &E B ERHK
REERZEAEFASTEBH AKEH RE
AR ERFBAAHER EEBRISET
BHABER - BHHATEA (BEEABRE
FAEN So#Hm ETHER (BEFEEFHOE
R HVESFELENBEIREATEHRE
EREARREERFHEMZEFTALRR
B

PR IR R IE ST B R Mt St B IR B My R AT
ZERRERARTEBREETERYI FTHITZR
PEERE TREBNEMERERAT D&
TRAGEMZHF10% (ERRBREERE
RESBFEREZBRENESROHHBE
ESREEMADIEM0%LRIRIN - LURR
EERES B R EREMFEEMADRITEZ
MARTEERERI FECTZROBEBE
TEBEEARBTREHETRAZI0%

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 30
August 2013, in the sole discretion of the Board, to grant options to (i)
any full time or part time employees of the Group; or any invested entity,
an entity in which the Group holds an equity interest, (including any
directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any subsidiary or any invested entity); (i)
any holder of any securities issued by the Group; and (iii) any business
or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers,
licensees (including any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants
(including any sub-tenants) of the Group or any invested entity; or (iv) any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group or any invested entity.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total issued capital of the Company as at the adoption date unless
the Company obtains a fresh approval from the shareholders to renew
the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
together with any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other scheme shall not exceed 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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26 RIPZRH @ 26 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
BE T _ZTFE+__A=+—HULEFERER Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
RESTEIRH N BRESHNT - year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:
BREYE
Number of share options
gt 3 RIEZZE RERERE
2HEHE/ -A-H tZB=+-H BhHERE HHAEHZ
RiAs EIRE HAfTE ERRL FRXH ERRH EniTR WA (i3 (i35 SRUTE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise  the grant date
Date of category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per of share
grant participants 2020 the year the year the year the year 2020 Exercise period share option option
() BT AT
(Note fj) HKS HKS
S
Director
“Z-tEN\AE+-B PEERE 300,000 - - - - 300000 ZE-AENBZT-HE 1.684 1.55
ZZZLENRZHH
31 August 2017 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 31 August 2019 to
30 August 2027
ZZ-\E+-B+IH BEERE 500,000 - - - - 500000 ZEBZEE+-B2AF 0686 0.6
2 \E+-B1-H
12 November 2018 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 12 November 2020 to

11 November 2028

&8
Employees
“2-tE\A=t-B KEAVER 3,200,000 - - - - 3200000 ZE-NENBZT-HE 1.684 1.55
ZZZLENRZHH
31 August 2017 Continuous contract 31 August 2019 to
employees 30 August 2027
“5-\5+-B1tZR HKEANES 5,580,000 - - (320,000) - 5200000 ZE-SE+-F+_AZ 0.686 0.66
2 \E+-B1-H
12 November 2018 Continuous contract 12 November 2020 to
employees 11 November 2028

9,580,000 - - (320,000) - 9,260,000
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26 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options
RZB-0E RIEB-NE REBERE
2REHE/ -A-A +ZB=+-A ShERE  BHEHHZ
RHAH 4BANE HAfTE ERRH EREH ERRK ERiTE HATE i3 T SRUTE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise  the grant date
Date of category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per of share
grant participants 2019 the year the year the year the year 2019 Exercise period share option option
(1) A1 En
(Note (i) HKS HKS
g%
Director
“2-tEN\R=+-B BtRiE 1,000,000 - - - - 1000000 ZE-AENR=t-BE 1.684 1.5
() ZEZZLENAZHE
31 August 2017 Mr. Kao Shih-Chung 31 August 2019 to
Note (i) 30 August 2027
“Z-tE\A=+-B BEERE 300,000 - - - - 300000 ZE-AENBZ-HE 1.684 1.5
ZEICENAZFE
31 August 2017 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 31 August 2019 to
30 August 2027
“2-\E+-A+ZB BEERE 500,000 - - - - 500000 ZEZRET-FIHE 0.686 0.66
ZE-\E+-At-H
12 November 2018 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 12 November 2020 to
11 November 2028
(=]
Employees
ZE-{E\A=T-H KEANES 3,200,000 - - (1,000,000) - 2200000 ZE-AENBZf-BE 1.684 1.5
ZEICENAZTE
31 August 2017 Continuous contract 31 August 2019 to
employees 30 August 2027
Z2-\E+-BtIB FKRAVER 7,960,000 - - 2,380,000) - 5580000 ZEIEET-FIHE 0.686 0.66
ZE-\E+-At-H
12 November 2018 Continuous contract 12 November 2020 to
employees 11 November 2028
12,960,000 - - (3,380,000) - 9,580,000
Wizt - Notes:
i) BREREENEBIAANREIIZEEAIERR (i) The share options forfeited during the year due to the resignation of employees

RIERZMINERRW - HRMDERIEERER
